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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited was incorporated on 13 March 2003 in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands and is the holding

company of all the cement and concrete operations of China Resources Group.

The Company was listed on the main board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited on 29 July 2003 by way of
introduction. In 2006, the Company was privatized as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Smooth Concept Investments
Limited (currently known as CRH (Cement) Limited) by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited and the listing
of the Company's shares on the Stock Exchange was withdrawn on 26 July 2006.

The Company was re-listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange on é October 2009 by way of a global offering.
As at the date of this report, the total number of issued shares of the Company was 6,982,937,817 shares, of which
China Resources Group is holding approximately 68.72% of the issued shares of the Company.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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JI Youhong (Chairman)
JING Shiging (Chief Executive Officer)
(appointed with effect from 18 April 2023)
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CHEN Kangren

IP Shu Kwan Stephen
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AUDIT COMMITTEE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

PRINCIPAL BANKERS

Agricultural Bank of China Limited

Bank of China (Hong Kong) Limited

Bank of China Limited

China CITIC Bank Corporation Limited

China Construction Bank Corporation

China Merchants Bank Co., Ltd.

DBS Bank Ltd., Hong Kong Branch

Hang Seng Bank, Limited

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited
Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited
Industrial Bank Co., Ltd.

Mizuho Bank, Ltd.

Oversea-Chinese Banking Corporation Limited, Hong Kong Branch
Shanghai Pudong Development Bank Co., Ltd.

SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen'’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

REGISTERED OFFICE

PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman
KY1-1104, Cayman Islands

HEAD OFFICE AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

Room 3001-05, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong
Telephone: (852) 3118 6800

Fax: (852) 3118 6830

E-mail: crcement@crc.com.hk

STOCK CODE ON THE STOCK EXCHANGE OF
HONG KONG LIMITED

1313

COMPANY'’S WEBSITE

www.crcement.com

INVESTOR RELATIONS CONSULTANT

Wonderful Sky Financial Group Limited
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DEFINITIONS

In this annual report, the following expressions shall have the

following meanings unless the context indicates otherwise:

FEBRE "AR”
BEEHEEREEEME  “associated
T2 corporation”

BB EMRBMET 2’

"associate(s)"”

FER “Board”
BB SR IUE =& "CG Code”
19 B8 Ry <F B X
5@5?3(*@) . iliﬁﬁﬁf’ﬁ& “China Resources
HEABNHBEA Group”
PR TRIEES KRR
BRI T R

hEEET "Chongging”
HFRHNOREREBRR “Company”

EBRHHERBRAR
HERA - HIFEBRAE
NCIDSE /NGl

=)

“"Chinese Mainland”

"“CR Digital Group”

Autonomous Region, PRC

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
SFO

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Listing Rules

board of Directors

code provisions set out in Part 2 of Appendix
14 of the Listing Rules

CR Holdings, CRI and their respective
subsidiaries

PRC excluding Hong Kong and Macao SAR

Chongging Municipality, China
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
China Resources Digital Holdings Limited, its

associates, its joint ventures and associates

without controlling shareholding
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“CR Holdings”

EHEMERBRAR
HtB AR ERKLHE
MWEERA

“CR Land Group”

EHRENERBRAF
HIB AR N HEBE QT

“CR Power Group”

EERMAERQR > —xK  “CRI"
R EFMA B R A
A WAEBE(ER) MM

B AR

EHEEKOE)ARA
Al —RXREBRZES
AMKZHERAR - W
RRNRBWERERAF]

"CRH (Cement)
Limited”

RARIES “Director(s)”
EEEERE “FAI"
hEREEE “Fujian”

EBKEERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited,
a company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability, the Company’s intermediate
holding company

China Resources Land Holdings Company
Limited, its subsidiaries or its joint ventures

with operating rights

China Resources Power Holdings Company

Limited, its subsidiaries and its associates
China Resources Inc., a company established

in PRC with limited liability, an intermediate
holding company of CR Holdings

CRH (Cement) Limited, a company
incorporated in the British Virgin Islands with
limited liability, the Company’s immediate
holding company

director(s) of the Company

fixed asset investments

Fujian Province, China
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"GDP”

“Greater Bay Area”

"Group”

“Guangdong”

"Guangxi”

"Guizhou”

“"Hainan”

“"Hong Kong”

"Hubei”

“"Hunan”

“Inner Mongolia”

“Listing Rules”

“Model Code”

Bx
DEFINITIONS

gross domestic products
Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area

the Company and its subsidiaries
Guangdong Province, China
Guangxi Zhuang AR

Guizhou Province, China

Hainan Province, China

the Hong Kong SAR

Hubei Province, China

Hunan Province, China

the Inner Mongolia AR

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities

on the Stock Exchange

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

"PRC” or "China”

“Runfeng New

Materials”

IISARII

"SFO"

“Shaanxi”

“Shandong”

“Shanxi”

“Share(s)”

“Southern China”

"Stock Exchange”

“Yunnan”

"Zhejiang”

"HKS"

The People’s Republic of China

Shenzhen Runfeng New Materials Technology
Company Limited, a limited liability company
incorporated in China, the Company’s wholly
owned subsidiary

Special Administrative Region, PRC

Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong)

Shaanxi Province, China

Shandong Province, China

Shanxi Province, China

share(s) of HK$0.10 each in the share capital
of the Company

encompasses Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian

and Hainan

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

Yunnan Province, China

Zhejiang Province, China

Hong Kong Dollars, the lawful currency of

Hong Kong
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Renminbi Yuan, the lawful currency of China

United States Dollars, the lawful currency of
the United States of America

per cent
kilocalorie
kilogram
kilometer
kilowatt-hour
cubic meter

square meter
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited is a large-scale and
competitive cement, clinker and concrete producer in Southern
China. The Group's operations range from the excavation of
limestone to the production, sale and distribution of cement,
clinker and concrete. Products are mainly sold in Guangdong,
Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan, Yunnan, Guizhou, Shanxi and Hunan
through well-established waterway, railway and road logistics
networks. The Group’s products are primarily used in the
construction of infrastructure projects such as railways, highways,
subways, bridges, airports, ports, dams, hydroelectric power
stations and nuclear power stations, as well as the construction of

high-rise buildings and development of suburban and rural areas.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had 101 cement grinding lines
and 49 clinker production lines in operation, with annual production
capacity of 90.1 million tons of cement and 63.6 million tons of
clinker respectively, as well as 63 concrete batching plants with
annual production capacity of 38.5 million m® of concrete. The
locations of our production facilities and their respective production

capacities are as follows:

K 28 R L
Cement Clinker Concrete
%1%/ B%E,/ Province/AR/ KERHE BEN SESHE BEM BHUZE BEIAK
BRTHE SAR No. of lines  million tons  No. of lines  million tons No. of plants  million m?
BE® Guangdong 32 27.7 12 15.5 22 14.3
E# Guangxi 35 34.8 19 28.0 28 17.6
B Fujian 14 10.1 6 7.0 - -
BE Hainan 5 4.4 3 33 5 2.7
£F Yunnan 7 5.1 4 39 1 0.6
M Guizhou 4 4.0 2 29 - -
Iiit} Shanxi 2 2.0 1 15 1 0.6
Rl Hunan 2 20 2 1.5 - -
g Zhejiang - - - - 2 1.1
s Hong Kong - - - - 1.6
5t Total 101 90.1 49 63.6 63 385

EBKEERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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REHE
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

In addition, through our equity interests of certain associates and
joint ventures, the Group owned a total of 74 cement grinding
lines, 30 clinker production lines and 19 concrete batching plants
with total annual production capacities of 64.7 million tons of
cement, 37.0 million tons of clinker and 9.4 million m? of concrete.
These production capacities are located in Guangdong, Hong
Kong, Fujian, Yunnan and Inner Mongolia. The respective annual
production capacities attributable to the Group according to our
equity interests of these associates and joint ventures were 22.3
million tons of cement, 12.1 million tons of clinker and 4.4 million

m? of concrete.

The Group places strong emphasis on corporate social
responsibility and actively promotes production safety, energy
saving, emission reduction and carbon emissions management. The
Group also actively launches projects of co-processing municipal
solid waste, urban sludge and hazardous industrial waste by use of
cement kilns. All cement production plants of the Group are
equipped with residual heat recovery generators to reduce energy
consumption. Our emission concentrations of nitrogen oxides,
particulate matters and sulphur dioxide are better than the national
standard limits of pollutant emissions. In addition, in order to
promote corporate transformation, innovation and sustainable
development, the Group actively strengthens the research,
development and application of new products, new materials and
new technologies, as well as seizes development opportunities of
new businesses to fully leverage the positive synergies between

different businesses.

TECCFFR
Annual Report 2022

11



12

R FDRNERSEH
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SINCE 2022

A H =4 DATE

ZECoF-F ASEBREEEKRS  January 2022

A REMTSEREME
R A E49%R% 1D © % A A)
WA RER T W AR R
WIEH EREREERRRK
E(HREHIY) REE - ER
EH1,32580 - RBEIF
EEREH 150 & ME -

ZE=F—F AEERBHEREBEKE  January 2022
BRAFS%EG - ZA
&5 5 FE AR N T M B AR
FERKI160E WE K KR
FERLAI 200 B ME o

ZEZZF=F ZAEERBERIGHEEH  March 2022
ME R B R A 7 75% ik
7o ZARIREREMNT
BANGEEHAEAE
EF BREFTERLD
600 EF T K °

ZT--F=F AEEBBHEEFNAE  March 2022
IWERKERD BRAF
HEILTEEBREEKESR
PR AR 72% R 10 R (& 1
BRE(TEFB)ABAR
#1,607,251,200 7T ( 18 %
7A#91,981,253,0005 7T ) °

—E-FWA AEEWEBESZEHRK  April 2022
BB ETAR13.83% 8%
9SG AR IE (L F E 82
#930 B o
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

EVENT

The Group invested in 49% equity interests of
Nanping Gaojian Building Materials Co., Ltd.
through subscription of increased registered
capital. The company owns the mining rights of
tuff quarry (manufactured sand) for construction
in Jingke Mining Concession, Masha Town,
Jianyang District, Nanping City, Fujian, with
resource reserve of approximately 13.25 million
tons and planned annual production capacity of

approximately 1.5 million tons.

The Group acquired 51% equity interests of
Hunan Liangtian Cement Co., Ltd. The company
has annual production capacities of
approximately 1.6 million tons of clinker and
approximately 2.0 million tons of cement in
Chenzhou City, Hunan.

The Group acquired 75% equity interests of
Guangdong Borrego New Material Technology
Co., Ltd. The company has four production lines
for engineered stones in operation in Lianzhou
City, Guangdong, with total planned annual
production capacities of approximately 6.0 million

m?

The Group sold 72% equity interests and loans of
Shanxi China Resources Fulong Cement Limited
to Tangshan Jidong Cement Co., Ltd. through
tendering for a total consideration (excluding
interests) of RMB1,607,251,200 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,981,253,000).

The Group acquired 13.83% equity interests of
Fengging County Xigian Cement Co., Ltd., which
increased the attributable annual production
capacity of cement by approximately 300,000

tons.
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EEBEH) 500 EME -

AEBUREAEETH
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Guangxi Tianyang Jiang’an Stone Co., Ltd.
through subscription of increased registered
capital. The company currently owns the mining
rights of a limestone quarry for construction stone
in trial production in Longhe, Napo Town,
Tianyang District, Baise City, Guangxi, with
resource reserve of approximately 114.0 million
tons and planned annual production capacity of

approximately 4.0 million tons.

The Group won the bid for a plot of land with an
area of approximately 130,000 m? in Xinzhu Town,
Ding’an County, Hainan for prefabricated
construction, which is planned to build three
production lines for autoclaved aerated
lightweight concrete blocks and panels with total
design annual production capacities of
approximately 600,000 m?® of panels and
approximately 300,000 m? of blocks.

The Group won the bid for the mining rights of a
limestone and dolostone quarry for flux in Shadun
Mining Concession, Chongyang County, Xianning
City, Hubei, with resource reserve of
approximately 84.0 million tons and planned
annual production capacity of approximately 5.0

million tons.

The Group commenced trial production of the
aggregates capacity expansion project in
Guigang City, Guangxi, which had increased the
planned annual production capacity from
approximately 1.5 million tons to approximately

3.0 million tons.

The Group commenced trial production of the
aggregates production line with planned annual
production capacity of approximately 2.0 million

tons in Wuping County, Fujian.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

DATE

July 2022

July 2022

July 2022

EVENT

The Group acquired 85% equity interests of
Zhaoging Jingang Cement Co., Ltd. from Hainan
RuiZe New Building Material Co., Ltd. for a
consideration of RMB539,750,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$614,833,000). The company
has annual production capacities of
approximately 800,000 tons of clinker and
approximately 1.5 million tons of cement in

Gaoyao District, Zhaoging City, Guangdong.

The Group acquired 44% equity interests of
Zhaoging Runsheng Quarry Co., Ltd. Together
with the 56% equity interests and loans acquired
in October 2021, the Group currently holds a total
of 100% equity interests of the company. Its
production line of manufactured sand with
planned annual production capacity of
approximately 5.0 million tons had commenced
operation in December 2022, and its aggregates
production line with planned annual production
capacity of approximately 6.5 million tons is

planned to commence operation in May 2023.

The Group acquired 85% equity interests of
Hezhou Xubao Mining Investment Co., Ltd.
through bidding. The company owns a marble
quarry for facing under construction in Hezhou
City, Guangxi, with resource reserve of
approximately 46.7 million m® and planned annual
production capacity of approximately 1.14 million
m3. In addition, the company owns a plot of
industrial land with an area of approximately
120,000 m? in Pinggui District, Hezhou City,
Guangxi, which is currently under planning.
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2 FER AEBRWELEBEFRE July 2022 The Group acquired 67% equity interests of each
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August 2022

August 2022

August 2022

own a total of 107 production lines for
compression molding of engineered stone and
27 grinding and polishing lines of engineered
stone in operation with total planned annual
production capacity of approximately 15.0 million

m? in Linyi City, Shandong.

The Group won the bid for the mining rights of a
basalt quarry for construction in Shiniuling, Muzi
Town, Gangnan District, Guigang City, Guangxi,
with resource reserve of approximately 296.0
million tons and planned annual production

capacity of approximately 9.7 million tons.

The Group commenced trial production of the
aggregates capacity expansion project in
Fuchuan City, Guangxi, which had increased the
planned annual production capacity from
approximately 600,000 tons to approximately 1.0

million tons.

The Group acquired 65% equity interests of each
of Wushan Zhongsheng Mining Co., Ltd. and
Wushan Zhongrun Desheng Building Materials
Co., Ltd. These companies own the mining rights
of a limestone quarry for construction stone in
Yaozhan Village, Duping Township, Wushan
County, Chongqging which had commenced
operation since January 2021, with resource
reserve of approximately 150.0 million tons and
planned annual production capacity of

approximately 2.6 million tons.
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—ECCELURNEEEH
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SINCE 2022

A H =4 DATE

ZEFNA AKEBRGEEAEAEME August 2022
EEARERE &S A
WERRERE  BR#E
Z1.41180E - RBFER
#9750 B M -

ZEZFNA AEEBSEAEMNTE  August 2022
N EFTERPEITILEER
BARARERER  BR
E479,300E 18 - HEIF
EEBEHI 300 EME o

ZEZZFRA AEEZEMBARER  September 2022
KE(RE) BRARIKE
“REERE - FIEAE
FE AL A9 1408 R KK R
FEBEA 200 &8 -

T2 F+—F AEBMREALETHEA  November 2022
BRAEEGEKREE
B FEREL) 500 B -

T F+—H AEEFENBAFEE  November 2022
K (FF) BRARIHI -
#1I0KE M ER B RE
KR FEE L3408
Mg o

T2 F+ A AEBMNREABEEMH  December 2022
BERNERMEEEAE
B REIFERLNS0E
Mg

EBKEERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

EVENT

The Group won the bid for the mining rights of a
limestone quarry for alkaline production in
Dongye Mountain, Shika Town, Qintang District,
Guigang City, Guangxi, with resource reserve of
approximately 141.0 million tons and planned
annual production capacity of approximately 7.5

million tons.

The Group won the bid for the mining rights of a
limestone quarry for construction stone in Wuzai
Mountain, Xinhua Township, Fuchuan County,
Hezhou City, Guangxi, with resource reserve of
approximately 93.0 million tons and planned
annual production capacity of approximately 3.0

million tons.

China Resources Cement (Wuxuan) Limited, the
Group's wholly owned subsidiary, commenced
operation of its second cement production line
project, which increased the annual production
capacity of clinker by approximately 1.4 million
tons and the annual production capacity of

cement by approximately 2.0 million tons.

The Group completed construction and
commenced trial production of the aggregates
production line with planned annual production
capacity of approximately 5.0 million tons in

Shangsi County, Guangxi.

China Resources Cement (Fengkai) Limited, the
Group's wholly owned subsidiary, commenced
operation of its #9 and #10 cement grinding
projects, which increased the annual production
capacity of cement by approximately 3.4 million

tons.

The Group commenced trial production of the
aggregates production line with planned annual
production capacity of approximately 5.0 million

tons in Tianyang District, Baise City, Guangxi.
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R CHFURNERSEH
SIGNIFICANT EVENTS SINCE 2022

EVENT

The Group commenced trial production of the
new-type environmentally-friendly high-end
aggregates project with planned annual
production capacity of approximately 9.8 million
tons in Nanning City, Guangxi.

The Group commenced trial production of the
high-quality aggregates project with planned
annual production capacity of approximately 6.5

million tons in Wuxuan County, Guangxi.

The Group acquired 100% equity interests of
Ltd. The

company owns the mining rights of a limestone

Guangxi Boyao Investment Co.,

quarry in Longyin Mountain, Shuangding Town,
Xixiangtang District, Nanning City, Guangxi, with
resource reserve of approximately 20.0 million
tons and planned annual production capacity of

approximately 4.0 million tons.

The Group invested in 70% equity interests of
Everbest Logistics Company Limited through
subscription of increased registered capital. The
company is one of the largest distributors of

bagged cement in Hong Kong.

The Group won the bid for the mining rights of a
limestone quarry in Longma Mountain, Litang
Town, Binyang County, Nanning City, Guangxi,
with resource reserve of approximately 76.0
million tons and planned annual production

capacity of approximately 5.0 million tons.

The Group won the bid for the mining rights of a
limestone quarry for cement in Yajiang Mining
Concession, Suxian District, Chenzhou City,
Hunan, with resource reserve of approximately

36.3 million tons.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

—E-= —E-—F —EEF

2022 2021 2020

LEH(HEBIL) Turnover (HK$ million) 32,218.6 43,962.7 40,086.9
RETHE - BIE - FrER EBITDA (HK$ million)

#Eman(AssT) 5,227.5 12,367.5 13,606.5
FERN(BBAET) Profit for the year (HK$ million) 1,862.7 7,724.6 9,029.6
KRB AEEET) Profit attributable to owners of

(B85 the Company (HK$ million) 1,935.7 7,767 .4 8,959.9
FREREF (BT) Basic earnings per share (HK$) 0.277 1.112 1.283

R=B==fF R-_T_—F R-_T_TF

+=A=+—-8 +=—A=+—RH +=A=+—8

As at As at As at

31/12/2022 31/12/2021 31/12/2020

BEREEEET) Total assets (HK$ million) 80,613.8 79,149.2 68,532.5
RAREE ARG Equity attributable to owners of

(B8HT) the Company (HK$ million) 49,233.4 54,856.0 49,6268

FERER(BEET) Non-controlling interests

(HK$ million) 1,606.8 785.3 397.0
BEEGET) Gearing ratio (note 1) 33.4% 19.0% 13.8%
FREEFE — R (BIT) Net assets per share — book (HK$)

(3 2) (note 2) 7.05 7.86 7.1
it - notes:

1. fEERTYLARITER  REBBTOEREER 1
TEIR R AR AR R RIS ARG ST E -

owners of the Company.

2. BREEFE — REDAARREE ABLERE 2
AFREFREETRNEBEE -

EBKEERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Gearing ratio is calculated by dividing the total bank borrowings, loans from
related parties and unsecured medium term notes by equity attributable to

Net assets per share — book is calculated by dividing equity attributable to

owners of the Company by the number of issued shares at the end of the year.
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ERHE
CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

FINAL RESULTS

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2022
amounted to HK$32,218.6 million, representing a decrease of 26.7%
over that of last year. The consolidated profit attributable to owners
of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022 amounted
to HK$1,935.7 million, representing a decrease of 75.1% over that
of last year. Basic earnings per share for the year was HK$0.277.

DIVIDENDS

On Friday, 12 August 2022, the Board declared an interim dividend
of HK$0.12 per Share in cash for 2022 (2021: HK$0.24 per Share)
which was paid on Friday, 28 October 2022. On Friday, 17 March
2023, the Board resolved to recommend the payment of final
dividend of HK$0.009 per Share in cash for the year ended 31
December 2022 (2021: HK$0.28 per Share). Subject to approval by
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, the final dividend will be distributed on or about
Wednesday, 19 July 2023 to shareholders of the Company whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on
Friday, 9 June 2023. The total distribution for the year ended 31
December 2022 will be HK$0.129 per Share (2021: HK$0.52 per
Share).

The final dividend will be payable in cash to each shareholder in
HK$ by default. Shareholders may also elect to receive the final
dividend in RMB. Procedures for electing to receive the final
dividend in RMB are set out in the dividend section of the Report of
the Directors.

BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT

In 2022, in the face of the complex and difficult international
environment, the Chinese government adhered to the general
principle of seeking progress whilst maintaining stability and
effectively responded to internal and external challenges. The
Chinese economy stabilized and rebounded, and the overall
economic and social situation was harmonious and stable.
According to the statistics published by the National Bureau of
Statistics of China, in 2022, the GDP of China grew by 3.0% year-on-
year to RMB121.0 trillion, and national FAI (excluding rural
households) increased by 5.1% year-on-year to RMB57.2 trillion.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

According to the statistics published by the National Bureau of
Statistics of China, in 2022, the GDPs of Guangdong, Guangxi,
Fujian, Hainan, Yunnan, Guizhou, Shanxi, Hunan, Hubei, Shandong
and Chonggqing, where the Group has business operations, reached
RMB12.9 trillion, RMB2.6 trillion, RMB5.3 trillion, RMB681.8 billion,
RMB2.9 trillion, RMB2.0 trillion, RMB2.6 trillion, RMB4.9 trillion,
RMB5.4 trillion, RMB8.7 trillion and RMB2.9 trillion respectively,
representing year-on-year increases of 1.9%, 2.9%, 4.7%, 0.2%,
4.3%, 1.2%, 4.4%, 4.5%, 4.3%, 3.9% and 2.6% respectively. In 2022,
the year-on-year changes in FAI of the aforementioned provinces
were —2.6%, 0.1%, 7.5%, —4.2%, 7.5%, -5.1%, 5.9%, 6.6%, 15.0%,
6.1% and 0.7% respectively.

In 2022, the Chinese government actively promoted the
implementation of a package of policies and follow-up measures to
stabilize the economy, and accelerated the issuance and use of
policy-based development financial instruments and local special
bonds, which had significantly accelerated infrastructure investment
in China. According to the statistics published by the National
Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2022, national infrastructure
investments (excluding the industries for production and supply of
electricity, heat, gas and water) increased by 9.4% year-on-year.
According to the statistics published by the Ministry of Transport of
China and the National Railway Administration of China, FAIl on
highways and waterways in China from January to November in
2022 amounted to approximately RMB2.8 trillion in total,
representing an increase of 9.2% year-on-year. In 2022, FAIl on
railways amounted to approximately RMB710.9 billion, representing
a decrease of 5.1% year-on-year, which was sharper than the year-

on-year decrease of 4.6% in the first half of the year.
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During the year, whilst adhering to the position that “residential
properties are not for speculation”, the Chinese government
implemented city-specific policies to support demand for basic
housing needs and housing to improve living conditions, maintain
reasonable and appropriate real estate financing and protect the
legitimate rights and interests of housing consumers in order to
promote the stable and healthy development of the real estate
market. According to the statistics published by the National
Bureau of Statistics of China, in 2022, the floor space of commodity
housing sold in China decreased by 24.3% year-on-year to 1,360
million m? and the sales amount decreased by 26.7% year-on-year
to RMB13.3 trillion. Real estate investment in China reached
RMB13.3 trillion, representing a year-on-year decrease of 10.0%.
Among which, the floor space of houses newly started construction
decreased by 39.4% year-on-year to 1,210 million m? while the floor
space of houses completed decreased by 15.0% year-on-year to
860 million m?. As of the end of 2022, the floor space under
construction by the real estate developers nationwide reached

9,050 million m?, representing a year-on-year decrease of 7.2%.

The Chinese government systematically promoted urban
construction and expedited the high-quality development of
urbanization. According to the statistics published by the Ministry
of Housing and Urban-Rural Development of China, in 2022, 52,500
old communities and 8.76 million households nationwide newly
started renovations, which had achieved the annual target of
renovating 51,000 old communities. In June 2022, the Chinese
government issued the “Implementation Plan for New-type
Urbanization during the ‘Fourteenth Five-Year'”, which proposed to
promote urbanization with counties as important carriers, promote
the upgrade of municipal public facilities, promote urban renewal
and upgrade in an orderly manner and focus on promotion of
urban renewal and upgrade in old urban districts with
transformation of “three districts and one village” as the main
theme. As of the end of 2022, China’s urbanization rate of
permanent residence was 65.22%, representing an increase of 0.50

percentage points over the end of 2021.
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THE INDUSTRY

According to the statistics published by the National Bureau of
Statistics of China, in 2022, the total cement production in China
amounted to approximately 2,120.0 million tons, representing a
year-on-year decrease of 10.8%. During the year, cement
production in Guangdong, Guangxi, Fujian, Hainan, Yunnan,
Guizhou, Shanxi and Hunan were approximately 150.0 million tons,
100.0 million tons, 96.6 million tons, 16.3 million tons, 96.5 million
tons, 64.3 million tons, 48.0 million tons and 99.4 million tons
respectively, representing year-on-year changes of approximately
-11.4%, -8.6%, -4.4%, -16.1%, —=16.6%, —=31.3%, =15.5% and -6.3%

respectively.

During the year, according to the statistics of the China Cement
Association, there were 19 new clinker production lines nationwide
with new annual clinker production capacity of approximately 34.2
million tons. Among which, in our major operating regions, there
were 8 new clinker production lines in Guangxi with new annual
clinker production capacity of approximately 13.4 million tons, 2
new clinker production lines in Yunnan with new annual clinker
production capacity of approximately 3.1 million tons and 2 new
clinker production lines in Hunan with new annual clinker capacity

of approximately 4.0 million tons.

Regarding policies for the industry, the Chinese government had
issued a series of policies and measures to actively promote work in
energy saving, carbon reduction and pollution reduction, improve
and strictly enforce capacity replacement policies, promote regular
off-peak production and advance rationalization of industrial
structure to lay the foundation for achieving the goals of carbon
peaking and carbon neutrality and promote the comprehensive
green transformation of economic and social development. In
addition, the Chinese government attaches great importance to
production safety and occupational health and advances the high-
quality and sustainable development of the building materials

industry.
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Regarding energy saving and emissions reduction, the Chinese
government actively implemented energy-saving and low-carbon
actions, and promoted the research and development of new
technologies such as high-efficiency, low-carbon and energy-saving
cement. During the year, the Ministry of Industry and Information
Technology of China, the National Development and Reform
Commission of China and the Ministry of Ecology and Environment
of China jointly issued the “Implementation Plan for Carbon
Peaking in the Industrial Sector”, with the target for the
"Fourteenth Five-Year” period to make positive progress in the
optimization of the industrial structure and energy structure, greatly
improve the utilization efficiency of energy and resources, build a
batch of green factories and green industrial parks, research,
develop, demonstrate and promote a batch of low-carbon, zero-
carbon and negative carbon technological processes and
equipment products with significant emission reduction effects,
which lay a solid foundation for carbon peaking in the industrial
sector. In November 2022, the Chinese government issued the
“Implementation Plan for Carbon Peaking in the Building Materials
Industry”, which specified the main goals of carbon peaking in the
cement industry. During the "Fourteenth Five-Year” period,
significant progress should be made in the adjustment of industrial
structure, energy-saving and low-carbon technologies should be
continuously promoted in the industry, unit energy consumption
and carbon emission intensity of key products should be
continuously reduced and comprehensive energy consumption
level of cement clinker per unit product should be reduced by over
3%. In addition, the Chinese government proposed to promote the
construction of national carbon emission trading market in a steady
and orderly manner and gradually expand the industry coverage of
national carbon market, while further enhancing trading entities,
trading product types and trading methods. As of the end of 2022,
the cumulative trading volume of emission quotas on the national
carbon market was 230 million tons and the cumulative trading
turnover was RMB10,480 million. Overall operation of the market

was stable and orderly.
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In terms of green development, thoroughly fighting the battle of
pollution prevention and control is an important measure in the
construction of a good ecological environment. In 2022, China's
ecological and environmental departments at all levels adhered to
the same direction with unabated effort, coordinated joint
governance and thoroughly advanced pollution prevention and
control with the support of technology to lay a solid foundation for
achieving the “Dream of a Beautiful China”. In June 2022, the
Chinese government issued the “Action Plan for Synergizing the
Reduction of Pollution and Carbon Emissions”, which had pushed
forward pollution prevention and control to a new stage of joint
governance. The plan adheres to a system concept, promotes the
establishment of a multi-faceted and multi-field synergistic
innovation model for pollution reduction and carbon reduction and

advances pollution prevention and control to a new level.

In terms of industrial structure, the Chinese government requires
strict implementation of the capacity replacement policy for the
cement and flat glass industries and intensifies efforts to control
excessive capacity. In 2022, due to the impact of sluggish
downstream demand and high production costs, investments and
construction of certain cement and clinker lines scheduled to be
built did not proceed as planned and the replacement of clinker
production capacity in the industry fell sharply, where annual
replacement of clinker production capacity was approximately 4.5

million tons, which was approximately 90% lower than that of year.
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In terms of production safety, the Chinese government attaches
great importance to production safety. 2022 is the consolidation
and enhancement stage of the three-year action for special
rectification of national production safety. The National Mine Safety
Administration of China issued multiple important notices on non-
coal mines. In February, the “Guiding Opinions on Strengthening
Production Safety Work in Non-coal Mines” was issued, which
proposed stricter and clearer requirements for production safety
work in non-coal mines. In April, the Work Safety Committee of the
State Council of China issued the “’Fourteenth Five-Year' National
Production Safety Plan”, which required strict implementation of
corporate responsibility for production safety, continuous
promotion of corporate production safety standardization, strict
review on design of safety facilities at non-coal mine construction
projects and corporate license management of production safety,
and strengthened supervision and inspection of the completion
acceptance activities and acceptance results of safety facilities. In
July, the “"Fourteenth Five-Year’ Mine Production Safety Plan” was
issued, which proposed clear requirements for strengthening the
construction of mine safety standards, implementing the
responsibilities of subject of corporate safety and strengthening the

construction of mine automation and intelligentization.

In terms of aggregates, the Chinese government continued to
strengthen the management of sand excavation in river courses to
enhance the competitiveness of manufactured sand. In February
2022, the Ministry of Water Resources of China issued the “2022
Notice of Key Points on Rivers and Lakes Management”, which
proposed to strengthen the management of sand excavation in
river courses and supervised the implementation of direct
management responsibilities of sand excavation management by
river basin management agencies. Meanwhile, the management of
sand excavation permits should be reinforced, the supervision on
sand excavation sites should be strengthened, and the
management order system for excavation and transportation
should be implemented to discover, strictly investigate and punish

illegal sand excavation in a timely manner.
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In terms of prefabricated construction, promotion of low-carbon
production and living is required in China. In May 2022, the Chinese
government issued the “Opinions on Promoting Urbanization with
Counties as Important Carriers”, which proposed to vigorously
develop green construction and promote prefabricated
construction, energy-saving doors and windows, green building
materials and green lighting in order to fully roll out green
construction. In July, the Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural
Development of China and the National Development and Reform
Commission of China issued the “Notice on Issuing the
Implementation Plan for Carbon Peaking in the Scope of Urban and
Rural Construction”, which proposed to promote green and low-
carbon construction and vigorously develop prefabricated
construction such that, by 2030, prefabricated buildings would
account for 40% of newly constructed buildings in cities and towns

for the year.

TRANSFORMATION AND INNOVATION

In response to the Group's “Fourteenth Five-Year” strategic
development plan, during 2021, the Group reorganized the
business into four business segments: basic building materials,
structural building materials, functional building materials and new
materials. The basic building materials business mainly includes
cement and aggregates. The structural building materials business
mainly includes concrete and prefabricated construction. The
functional building materials business mainly includes engineered
stone, tile adhesive and white cement. The new materials business
currently mainly explores the development opportunities of new
materials such as silicon-based, calcium-based and basalt materials.
Since 2022, the Group had actively seized opportunities, achieved
breakthroughs in these four business segments, and newly entered
Hunan, Hubei, Shandong and other regions, which laid the
foundation for achieving the Group’s “Fourteenth Five-Year”

strategic goals.

In terms of cement business, the Group had optimized the layout of
its cement business and consolidated its market competitiveness in
South China through acquiring 51% equity interests of Hunan
Liangtian Cement Co., Ltd., 85% equity interests of Zhaoqging
Jingang Cement Co., Ltd. and 13.83% equity of Fengging County
Xigian Cement Co., Ltd., as well as selling 72% equity interests and
loans of Shanxi China Resources Fulong Cement Limited.
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In terms of aggregates, during the year, the Group achieved 100%
controlling shareholding of the aggregates project in Deging,
Guangdong. The Group newly obtained the aggregates projects in
Tianyang Napo, Guigang Gangnan, Guigang Qintang and Hezhou
Fuchuan of Guangxi, Wuping of Fujian, Chongyang of Hubei and
Wushan of Chongging. Through associates, the Group newly
obtained aggregates projects in Nanping of Fujian and Yimen of
Yunnan. In addition, the aggregates capacity expansion projects in
Guigang and Fuchuan of Guangxi as well as the aggregates project
in Wuping of Fujian, Shangsi, Nanning and Wuxuan of Guangxi
commenced trial production respectively. As of the end of 2022,
the scale of annual production capacity of aggregates of the Group
that had commenced operation or trial production had greatly

increased.

In terms of structural building materials, the Group actively seized
market opportunities for green building materials. The first phase
of the Group’s production lines for the autoclaved aerated
lightweight concrete blocks and panels project in Fengkai,
Guangdong, commenced construction in April 2022 and is
expected to commence trial production in the first half of 2023. The
first phase of the project has a design annual production capacity
of approximately 400,000 m? of panels and a design annual
production capacity of approximately 200,000 m?® of blocks. In May
2022, the Group won the bid for a plot of land with an area of
approximately 130,000 m? in Xinzhu Town, Ding’an County, Hainan
for prefabricated construction, which is planned to build three
production lines for autoclaved aerated lightweight concrete blocks
and panels, with total design annual production capacities of
approximately 600,000 m® of panels and approximately 300,000 m?3
of blocks. This will form synergetic effect with local production lines
of precast concrete components of the Group. As of the end of
December 2022, the Group had a total of 6 projects of precast
concrete components. Upon completion of construction of all
projects, the design annual production capacity of precast concrete

components is expected to reach approximately 1.4 million m2.
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In terms of functional building materials, the Group rapidly
increased the production capacity of engineered stone through
mergers and acquisitions, which enabled the Group to become a
leading enterprise in the engineered stone industry and achieve
high-quality and sustainable development. In July 2022, the Group
acquired 67% equity interests of each of Shandong Runhe New
Material Co., Ltd., Runhe (Lanling) New Material Co., Ltd. and
Runhe (Feixian) New Material Co., Ltd. These engineered stone
companies own a total of 107 production lines for compression
molding of engineered stone and 27 grinding and polishing lines of
engineered stone in operation with total planned annual
production capacity of 15.0 million m? in Linyi City, Shandong,
which marks the opening of a new chapter for the Group in
Shandong. After all projects under construction have commenced
operation, the Group's annual production capacity of engineered

stone will reach 26.1 million m?.

In terms of corporate social responsibility, the Group plans for its
development from the lofty perspective of harmonious coexistence
between human and nature, takes ecology, environmental
protection, safety and intensive utilization of resources as the main
theme of work, continues to improve the construction of
environmental management system, deepens energy saving and
emission reduction, practices the construction of ecological
civilization, and strictly abides by the red line of ecological
protection. We actively respond to climate change, lead the green
and low-carbon development of the industry, and comprehensively

enhances ecological vitality for building a beautiful China.

During the year, the Group creatively proposed the “3C" theory of
energy saving and carbon reduction, i.e. low carbon at the source,
carbon reduction in the process and decarbonization at the end,
which contributed our solution proposal to the goals of carbon
peaking and carbon neutrality. At the same time, in cooperation
with tertiary institutions and the China Building Materials Academy,
the Group had intensively researched and developed a variety of
new cement grinding aid products, which can reduce the amount
of clinker used while enhancing the utilization rate of low-grade
industrial waste, thereby reducing the consumption of raw material
resources and energy consumption of coal and electricity required
for clinker production to promote the coordinated reduction of
carbon dioxide emissions. The project won the First Prize in the

2022 Guangxi Science and Technology Progress Award.
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In 2022, the Group's unfailing efforts in technological innovation
and corporate social responsibility work were recognized by the

industry and the society. These include:

In May, the “Research, Development and Application of New-
Type High-Efficiency Cement Grinding Aids” project
submitted by China Resources Cement Technology Research
and Development (Guangxi) Co., Ltd. as the leading unit and
the “Key Technology and its Application of High-Quality
Cementitious Materials Made of Industrial Waste” project
jointly submitted together with seven units including Guilin
University of Technology and Wuhan University of Technology
in China were both honoured with the First Prize of the
Science and Technology Progress Award in the 2021
“Guangxi Science and Technology Award” by the People’s

Government of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region;

In June, the “Development and Application of the
Environmentally Friendly Admixtures Based on Monoform
Center of Gravity Design” project jointly submitted by China
Resources Cement Technology Research and Development
(Guangxi) Co., Ltd., Guangxi China Resources Hongshuihe
Cement Co., Ltd. and China Resources Cement (Fuchuan)
Limited was honoured with the Third Prize of the Award for
Technological Invention in the "Concrete Science and
Technology Award” by the China Concrete and Cement-

based Products Association;

In September, the Company was honoured with the Best ESG
Award at the 2022 Sina Finance Overseas Investment Summit

Forum;

In September, the Company was honoured with the National
Second Prize of the Smart Industry Thematic Track in the 5G
Application Competition of the Fifth “Blooming Cup”;

In November, the “Cement Kiln Flue Gas Carbon Capture
New Process Re-Engineering and Application Demonstration”
project was successfully included in the project list of “Open
Competition for the Best Candidate” as the second batch of
major scientific and technological breakthroughs in the

national building materials industry;
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. In December, China Resources Cement (Tianyang) Limited
was successfully selected as 2022 Intelligent Manufacturing
Demonstration Factory by the Ministry of Industry and

Information Technology of China;

o In December, the “Project Series of Carbon Reduction and
Consumption Reduction for Calcium Carbide Slag and Yellow
Phosphorus Slag Compound Ingredients” of China Resources
Cement (Jinsha) Limited was honoured with the Third Prize in
the 2022 Carbon Peaking and Carbon Neutrality Actionable
Model Cases Selection for by the China Business Executives
Academy, Dalian of the State-owned Assets Supervision and

Administration Commission of the State Council of China.

STRATEGIES AND PROSPECT

The Chinese government proposed that the economic work in 2023
shall prioritize stability while pursuing progress, continue to
implement proactive fiscal policy and prudent monetary policy,
increase the effort of macro-economic policy adjustments, reinforce
coordination and cooperation of various types of policies, and form

synergy for the joint promotion of high-quality development.

The Chinese government has been accelerating the construction of
a world leader in transport. In October 2022, the Ministry of
Transport of China, the National Railway Administration of China,
the Civil Aviation Administration of China and the State Post Bureau
of China jointly issued the “Opinions on Accelerating the
Construction of the Main Skeleton of the Comprehensive National
Transport Network”. It clearly proposed that, by 2025, the utilization
rate of the main skeleton capacity should be significantly raised and
the physical network mileage should reach approximately 260,000
kilometers. By 2030, construction of the main skeleton should be
basically completed and the physical network mileage should reach
approximately 280,000 kilometers. By 2035, construction of the
main skeleton should be fully completed and lay a solid foundation

for basically building a world leader in transport.
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In terms of real estate, Chinese government persists in maintaining
the position that “residential properties are not for speculation”
and supports local governments to improve real estate policies
based on local conditions in order to promote the stable and
healthy development of the real estate market. In November 2022,
the People’s Bank of China and the China Banking and Insurance
Regulatory Commission issued the “Notice on the Present Financial
Support for the Steady and Healthy Development of the Real Estate
Market”, which comprehensively implemented the long-term
mechanism for real estate and executed city-specific policies to
support demand for basic housing needs and housing to improve
living conditions, maintain reasonable and appropriate real estate
financing and protect the legitimate rights and interests of housing
consumers in order to promote the stable and healthy

development of the real estate market.

The Chinese government comprehensively promotes rural
revitalization and enhances the quality of new-type urbanization
construction. The “Action Execution Plan for Rural Construction”
issued in May stated that rural construction is an important mission
for implementing strategy for rural revitalization and is also the
important content of national modernized construction. The plan
proposed to build liveable beautiful villages through the
implementation of projects for clear rural roads, construction
projects for rural clean energy, projects for upgrading village-level
integrated service facilities and projects for improving quality and
safety of rural housing. It is targeted that, by 2025, rural construction
will achieve substantive progress, the living environment in rural
areas will continue to improve, positive progress will be made in
covering more villages and extending to more households with
respect to rural public infrastructure and the level of basic public
services in rural areas will steadily increase, all of which will

effectively stimulate demand for building materials such as cement.

In terms of coordinated regional development strategy, the
Chinese government continues to expedite infrastructure
connectivity in the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay
Area. According to the “Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater
Bay Area (Inter-city) Railway Link Development Plan”, the total
operational length of railways in operation and under construction
in the Greater Bay Area is targeted to reach 4,700 km by 2025 and
5,700 km by 2035. By the end of 2021, the operational length of
railways had exceeded 2,300 km. The gradual advancement of
regional development and construction such as the Greater Bay
Area will support the regional demand for the building materials

industry in the medium to long term.
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In addition, the "Chief Executive's 2022 Policy Address” issued by
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region in October 2022
highlighted that the Northern Metropolis is the foothold for Hong
Kong's strategic development base as well as the new engine for
Hong Kong to scale new heights. The Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region will take forward the
development of the Northern Metropolis in full steam. It is
expected that major projects will start to roll out in 2025, which will
drive the regional demand for the building materials industry in the

medium to long term.

Looking ahead, the Group will thoroughly implement the spirit of
the "20th National Congress”, grasp the new development stage,
thoroughly implement the new development philosophy and build
a new development paradigm. We will continue to reinforce the
three core strengths of “leading market position in the region,
innovation-driven development, lowest total costs”. We will
strengthen, optimize and expand the basic building materials and
functional building materials businesses, steadily develop the
structural building materials business, and incubate and cultivate
the new materials business. In 2023, the Group will focus on the
management theme of “systematic reshaping and high-quality
development”, conduct mid-term strategic review, strengthen
strategic research, practice the development model of “resources
+ research and development + industry”, focus on the “4+1"
business portfolio (cement, aggregates, concrete, engineered
stone and new materials businesses), optimize resource allocation,
invest precisely and effectively, vigorously enhance the industry
status in the markets of existing businesses, accelerate intelligent,
digital and green transformation and focus on promoting
transformation of the new materials business. We will insist on
benchmark against international first-class standards, continuously
improve operational efficiency and quality, and enhance the
management standards of environmental protection, safety, and
health to accelerate the achievement of carbon peaking goal. In
addition, the Group will proactively seize the regional development
opportunities in China including the Greater Bay Area, accelerate
the pace of transformation and innovation, and fulfil corporate
social responsibility to advance the green and sustainable

development of the cement industry in China.
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APPRECIATION

| would like to take this opportunity to thank the Directors, the
management team and all employees for their contributions and
hard work, which had contributed to the high-quality development
of the Group's business. On behalf of the Board, | would also like to
express our gratitude to shareholders, customers, suppliers,
business partners and other stakeholders for their persistent trust
and unfailing support to the Group.

JI Youhong

Chairman

Hong Kong, 17 March 2023
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

Cement and concrete are the main and basic building materials for
infrastructure projects, property construction and rural
development. Cement consumption is highly correlated to
economic development and FAIL. As cement and concrete are
relatively heavyweight building materials, the key to success of a
producer’s business is highly dependent on its core competitive
advantage within the regional market. The performance of the
Group's business operation is therefore subject to certain major
factors such as the business environment of the regions where the
Group has business operation, which significantly affects the selling
prices of the cement and concrete products. Besides, coal cost
represents one of the significant causes for volatility in the cost of
cement production. Accordingly, the substantial fluctuation of coal
price poses one of the principal potential risks and uncertainties
affecting the performance of the Group and the cement industry at
large. As the Chinese government continuously poses stricter
requirements for energy saving and carbon emissions reduction,
dual control of energy consumption, production safety and
occupational health, the Group's competitiveness in these aspects

is the key to its sustainable development.

POTENTIAL DISPOSAL

As announced by the Company on 21 October 2022, China
Resources Cement Investments Limited, the Company’s indirect
wholly owned subsidiary, intended to dispose of its 72% equity
interests of and its shareholders’ loans to China Resources Cement
(Changzhi) Limited, as well as its 72% equity interests of China
Resources Concrete (Lucheng) Limited through public tender.

As the auction failed, on 12 December 2022, the Group had
informed the Shanghai United Assets and Equity Exchange to

rescind the public tender of the abovementioned disposal.

Before achieving the commercial objective of disposal of the two
subsidiaries, the Company will continuously optimize the
operational management and enhance the operational efficiency
and effectiveness. Our strategic development plan will be adjusted

according to the market conditions in the future if appropriate.
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PRODUCTION CAPACITY
Changes to Production Plants

In terms of clinker and cement, in January 2022, the Group acquired
51% equity interests of Hunan Liangtian Cement Co., Ltd., which
increased the annual production capacity of clinker by
approximately 1.6 million tons and the annual capacity of cement
by approximately 2.0 million tons. Currently, technological upgrade
of production lines is being rolled out, and is expected to complete
in August 2023. Upon completion of the upgrade, the annual
production capacity of clinker will remain unchanged, while the
annual production capacity of cement will be approximately 2.1
million tons. In March 2022, the Group sold 72% equity interests
and loans of Shanxi China Resources Fulong Cement Limited to
Tangshan Jidong Cement Co., Ltd. through tendering for a total
consideration (excluding interests) of RMB1,607,251,200 (equivalent
to approximately HK$1,981,253,000), which reduced the annual
production capacity of cement by approximately 4.0 million tons.

In July 2022, the Group acquired 85% equity interests of Zhaoging
Jingang Cement Co., Ltd., which increased the annual production
capacity of clinker by approximately 800,000 tons and the annual

production capacity of cement by approximately 1.5 million tons.

In September 2022, China Resources Cement (Wuxuan) Limited,
the Group's wholly owned subsidiary, commenced operation of its
second cement production line project, which increased the annual
production capacity of clinker by approximately 1.4 million tons and
the annual production capacity of cement by approximately 2.0

million tons.

In November 2022, China Resources Cement (Fengkai) Limited, the
Group's wholly owned subsidiary, commenced operation of its #9
and #10 cement grinding projects, which increased the annual

production capacity of cement by approximately 3.4 million tons.

In terms of concrete, during the year, the Group completed the
upgrade for production capacity of 2 concrete batching plants,
leased 2 concrete batching plants from third parties, halted
production of 4 concrete batching plants and closed 2 concrete
batching plants. The total annual production capacities of concrete
increased by approximately 1.2 million m?® as compared with the
end of 2021.
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Capacity Utilization

The utilization rates of the Group’s cement, clinker and concrete
production lines in 2022 were 81.6%, 90.5% and 29.3% as compared
with 93.6%, 100.6% and 40.9% respectively for 2021.

COST MANAGEMENT
Operational Management

In 2022, the Group centred operational management on “steady
growth” and “cost reduction”, continued to improve the
management system for energy saving and carbon reduction and
benchmarked against world-class enterprises and industry
benchmarks to improve the level of operational management.
During the year, the Group separated and implemented the
indicators and targets of the action plan for energy saving and
carbon reduction to production plants. Taking the indicator
assessment system as the initial point and starting from the two key
technical routes of technical transformation and upgrade of the
physical system and chemical replacement of raw fuels, the Group
promoted energy saving and carbon reduction projects at cement
production plants and actively exchanged the experiences of
benchmark production plants to create a strong culture of “energy
saving and carbon reduction” to promote the improvement of

energy efficiency levels.

During the year, the Group continued to promote the improvement
and upgrade of grate coolers in cement and clinker production
lines and the optimization of highly-effective pre-decomposition
systems, promoted the application of energy-saving and highly-
effective fans and air compressors, comprehensively promoted the
application of grinding aids for raw materials and coal-saving
agents, directed production plants to launch tests on solid waste,
guided multi-faceted exploration on potential application of
alternative raw materials and research and development of
applications of alternative fuel systems, and actively promoted
photovoltaic power generation projects, thereby improving
production efficiency, energy saving and carbon reduction.
Meanwhile, the project for recycled use of wastewater was rolled
out at cement production plants to reduce water consumption by

means of recycling and re-use.
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In terms of intelligent automation, the Group continued to promote
the use of automatic bagging machines and automatic loading
machines and actively promoted the application of fully electric
mining trucks, unmanned driving and digitalization in mines to

advance the construction of green mines.

In terms of treatment and management of mines, limestone mine
slopes were treated and managed through measures such as
cleaning pumice stones, setting up passive safety nets and hanging
nets for support, which had strengthened the rock mass stability of

slopes and improved the safety coefficient of mine slopes.

In terms of project management, the Group strengthened the
technical control on construction process, reinforced the process
management and delicacy management for projects, and
promoted digitalization and intelligentization for project
construction to improve production safety and operational
efficiency. In addition, the Group revised the management system
for project construction, improved the evaluation system for
management, promoted the compliant operation of projects,
standardized technical standards for aggregates and accelerated
the construction progress of projects such as aggregates to

facilitate the Group's future business development.

Procurement Management

In 2022, the overall market price of coal was at a high level. During
the year, the Group purchased a total of approximately 8.6 million
tons of coal (approximately 9.5 million tons in 2021), among which,
approximately 90%, 10% and 0% were sourced from northern
China, neighbouring areas of our production plants and overseas
respectively (80%, 19% and 1% in 2021). The proportion of direct
procurement from coal producers was approximately 80% (82% in
2021).

In the future, the Group will continuously strengthen the strategic
cooperation with large-scale domestic coal suppliers, expand new
procurement channels, introduce strategic suppliers, and continue
to pay attention to the national policy on coal import to establish
procurement channels for coal imports in a timely manner. In
addition, the Group will also analyze market trends through
multiple channels and dynamically manage inventory to widen our

advantages of procurement cost.

TECCFFR
Annual Report 2022

37



38

EEEFWE DT

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

RERE

TR F mERMBER  UERHEFS
ERRFETD  AREARB—RIEE  EY
MKARRBETRBY  -MESTH  AEER
MERTMESR —HRENERL  BEKER
YVEE L EHREEAFABRSSBREE  SlER
BREBBRFEN  AMOERBEREESEE
DIBREEEMERAN - TENE - AKEEB
ERHTREMAREPSHR—HBIERBAESR
BREBEE N BIREB/METE -

TECCF  AEEAEETRESFERE L
3910818 - AASBHEBERIEHEBTEMN
FENENRE - AEETNHECHEERD
REERN BREH BREPEE - F
N AEBEEZEEAFEE  TEZHHE
BER%k=AME - FHREE 43,530 BN -
BEAEBELPHERH T BN -

EBKEERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Logistics Management

In 2022, under the influence of multiple factors such as the sluggish
transportation market and standardization of truck loads, the Group
adopted a series of measures to achieve a downward trend in the
overall logistics cost. In terms of shipping, on the basis of the
internal unified tendering for shipping along the Xijiang River, the
Group reduced shipping costs throughout the whole process
through measures such as adjusting the tendering modes for
materials entering and leaving Hainan islands to multi-stage
tendering, introducing units to compete for the lightering business,
and refining the management of transportation process. In terms of
truck transportation, the Group’s tendering freight costs were
slightly reduced by means of centralized and unified bidding for
key projects and internal customers as well as expansion of the

scope of transportation resources.

In 2022, the annual shipping capacity of the Group along the
Xijiang River was approximately 39.1 million tons, which secured
stable and continuous logistics capabilities for the Group's business
operation. The Group continuously optimized the layout of its silo
terminals and cooperation methods to build compliant and
environmentally friendly silo terminals. During the year, the Group
controlled the operations of 36 silo terminals with total annual
capacity of approximately 35.3 million tons, which are mainly
located in the Pearl River Delta Region of Guangdong. This
consolidates the Group’s leading market position in Southern
China.



T
ERER

—EC o AEEFEMRIERIRE]S
mERMEAOR  HEBAOR - BREREINREFE
mmiZHEENE - B AEEZEKEHRE
T MEKERSEZERRE - ARERE
FER R BRI R TR AKX AR BVE @R X -
TREANER KN TRE  BHEEEZRL
BREY  FR AKEHESHEE _HR
ENZEBARME I - NEBHEE) BEIREE
BEENORDI BIREWS - BRETETIRER
HENOE - BREBEMNAR  BREARER
BRHPORFEECIREEIER)  2ERM
Ry - B | RREARR I EA S S

B e

fm M 32 R

AEEFERMOBEmEER B TTHRR]
mIEBERE KOS [ BREMASERL
B REARESEHEE - TEEXER
—mh® e NAZTN\R  REBEEBRENEB
CREFE RBE2FESAEIMEREX
bl BB RIREE  TRREBETEZE
o FR AEEBBETEMEERER B
BEPFERTERAEMRY - BRI mE
RomiR e R BRI - R CmER [ mE e

B o

EEENWR DN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

SALES AND MARKETING
Product Promotion

In 2022, the Group continued to intensify the marketing promotion
of products such as “Wang Pai Gong Jiang” high-end renovation
cement, cement for nuclear power stations and Portland cement for
roads. Among which, the Group supplied cement for nuclear power
stations to 5 nuclear power projects in Zhejiang, Fujian and
Guangdong. The Group had expanded cement for railway
construction projects and low-heat low-alkali cement in Yunnan,
which are mainly used in railway and water conservation projects.
This will help to leverage our differentiated competitive
advantages. During the year, the Group increased the supply of
pre-stressed nuclear power cement for Phase 2 of the nuclear
power stations in Hainan. In addition, the Group promoted Portland
cement for roads as the key recommended cement for projects
such as airport and road construction in Fujian, and jointly
advanced the “Project for World Leader in Transport” with the
Fuzhou University, China and the Fujian Highway Administration
Bureau Business Development Centre of Fujian Province, with trial
phases commenced in Langgi of Fuzhou and Douwei of Hui'an and

had entered the phase of academic acceptance.

Brand Building

The Group continued to deepen the construction of the Runfeng
brand. In combination with the “Fourteenth Five-Year” brand
strategy, the Group expanded the application of “Runfeng” to
business areas such as concrete, aggregates and prefabricated
construction to create a unified brand for the industry chain. On 28
June, the Group held the sixth anniversary celebration for the
Runfeng brand and launched the new advertising slogan of
"Quality Makes Beauty”, which was widely disseminated on social
media and industry media. During the year, the Group deepened
the brand’s “quality” positioning and tell good stories of the brand
by measures such as improving the brand building system,
continuously enhancing product services to meet customers’ needs

and steadily increasing brand exposure rate to end users.
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In order to enhance the brand image of the Group’s products for
functional building materials, the Group adopted “Runpin” as the
unified brand for functional building materials, and the “Runpin”
WeChat public account went live in March. In June, the “Runpin”
brand was officially launched and the “Runpin Luxury” showroom
was unveiled and commenced operation. During the year, the
“Runpin” brand was vigorously promoted through measures such
as vigorously expanding end-user channels, improving product
categories, constructing the brand building system, releasing brand
promotional videos and product manuals, appearing at the Xiamen
International Stone Fair and operating we-media to gradually
construct the brand building system and preliminarily establish the

"Runpin” reputation in the industry.

TRANSFORMATION AND INNOVATION
New Business Development

In 2022, the Group actively seized development opportunities of
new businesses, fully utilized the synergistic advantages between
cement, concrete and aggregates, achieved rapid development in
the aggregates and engineered stone businesses and initial success
in the optimization of business structures. The proportion of assets

and revenue of new businesses continuously increased.

Aggregates

In 2022, the Group continued to actively acquire high-quality
aggregates mine resources and accelerated construction and
commissioning of aggregates projects. During the year, the Group
obtained control on a total of 6 new mine resources in Guangxi,
Hubei and Chongqging through bidding, acquisitions and equity

participation.

As of the end of 2022, based on its own existing cement mines, the
Group's annual production capacity of aggregates through its
subsidiaries (inclusive of trial production) was approximately 48.4
million tons, and the total annual production capacities of
aggregates attributable to the Group according to our equity
interests of the associates located in Yunnan and Fujian were
approximately 3.1 million tons. In addition to the newly obtained
aggregates projects, upon completion of construction of all
projects, the annual production capacity of aggregates in operation
or under construction controlled by the Group through its
subsidiaries is expected to reach 137.1 million tons and the annual
production capacity of aggregates in operation or under
construction attributable to the Group according to our equity
interests of associates and joint ventures will reach approximately
13.6 million tons.
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T AFHBEERIER (i) HEER : Relevant information of the newly obtained aggregates projects
(note) is outlined below:

EE R REFER ERHE (F58) RER
(W8) (mg)

Planned annual Resources (Expected) Date to

Project location production capacity reserve commence operation
(tons) (tons)

BiBKE D A Z M ERE Production capacity controlled through subsidiaries

f&3 Guangdong
H# Fengkai 30,000,000 425,000,000 s
2023
12 Deqging 6,500,000 169,000,000 —T-=F
2023
#JE Luoding 1,500,000 102,180,000 —E-=F
2023

&7 Guangxi
F##E#E Capacity Expansion in Guigang 3,000,000 31,880,000 HEE
(BE®RER) In trial production
(Post-expansion capacity)
= )I1#8¢ Capacity Expansion in Fuchuan 1,000,000 FIRKRREL SR
(FE%ER) Utilize cement mines In trial production
(Post-expansion capacity)

/8 Shangsi 5,000,000 65,000,000 AEE
In trial production
A% Tianyang 5,000,000 61,000,000 HAEE
In trial production
% A4 Tianyang Napo 4,000,000 114,000,000 “E-=F
2023
EE Wuxuan 6,500,000 208,000,000 HEE
In trial production
% Nanning 9,800,000 153,800,000 AEE
In trial production
B & Shangsi Pingguang 2,000,000 42,000,000 —EomE
2024
&4 Guigang Gangnan 9,700,000 296,000,000 —EoE
2024
4B Guigang Qintang 7,500,000 141,490,000 —E-gf
2025
“ECCEFR
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HA I REFERE BERHE (BH) RERRE
(W8) (W8)
Planned annual Resources (Expected) Date to
Project location production capacity reserve commence operation
(tons) (tons)
Z & Il Hezhou Fuchuan 3,000,000 93,000,000 —E-=F
2023
&5 Nanning Binyang 5,000,000 76,000,000 “E-=F
2023
M EAHYE Nanning Xixiangtang 4,000,000 20,000,000 e S -3
2023
B # Fujian
EF Wuping 2,000,000 56,000,000 AEE
In trial production
7K€ (—Hf) Yongding (Phase 1) 500,000 FRKEREL —Eo=F
Utilize cement mines 2023
Y8R Hainan
JE% Ding'an 3,000,000 63,000,000 “E-=F
2023
E7 Yunnan
#1L Weishan 3,000,000 100,000,000 —E-=F
2023
FE Midu 1,000,000 15,560,000 “E-=F
2023
EE Chongging
AL Wushan 2,600,000 150,000,000 BRE
In operation
#1t Hubei
05 Chongyang 5,000,000 84,000,000 “E-mF
2024
PRFG Shaanxi
&7 Luonan 3,000,000 122,000,000 S
2023
#fJI] Tongchuan 5,000,000 147,000,000 “E-=F
2023

EBKEERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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BR A BRILA RETER EEFER ERfRE (BH) RERE
(1) (1) (1)
Planned annual  Attributable annual Resources  (Expected) Date to
Project location Shareholding production capacity production capacity reserve commence operation
(tons) (tons) (tons)
BRBENAREE L ALENEL Production capacity controlled through associates and joint ventures
&7 Guangxi
#EM Hengzhou 50% 10,000,000 5,000,000 180,000,000 “E-=
203
B2 Fujian
¥ Nanping 49% 1,500,000 735,000 13,250,000 BRE
In operation
7 Hainan
8 Tunchang 34% 6,000,000 2,040,000 120,000,000 “ECME
2024
E& Chongging
EI%1E Qijiang Anwen 50% 3,000,000 1,500,000 70,300,000 “EomEF
2024
EIA%Z Qijiang Shihao 50% 3,000,000 1,500,000 20,700,000 “EomEF
2024
7 Yunnan
BR# Zhaotong 50% 1,500,000 750,000 FIRKRRELL “E-CF
Utilize cement mines 2023
5 Yimen 50% 2,000,000 1,000,000 MAEAREL BRE
Utilize cement mines In operation

i RTPEEH/EEESHELAER -

note: The projects listed in the table are all projects with aggregates mines.
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Prefabricated Construction

The Group promoted the prefabricated construction business in an
orderly manner according to the Chinese government policies and

market conditions.

In terms of the precast concrete components business, in
November 2022, the precast concrete components project at
Intelligent Building Jiangmen, Guangdong, commenced trial
production, with annual production capacity of approximately
50,000 m3.

As of the end of December 2022, the Group had a total of 6
projects of precast concrete components. Upon completion of
construction of all projects, the design annual production capacity
of precast concrete components is expected to reach

approximately 1.4 million m?.
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is outlined below:

Relevant information of the precast concrete components projects

HA RtER  RAFER HE ARfER
(FAK) (S7%)
Design annual
production
Project Area of land capacity  Status Particulars
(m?) (m?)
R Guangdong
BB () 33,000 40000 EEH o ERFEHRER HE - BNREULERERERETEESR -
Dongguan Runyang (note) In operation Products are mainly supplied to public housing and commodity
housing projects in Shenzhen, Zhuhai and Guangzhou.
BERL 210,000 400000 EH o —HRRIREBMAER(RFFEL00000LHK)R-F
Intelligent Building Zhanjiang In operation ZERAERKE -
o Phase 1 production line of precast concrete components (design
annual production capacity of 200,000 m?) officially commenced
operation in September 2021.
BEILF 45,500 50000 HAEE o ORRTBHIE(FER000003K) BRY  RRIEREN
Intelligent Building Jiangmen In trial (REFFERS000LTR)BRER T F+—AFAE-
production ¢ Concrete batching plant (annual production capacity of 900,000
m?) is under construction; project for precast concrete
components (design annual production capacity of 50,000 m?)
had commenced trial production in November 2022.
EF Guangxi
CETES 167,000 400000 HEE o ORELBHI(FER0000 KR E-NFTZARE
Intelligent Building Nanning In trial —HERT BREMEER (R FER 2000007 K)RT
production ZFNARREEE -
o Concrete batching plant (annual production capacity of 600,000
m®) commenced operation in December 2019; Phase 1
production line of precast concrete components (design annual
production capacity of 200,000 m?) commenced trial production
in September 2021.
BEE 130,000 200000 &% o ORETBHU(FER0000LK)R-E-NEFT-ARE
Intelligent Building Guigang In operation ERIRMENEEGN S _SFE T _ARBEARE -
0 Concrete batching plant (annual production capacity of 600,000
m?) commenced operation in November 2019; production line
of precast concrete components officially commenced
production in December 2020.
87 Hainan
BETR 153,000 300000 E& ¢ RIF-FOARKRRE
Intelligent Building Ding'an In operation Production commenced in April 2021.

i ARERARBEATR

A149% HyfE RS ©

EMEBBAEEERA

note: The Group holds 49% equity interests of the associate DongGuan RunYang

United Intelligent Manufacturing Company Limited.
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In addition, the Chinese government actively promotes green
building materials and supports energy saving and consumption
reduction in the construction industry and innovation in building
methods. The first phase of the Group's production lines for the
autoclaved aerated lightweight concrete blocks and panels project
in Fengkai, Guangdong, commenced construction in April 2022 and
is expected to commence trial production in the first half of 2023.
The first phase of the project has a design annual production
capacity of approximately 400,000 m?® of panels and a design annual
production capacity of approximately 200,000 m? of blocks. In May,
the Group won the bid for a plot of land with an area of
approximately 130,000 m? in Xinzhu Town, Ding'an County, Hainan
for prefabricated construction, which is planned to build three
production lines for autoclaved aerated lightweight concrete blocks
and panels, each with design annual production capacities of
approximately 200,000 m? of panels and approximately 100,000 m?3

of blocks. This is currently under planning.

Functional Building Materials

In 2022, the Group grasped the promising development prospects

of engineered stone and further expanded its strategic layout.

DongGuan Universal Classical Material Ltd. owns one production
line of inorganic engineered stone with a planned annual
production capacity of approximately 600,000 m? in Dongguan,
Guangdong. On this basis, it expanded one production line of
inorganic engineered stone with a planned annual production
capacity of approximately 1.5 million m?. In addition, the Group
built two production lines of inorganic engineered stone in Laibin,
Guangxi, with a planned total capacity of approximately 3.0 million
m?. The above projects had commenced trial production in October
and December 2022 respectively.
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In addition, the Group rapidly increased the production capacity of
engineered stone through mergers and acquisitions, which enabled
the Group to become a leading enterprise in the engineered stone
industry and achieve high-quality and sustainable development. In
March, the Group acquired 75% equity interests of Guangdong
Borrego New Material Technology Co., Ltd. The company has four
production lines of engineered stones in operation in Lianzhou,
Guangdong, with total planned annual production capacities of
approximately 6.0 million m2. In July, the Group acquired 67%
equity interests of each of Shandong Runhe New Material Co., Ltd.,
Runhe (Lanling) New Material Co., Ltd. and Runhe (Feixian) New
Material Co., Ltd. These engineered stone companies own a total
of 107 production lines for compression molding of engineered
stone and 27 grinding and polishing lines of engineered stone in
operation with total planned annual production capacity of
approximately 15.0 million m? in Linyi City, Shandong, which marks
the opening of a new chapter for the Group in Shandong. After all
projects under construction have commenced operation, the
Group's annual production capacity of engineered stone will reach

26.1 million m?.

On the other hand, the Group actively sought upstream resources
for engineered stone to form a synergistic effect with the existing
engineered stone business. In July, the Group acquired 85% equity
interests of Hezhou Xubao Mining Investment Co., Ltd. through
bidding for a consideration of RMB893,510,140 (equivalent to
approximately HK$1,044,809,000). The company owns a marble
quarry for facing under construction in Hezhou City, Guangxi, with
resource reserve of approximately 46.7 million m® and planned
annual production capacity of approximately 1.14 million m3. It is
expected to commence operation in 2024. In addition, the
company owns a plot of industrial land with an area of
approximately 120,000 m? in Pinggui District, Hezhou City, Guangxi,
which is currently under planning. This transaction has enabled the
Group to take control of stone resources and laid a foundation for

the Group's future development in the calcium carbonate industry.
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New Materials

In terms of the new materials business, with silicon-based new
materials as the breakthrough point for strategic transformation,
the Group will extend the calcium-based industry chain based on
its existing high-quality mine resources, incubate and cultivate the
basalt fiber new materials business in order to actively promote the
implementation of projects in the new materials industry. Among
which, for the Guigang calcium-based project, the mining rights
with resource reserve of approximately 110.0 million tons had been
successfully obtained and 100,000 tons of standard coal energy
consumption replacement was acquired. Currently, transfer of land
from the government for project construction use is in progress.
Other projects are being advanced in an orderly manner as

planned.

Digital Transformation

The Group continued to promote the construction of digitalization
and intelligentization, and was committed to creating benchmark
for intelligent manufacturing and promoting the intelligent upgrade
of factories and the comprehensive improvement of operations

management.

In terms of intelligent factories, the Group built a benchmark for
whole-process intelligent factories at the cement production plant
in Tianyang District of Guangxi, which was successfully selected as
the excellent unit for the 2022 Intelligent Manufacturing
Demonstration Factories by four ministries including the Ministry of
Industry and Information Technology of China and won a total of
ten honours from governments at national, autonomous regional
and other levels. The production plant achieved full coverage of
intelligent video surveillance in the factory through 5G technology
to ensure production safety. We deepened application of the
intelligent shipping system in digital mines to optimize mining and
transportation resources and improve production efficiency. We
connected the online monitoring system to the remote diagnosis
system platform to provide 7*24-hour oversight to achieve early
warning and fault prediction. In addition, the Group’s cement
production plant in Fengkai County of Guangdong is constructing
a whole-process intelligent factory based on the international
standards of “lighthouse factory”.
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The Group independently researched and developed an advanced
whole-process control system and applied big data technology to
build an advanced control model to achieve intelligent control of
kilns, mills and residual heat power generation, which commenced
operation at 8 cement production plants located in Fengkai,

Luoding, Hepu, Longyan and Yanshi during the year.

During the year, the quality management system independently
researched and developed by the Group had commenced
operation at 15 cement production plants located in Luoding,
Hongshuihe, Yangchun and Luchuan, which had achieved whole-
process standardization and informationized quality control from
entry into factory and process control of raw fuel materials to
products leaving the factory. The system can combine online
analysis and intelligent laboratories to achieve real-time detection,
automatic collection, automatic batching and automatic statistics.
In addition, during the year, the online monitoring data of the
Group's 18 cement production plants located in Guangdong,
Guangxi, Yunnan and Guizhou were connected to the remote
diagnosis system to achieve early warning and prediction of latent
hazards. With the online equipment monitoring system as the
foundation, the remote diagnosis system as the guarantee and the
equipment management system as the core, the Group had
constructed the first self-built “trinity” intelligent equipment
operation and maintenance platform in the industry, which greatly
improved the reliability of equipment operations and reduced the

consumption of equipment spare parts.
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The Group actively promotes the application of 5G technology and
steadily advanced the major special construction for integration,
innovation and application of the “5G+ Industrial Internet”. Based
on the multi-faceted development needs of the building materials
industry, the Group created a vertical industry platform for building
materials cum “Runfeng Smart” Industrial Internet platform, which
formed solutions for 18 5G applications in 8 major scenarios, which
have been applied to more than 30 production plants to achieve
cross-factory interconnection and data collaboration and
contributed to practical industry experience for the promotion of
the national 5G Industrial Internet. The project won the National
Second Prize of the Smart Industry Thematic Track in the 5G
Application Competition of the Fifth “Blooming Cup”. The “Project
for Industrial Equipment Intelligent Maintenance Based on ‘Mobile
Internet of Things + Artificial Intelligence’” and the "Integrated
Large-Scale Application Project for 5G Internet of Things Low-
Carbon Cloud-Networked Intelligent Manufacturing” were
successfully selected into the 2022 Model Case Database of
Applications of Mobile Internet of Things by the Ministry of Industry
and Information Technology of China.

The Group actively participated in group formulation for two
standards, namely, the “General Requirements for User Manual of
Building Materials Products” and the “General Requirements for
Traceability and Traceability System of Building Materials Products”
hosted by the China Building Materials Federation. Among the
participating units, the Company ranked second for the “General
Requirements for Traceability and Traceability System of Building
Materials Products” and fourth for the “General Requirements for
User Manual of Building Materials Products”.

In terms of intelligent logistics, during the year, the “Smart Card”
intelligent logistics system had been promoted and launched at 5
concrete batching plants and 2 aggregates production plants,
which achieved the unmanned weighbridges, helped to enhance
delivery efficiency and delivery service quality, and reduced
logistics costs. In addition, the Group continued to promote the in-
depth application of intelligent logistics and promoted the upgrade
of the Beidou system for vehicle transportation with pilot trial at the
subsidiary production plants in the Southeast Region. Through
technologies such as Beidou positioning, load-carrying hardware
and artificial intelligence algorithms, the Group can perceive
vehicle status in real time and achieve entry of equipment terminal
data to China Resources Group's Beidou spacetime data service

platform.
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In terms of smart marketing, during the year, the Group’s project
for digital transformation of marketing model had been fully
launched in the cement business of each regions with a coverage
rate of 100%. At the same time, it was gradually rolled out in the
concrete, aggregates and tile adhesives businesses. The logistics
distribution business and supply chain financing business on the
platform were launched simultaneously. As of the end of December
2022, the cumulative transaction volume of the e-commerce
platform reached approximately 114.0 million tons, with nearly
30,000 registered users, 460 carriers cumulatively and

approximately 65,000 vehicles (vessels) settled cumulatively.

Research, Development and Innovation

Innovation is an important momentum to stimulate corporate
vitality and motivate long-term corporate development. As of the
end of December 2022, the Group had 329 technology talents,
among which, there were 76 employees specialized in research and
development and 68 employees specialized in intelligentization

and digitalization.

In 2022, the Group continued to increase investment in research
and development, actively promoted the research and
development of new technologies and new products, and
proposed the “3C" theory of energy saving and carbon reduction,
i.e. low carbon at the source, carbon reduction in the process and
decarbonization at the end. This theoretical system mainly
formulates energy saving and carbon reduction technology
pathways based on cement production mines, cement and clinker
combustion systems, grinding systems, concrete and other
industrial chains to solve the carbon reduction issues of the
industry.
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The Group continues to construct a high-level platform for research
and development of new materials. During the year, the “Southeast
University-China Resources Cement Joint Research and
Development Centre”, the "China Academy of Space Technology-
China Resources Cement Joint Research and Development
Laboratory” and the “China Resources Chemical Materials-China
Resources Cement-China Resources Land Green, Low-Carbon and
Environmentally Friendly Building Materials Innovation Consortium”
were established respectively, which promoted the implementation
of cooperative projects such as 3D printing, functional coatings and
new wall materials and initiated joint training for doctoral and

master’s engineering students.

In addition, in order to encourage and support all-staff innovation,
comprehensively enhance the quality and standard of technological
innovation work and accelerate the transformation of technological
innovation achievements, in 2022, the Group completed the
preparation of the 2023 Technological Innovation Plan to further
specify the direction of research and development for technological
innovation and implement the cultivation plan for technological
innovative talents. We issued seven policies including the
"Regulations on the Management of Science and Technology
Innovation”, the “Measures for the Identification of Science and
Technology Talents” and the “Measures for the Management of
Research and Development Projects”, held the Seventh “Runfeng
Cup” Innovation Competition and the first open competition event
to select the best candidates for major research and development
projects, organized the first science and technology forum,
launched the innovation platform of “Run Technological
Innovation”, and initiated the first science popularization activity.
Through establishing technological innovation system and creating
an atmosphere for technological innovation, the Group expedited
the advancement of technological innovation in the scopes of
technology, management and business models and fostered the
promotion and application of technological innovation

achievements.



=]

—RER

R-B-—F+-A=+—0 ~N&EEHLEA
19046 %2 HEE HEEHMES HH 34
BEBRB IR REH18,702BEFRBE AN T
BR-ZE-—F+-_A=+—HDH A
19,4914 ~ 1544 ~ 19,337 48) - MBI DY
EERAEHETIMT :

EEENWR DN
MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

EMPLOYEES

General Information

As at 31 December 2022, the Group employed a total of 19,046
employees, all of whom are full-time, among whom, 344 were
based in Hong Kong and the remaining 18,702 were based in the
Chinese Mainland (19,491, 154, 19,337 respectively as at 31
December 2021). A breakdown of our employees by function is set

out as follows:

R+=A=+—H
As at 31 December

=== - —F

2022 2021

BEEE Management 472 410

Finance, administration

W% - 1T EAth and others 2,486 2,813
EEANE Production staff 10,941 11,048
HigAE Technical staff 4,426 4,318
EIHAB Sales and marketing staff 721 902
Bt Total 19,046 19,491

EAREZSFREBAES BB ER
13% B2 - 83% A RBHIA LM - 16%
BRI AREHYE  BEFHFRHABATHE (RN
—E-—F+-RF=Z+—HBH531A410%
88% ~ 12% ~ 79% * 19% * 48 %%) °
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AEFEMINEEEE B AR B K EEE S
TLRHE - BT~ —F itk AR H BT
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Among our 472 senior and middle-level managerial staff, 87% are
male and 13% are female, 83% possess university degrees or above,
16% have received post-secondary education and the average age
of managerial staff is approximately 47 (410, 88%, 12%, 79%, 19%,
48 respectively as at 31 December 2021).

The Group has established a remuneration allocation mechanism
based on job value and combined with performance contribution,

personal ability and talent development.

REVIEW OF OPERATIONS

The functional currency of the Group is RMB while the financial
figures are all denominated in HK$. Comparing with 2021, RMB had
depreciated against HK$ by approximately 3.1%.
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Turnover

The consolidated turnover for the year ended 31 December 2022
amounted to HK$32,218.6 million, representing a decrease of 26.7%
from HK$43,962.7 million for the last year. An analysis of segmental
turnover by product is as follows:

—E-CF B
2022 2021

HE  BW/UBK HE BB /UAX
T THEE EXH T FIER ]
W/ YAk BT TER W/ HK BT THT

Sales Average Sales Average

volume selling price volume selling price
'000 HK$ per Turnover '000 HKS per Turnover
tons/m? ton/m? HK$’000 tons/m? ton/m® HK$'000
KE(E) Cement (note) 72,110 358.6 25,858,944 81,349 431.0 35,065,067
2R Clinker 2,929 361.7 1,059,250 3,288 3260 1,072,016
RET Concrete 10,805 490.6 5,300,413 14,814 528.3 7,825,625
@t Total 32,218,607 43,962,708

i 2B KR $H 84,000000M8( =T = — % note: Inclusive of sales volume of 4.0 million tons of cement from related parties (4.6

4,600,000 1) ©

R-ZBZ=F  AEEAKE AR EREL
% 40 44 & S8 4 9,200,000M8 + 359,000W8
4,000,00057 77K B =T = —F 5 IR
11.4% ~ 10.9% % 27.1%  F R - REBFTEE
RIARBE T - 4983.6% B42 5 F mEMR (=
T —FR829%)  H27T% AREHE (=
T —FH289%) c ARAEERE T AE
IR ELKEEEE A& 1,900,000 (—ZE = —F &
2,900,0000F ) « KB B IHEMN2.6%(ZF

million tons in 2021).

In 2022, our external sales volume of cement, clinker and concrete
decreased by 9.2 million tons, 359,000 tons and 4.0 million m?,
representing decreases of 11.4%, 10.9% and 27.1% respectively
over 2021. During the year, approximately 83.6% of the cement
products we sold were 42.5 or higher grades (82.9% in 2021) and
approximately 27.7% were sold in bags (28.9% in 2021). Internal
sales volume of cement for our concrete production was 1.9 million
tons (2.9 million tons in 2021), representing 2.6% of the total volume
of cement sold (3.5% in 2021).

Segmental turnover by product
HK$ million

35,065

7,826

1,072

K Cement
#kt Clinker
JEktt Concrete
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R-E-—F  AEBERMEIHSHKEHEE  Our cement sales by geographical areas in 2022 were as follows:
|
—E-CE —T-—fF
2022 2021
#HE BWTHEE BXE HE BMTHEE =
T BT TER T BT THT
Sales Average Sales Average
volume selling price Turnover volume selling price Turnover
#1}/HAE  Province/AR ‘000 tons  HKS per ton HK$'000 '000 tons HK$ per ton HK$'000
ER Guangdong 31,086 378.2 11,755,905 31,515 490.0 15,442,347
ER Guangxi 20,954 328.7 6,886,773 23,451 4100 9,615,276
BE Fujian 8,787 33341 2,927,065 10,345 3854 3,987,260
ke Hainan 3,153 459.2 1,447,946 3,938 490.0 1,929,594
£5 Yunnan 3,183 370.6 1,179,666 4,832 3815 1,843,311
M Guizhou 2,338 322.3 753,617 3216 287.3 923,883
i} Shanxi 1,704 366.2 624,053 4,052 326.6 1,323,396
W Hunan 905 3137 283,919 - - -
Bzt Total 72,110 358.6 25,858,944 81,349 4310 35,065,067
RZZEZ—F KR AR EERENFHE  The average selling prices of cement, clinker and concrete in 2022
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were HK$358.6 per ton, HK$361.7 per ton and HK$490.6 per m?
respectively, representing a decrease of 16.8%, an increase 11.0%
and a decrease 7.1% respectively from 2021. The decrease in selling
prices of our products was mainly attributable to the slowdown of

economic growth and construction activities in China.

Cement sales volume by geographical area

‘000 tons
4,832 3,216
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& Guangdong
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Costs of Sales

The consolidated cost of sales of the Group (exclusive of cement
sales from related parties) comprised coal, electricity, materials and
other costs, which represented 36.9%, 10.0%, 28.0% and 25.1% of
the cost of sales respectively for the year (31.9%, 10.1%, 35.0% and
23.0% in 2021 respectively). As for cement products, coal, electricity,
materials and other costs represented 43.4%, 11.7%, 20.1% and
24.8% of their costs respectively for the year (38.6%, 12.2%, 23.9%
and 25.3% in 2021 respectively). Materials cost is the major
component of the cost of sales of concrete, representing 77.0% of

the cost of sales of concrete for the year (91.1% in 2021).

The average price of coal we purchased in 2022 was approximately
HK$1,235 per ton, representing an increase of 24.9% from the
average price of HK$989 per ton in 2021, while the average thermal
value of coal decreased by 2.2% to 5,194 kcal per kg. During the
year, our unit coal consumption decreased to 138.8 kg per ton of
clinker produced from the average of 141.4 kg in 2021. Our
standard coal consumption decreased to 102.5 kg per ton of clinker
for the year from the average of 107.1 kg in 2021 (note). As a result
of the increase in coal price, our average coal cost for the year
increased by 22.6% to HK$171.4 per ton of clinker produced from
HK$139.8 in 2021.

note: The data in 2021 had been restated according to the latest national standards

implemented since 2022.

Our average electricity cost increased by 5.4% from HK$33.3 per
ton of cement to HK$35.1 for the year. During the year, we
consumed for a total of 3,309.4 million kwh of electricity (3,854.5
million kwh in 2021), which accounted for 63.1% of the total
electricity consumption for the production of cement products
(64.3% in 2021) under direct power supply agreements and price
bidding arrangements. Our electricity consumption was 71.3 kwh
per ton of cement for the year (72.5 kwh in 2021). Our residual heat
recovery generators generated 1,617.3 million kwh of electricity for
the year, representing a decrease of 14.1% over 1,883.8 million kwh
in 2021.

approximately 30.9% of our required electricity consumption (31.4%

The electricity generated in 2022 accounted for

in 2021) and we achieved a cost saving of approximately HK$936.0
million for the year (HK$984.3 million in 2021).
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Other costs mainly comprised staff cost, transportation cost,
depreciation, and repairs and maintenance cost. Repairs and
maintenance cost included in the cost of sales of cement products
for the year was HK$1,065.5 million, representing a decrease of
27.8% from HK$1,476.6 million in 2021.

Cost structure of cement products

HK$ per ton
$65.3 $105.6
(23.9%) / (38.6%)
©® ®ix  Coal
B Electricity
& Materials
@ Hfth Others

$69.4 /” $33.3
(25.3%) (12.2%)
$273.6
(100.0%)

Gross Profit and Gross Margin

The consolidated gross profit for 2022 was HK$4,918.9 million,
representing a decrease of 65.2% from HK$14,122.8 million for 2021
and the consolidated gross margin was 15.3%, representing a
decrease of 16.8 percentage points from 32.1% for 2021. The
decreases in consolidated gross profit and consolidated gross
margin for the year were mainly attributable to the general
decrease in selling prices, the increase in cost of production of our
cement products and the reclassification of transportation cost
from selling and distribution expenses to cost of sales. The gross
margins of cement, clinker and concrete for 2022 were 15.7%,
17.4% and 12.8%, as compared with 34.6%, 23.9% and 22.1%
respectively for 2021.

Other Income

Other income for 2022 was HK$1,190.5 million, representing an
increase of 62.0% from HK$734.9 million for 2021. This was mainly
attributable to the increase in income in gain on disposal of
subsidiaries of HK$239.1 million as compared with 2021.
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Selling and Distribution Expenses

Selling and distribution expenses for 2022 were HK$545.3 million,
representing a decrease of 73.6% from HK$2,064.2 million for 2021.
As a percentage to consolidated turnover, selling and distribution
expenses for the year decreased to 1.7% from 4.7% for 2021. This
was mainly due to the reclassification of transportation cost of
cement amounting to HK$565.4 million and transportation cost of
concrete amounting to HK$602.0 million from selling and
distribution expenses to cost of sales during the year for better
benchmarking with other companies in the industry. The
transportation cost of cement amounting to HK$677.8 million and
transportation cost of concrete amounting to HK$698.6 million were

recognized as selling and distribution expenses in 2021.

General and Administrative Expenses

General and administrative expenses for 2022 were HK$2,814.2
million, representing a decrease of 5.8% from HK$2,988.9 million
for 2021. As a percentage to consolidated turnover, general and
administrative expenses increased to 8.7% for 2022 from 6.8% for
2021.

Share of Results of Associates

The associates of the Group contributed a profit of HK$15.2 million
for the year (HK$371.5 million in 2021) of which a profit of HK$166.5
million, a loss of HK$41.4 million, a loss of HK$92.4 million and a
loss of HK$6.0 million (profits of HK$93.7 million, HK$91.6 million,
HK$165.4 million and HK$19.5 million in 2021) were attributable to
the Group's associates operating in Inner Mongolia, Fujian, Yunnan
and Guangdong respectively.

Share of Results of Joint Ventures

The joint ventures of the Group contributed a loss of HK$71.3
million for the year (profit of HK$317.6 million in 2021).

Taxation

The effective tax rate of the Group for 2022 was 18.4%, as
compared with 24.9% for 2021. Had the effect of the results of
associates and joint ventures, the exchange difference, as well as
the withholding tax in the Chinese Mainland for dividends and the
deferred tax on the intended distribution profits from subsidiaries
in the Chinese Mainland to a holding company in Hong Kong been
excluded, the effective tax rate of the Group for 2022 would be
20.2% (23.7% in 2021).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

Net Margin

Net margin of the Group for 2022 was 5.8%, which was 11.8
percentage points lower than that of 17.6% for 2021.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

The Group's sources of funding mainly included cash on hand,
bank loans, loans from related parties, issue of equity securities and

cash flows generated from operations.

As at 31 December 2022, the Group's cash and bank balances and
pledged bank deposits included the following amounts:

AEEBR_E__FR_FT-_—F+=A
=+ BHHRITREMEESEER - BBAD
T~

HK$ 329,533 253,423
RMB 2,116,574 5,910,554
Us$ 172 140

Bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 December 2022
and 2021 were all unsecured, with breakdown as follows:

RITER
KB R T B R

Bank loans 15,836,585 8,559,287
Loans from related parties 596,678 1,854,354
16,433,263 10,413,641
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As at 31 December 2022, bank and other borrowings of the Group
which carried interests at fixed and variable rates amounted to
HK$5,365.4 million and HK$11,067.9 million respectively (HK$6,113.6
million and HK$4,300.0 million respectively as at 31 December

2021). These borrowings were denominated in the following

EHEHE - currencies:
B+=—HA=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-—F —E-—F
2022 2021
3F T
‘000 ‘000
BT HK$ 2,300,000 4,300,000
AR RMB 12,624,846 4,998,520
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IR 1T E N FAE 4 2,300,000,000 78 7T M A R #E
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As at 31 December 2022, the Group's unsecured banking facilities
amounted to HK$2,300.0 million and RMB24,194.5 million, of which
RMB12,102.6 million was unutilized and remained available for

drawdown.

Under the terms of certain agreements for total banking facilities of
HK$2,300.0 million equivalent with expiry dates in March 2025, CR
Holdings is required to hold not less than 35% of the issued share
capital in the Company. Under the terms of certain agreements for
the total banking facilities of HK$2,300.0 million equivalent, the net
gearing ratio of the Company (calculated by dividing net
borrowings by equity attributable to owners of the Company, and
as may be adjusted to exclude certain non-tangible assets) shall not
exceed 180%. The Group was in compliance with the above
financial covenants as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December
2021.

The Group adopts robust and prudent treasury policies in financial
management. Treasury management, financing and investment
activities are all managed and monitored by the senior
management of the Company, and all treasury activities of the
Group are centralized. The Group regularly monitors its current and
expected liquidity needs as well as compliance with bank loan
agreements in order to maintain its sufficient cash reserves and
flexibility in funding for meeting the Group's short-term and long-
term liquidity needs.
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The Group's business transactions were mainly carried out in HK$
and RMB. The Group's exposure to currency risk was attributable to
the bank balances and debts which were denominated in currencies
other than the functional currency of the entity to which these bank
balances and debts were related. The Group currently does not
have a foreign currency hedging policy in respect of foreign
currency exposure. However, the management regularly monitors
the relevant foreign currency exposure and will consider taking
appropriate measures to control the risk arising from significant
exchange fluctuations. These will include hedging significant
currency exposure and/or increasing the proportion of RMB-
denominated borrowings of the Group should the higher interest
costs be considered justifiable against the risk of exchange losses.
The Group was not engaged in any hedging contract as at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021. As at 31 December 2022,
non-RMB denominated debts accounted for 14% of the total debts
of the Group (41% as at 31 December 2021).

The Group had net current liabilities of HK$5,485.5 million as at 31
December 2022. Taking into account the cash and bank balances,
the unutilized banking facilities, the expected future internally
generated funds, the new banking facilities and other sources of
financing to be obtained, the Board is confident that the Group will
be able to meet its financial obligations when they fall due in the

foreseeable future.

CHARGES ON ASSETS

As at 31 December 2022, there was no charge on assets by the
Group (Nil as at 31 December 2021).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Group had issued guarantees to
banks in respect of banking facilities in the amount of RMB2,109.2
million (RMB1,433.3 million as at 31 December 2021) granted to
associates and joint venture, of which RMB1,360.3 million
(RMB1,316.5 million as at 31 December 2021) had been utilized.
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ISSUE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Pursuant to the placing, underwriting and subscription agreement
dated 11 June 2018, the Company issued 450 million ordinary
Shares at a price of HK$9.30 per Share in cash to CRH (Cement)
Limited, the Company’s immediate holding company. The gross
funds raised was HK$4,185.0 million and the net proceeds, after
deducting all professional fees and other out-of-pocket expenses,
was approximately HK$4,180.3 million, representing a net issue
price of approximately HK$9.29 per Share. The closing price as
quoted on the Stock Exchange on 11 June 2018 was HK$10.32 per
Share. Details of the placing and the top-up subscription were
disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 11 June 2018
and 25 June 2018.

In order to utilize the net proceeds in a more effective way and to
facilitate efficient allocation of the Company'’s financial resources,
on 22 October 2021, the Board resolved that HK$571.7 million out
of the remaining net proceeds initially used for development of
prefabricated construction business would be reallocated to
developing of aggregates business. According to the policies and
market conditions of prefabricated construction, the Group has
promoted related businesses in an orderly manner, and the amount
intended to be utilized for the development of prefabricated
construction business had been fully utilized before 31 December
2022.

In view of strengthening the efficiency and effectiveness of the
capital use of the Group, guaranteeing the flow of its own capital
and enhancing the flexibility in financial management of the Group,
such change in the use of net proceeds would better meet the
current business development needs of the Group, which also
enables the Group to invest its financial sources in a more beneficial
and effective way so as to coordinate with the future development
of the Group and grasp potential business opportunities in the
future. Relevant details were disclosed in the Company's
announcement dated 22 October 2021.
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The Board considers that the abovementioned issues of Shares has
strengthened the capital base of the Company. Details of the use
of net proceeds are as follows:

BEERABEEX  Development of prefabricated

construction business

BRENER Development of aggregates
business

BEER Repayment of debts

—REEES General working capital

@t Total

Bk ESCPR#EERSN - AR RS EAERIM B A FH5
BERNFRETTAERRARSRITNESS
KEF -

TEm
1,100,300 5,100 5,100 - Not applicable
TEm
1,825,700 - - - Not applicable
TER
836,000 - - - Not applicable
TER
418,279 - - - Not applicable

4,180,279 5,100 5,100 -

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries carried out any fund raising activities in respect of issue

of equity securities during the year.
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ARFFEREARTH FUTURE PLAN AND CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

=N Capital Expenditure

MNZZE-——F+=-_fA=+—H AEEHEH As at 31 December 2022, the outstanding capital expenditure for
EWIERAE ZHMASINEARLHL A the Group's expansion plans to be invested was approximately
12,456,500,0003 7T © Z EEoR T 2B HK$12,456.5 million. Details of these expansion plans are as follows:

T~

BATHRBCEC RN MEMMNT  Technological upgrade of an
MRANKREERN existing cement production
plant in Chenzhou City, Hunan 545.9 - 4.1 501.8

HRURERIREZNEH Construction of a production

EEEM(REFESY plant for aggregates with
#730,000,0001) planned annual production
capacity of approximately
30.0 million tons in Fengkai
County, Guangdong 8,102.7 46435 1,278.0 2,181.2
BRUNEREE G Construction of a production
FRAEESL (RAFER plant for aggregates with
#76,500,0001) planned annual production
capacity of approximately
6.5 million tons in Deqing
County, Guangdong 1,087.2 - 210.7 816.5
BENRERETTH Construction of a production
BRAEEE (REFER plant for aggregates with
#71,500,0001) planned annual production
capacity of approximately

1.5 million tons in Luoding
City, Guangdong 90.2 - 0.2 90.0

ERRERARAR

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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FEEM (BB FER
479,700,000

ERUNBASETEERR
BRAERGREFER
477,500,001

ERUAEAE)IENFR
FEEN (BB FER
473,000,000 )

Construction of a production
plant for aggregates with
planned annual production
capacity of approximately
4.0 million tons in Napo Town,
Tianyang District, Guangxi

Construction of a production
plant for aggregates with
planned annual production
capacity of approximately
2.0 million tons in Pingguang

Forest, Shangsi County, Guangxi

Construction of a production
plant for aggregates with
planned annual production
capacity of approximately
9.7 million tons in
Guigang City, Guangxi

Construction of a production
plant for aggregates with
planned annual production
capacity of approximately
7.5 million tons in Qintang
District, Guigang City, Guangxi

Construction of a production
plant for aggregates with
planned annual production
capacity of approximately
3.0 million tons in Fuchuan

County, Guangxi

EEBHBRAN
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11134

678.6

3,948.3

7358

379.7

81.9

1375 975.9
- 59.7
13460 2,602.3
304.6 4312
1615 218.2
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BRI EREENEREN
BRAEER (RBIFER
#75,000,0001%)

BN SETTENER
HEEM(REIFER
#73,000,0001)

ERUNEERLEHEHR
FEEN(REIFE
#73,000,000)

ERUNEEHELENEH
EEEM (RBIFERE
#71,000,000)

RN RETNEH
EEE (RBFESE
475,000,000 )
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Construction of a production
plant for aggregates with
planned annual production
capacity of approximately
5.0 million tons in Binyang
County, Nanning City, Guangxi

Construction of a production
plant for aggregates with
planned annual production
capacity of approximately
3.0 million tons in
Ding'an County, Hainan

Construction of a production
plant for aggregates with
planned annual production
capacity of approximately
3.0 million tons in Weishan
County, Yunnan

Construction of a production
plant for aggregates with
planned annual production
capacity of approximately
1.0 million tons in Midu
County, Yunnan

Construction of a production
plant for aggregates with
planned annual production
capacity of approximately
5.0 million tons in Xianning
City, Hubei

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

236.5

2,171.6

400.1

93.5

960.1

1,528.7

1378

0.2

238.7

22.1

232

236.3

404.2

240.2

70.3

743.6
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Construction of a production
plant for aggregates with
planned annual production
capacity of approximately
3.0 million tons in Luonan
County, Shaanxi

Construction of a production
plant for aggregates with
planned annual production
capacity of approximately
5.0 million tons in

Tongchuan City, Shaanxi

Construction of a production
plant for prefabricated
construction components with
design annual capacity of
approximately 400,000 m? in
Nanning City, Guangxi

Construction of four production
lines for autoclaved aerated
lightweight concrete blocks and
panels with total design annual
production capacities of
approximately 400,000 m® of
blocks and approximately
800,000 m* of panels respectively
in Fengkai County, Guangdong

EEFNRR A
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3293

514.7

558.4

612.0

254.6

57.1

8.4 320.9
25.1 489.6
51.7 252.1
1744 380.5
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Construction of three production
lines for autoclaved lightweight
concrete blocks and panels with
total design annual production
capacities approximately
300,000 m? of blocks and
approximately 600,000 m? of
panels respectively in
Ding'an County, Hainan 4743

Construction of production lines
for products of marble quarry
for facing with total planned
annual production capacities of
approximately 1.14 million m?in
Hezhou City, Guangxi 1634

Construction of 6 concrete
batching plants with total
annual capacity of approximately

5.4 million m?* of concrete 3424

- 538 420.5

- 14 1620

19.9 - 322.5

Total 23,538.1

6,723.5 4,358.1 12,456.5

Payment of Capital Expenditure

Total payments for capital expenditure of the Group are expected
to be approximately HK$5,705.0 million in 2023, which will be

financed by proceeds from borrowings and internally generated

funds.

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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Mr. JI Youhong
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DIRECTORS
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Mr. JI Youhong, aged 58, has been appointed as the Chairman of
the Board since May 2022 and an executive Director since
September 2016. He is the chairman of the Strategy and Investment
Committee, the chairman of the Nomination Committee and an
authorised representative of the Company. Mr. JI joined the Group
in October 2003 and had served various managerial positions of the
Company including the general manager of various cement and
concrete subsidiaries, the Marketing Controller from November
2008 to December 2012, the Regional General Manager (Guangxi)
from April 2012 to September 2016, and the Chief Executive Officer
from September 2016 to April 2023. He currently serves as the
director of various subsidiaries of the Company. He is a senior
engineer of building materials accredited by the Private Enterprise
Senior Engineer Panel of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region. Mr.
JI graduated from the Nanjing Industrial College (currently known
as Southeast University), China with a bachelor’s degree in
engineering in 1985 and a master’s degree in inorganic and non-
metallic materials in 1988. He has over 30 years of experience in
construction materials engineering and marketing. He is currently
the Vice Chairman of the China Building Materials Federation and
the Vice Chairman of the China Cement Association, and was the
Vice President of the Eighth Council of the China Concrete and

Cement-based Products Association.
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SHFEE
Mr. JING Shiging
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Mr. JING Shiqing, aged 42, has been appointed as the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company and an executive Director since
April 2023. He is a member of the Strategy and Investment
Committee and the director of certain subsidiaries of the Company.
Mr. JING joined China Resources Group in July 2003 and had
served as the Deputy General Manager of the Human Resources
Department of China Resources Group from May 2018 to March
2021, a non-executive director of the Company from May 2018 to
May 2021 and a non-executive director of China Resources Gas
Group Limited from August 2018 to May 2021 respectively. He
joined the Company in May 2021 and had served as the Vice
President of the Company from May 2021 to April 2023, previously
responsible for the management of the Marketing Management
Department, the Smart & Information Technology Department and
the Technology and Innovation Department of the Company, and
currently responsible for the management of the New Materials
Business Division, the South China Region and the Southeast China
Region of the Company. Mr. JING holds a bachelor’'s degree in
engineering from the Changsha University of Science and
Technology, China and a master’'s degree in business
administration from the Nanjing University, China. He has over 15

years of experience in corporate management.
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Mr. ZHU Ping, aged 57, has been appointed as a non-executive
Director since October 2021. He is a member of the Strategy and
Investment Committee, the Nomination Committee and the Risk

and Compliance Committee of the Company. He currently serves

as a designated external director of business units of CR Holdings,
R A and works in China Resources Corporate Service (Shenzhen)
Mr. ZHU Ping Limited. Mr. ZHU has been appointed as a director of China
Resources Environmental Protection Technology Limited since
December 2021, worked in China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited
from September 2004 to September 2021, and had served various
managerial positions including the Head of Administration and the
Vice President responsible for operation and management of North
China Region. He had served as a Deputy General Manager of
Huainan Town Gas Corporation (currently known as Huainan Gas
Corporation); an Executive Deputy General Manager of Yuyao
Urban Natural Gas Co., Ltd. from 2000 to 2001; a Senior Project
Manager of XinAo Gas Holdings Limited (currently known as ENN
Energy Holdings Limited) and the General Manager of Wenzhou
Xin'ao Gas Co., Ltd. from 2001 to 2004. Mr. ZHU successively
studied Secretarial Profession from the Anhui Normal University,
China and Management Science and Engineering from the
Donghua University, China, and has over 30 years’ experience in

corporate management.
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Mr. CHEN Kangren, aged 59, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director since October 2021. He is a member of the
Strategy and Investment Committee, the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee and the Risk and Compliance Committee of
the Company. He currently serves as a designated external director
of business units of CR Holdings, and works in China Resources
Corporate Service (Shenzhen) Limited. Mr. CHEN has been
appointed as a director of China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.
since April 2022, was the Deputy General Manager of China
Resources Asset Management Limited from March 2021 to August
2021, the Deputy General Manager of SINOMACH Intelligence
Technology Co., Ltd. from December 2015 to March 2021, and
worked in Guangzhou Mechanical Engineering Research Institute
Co., Ltd. (formerly known as the Guangzhou Mechanical
Engineering Research Institute, the Guangzhou Machine Tool
Research Institute and the Guangzhou Machine Tool Research
Institute of the Ministry of Machine-Building Industry) from
September 1994 to December 2015 as the Deputy General
Manager, Associate Dean, Financial Controller and various
managerial positions. He served as a director and the Vice
Chairman of Hainan Drinda Automotive Trim Co., Ltd. (currently
known Hainan Drinda New Energy Technology Co., Ltd.) (listed on
the Shenzhen Stock Exchange) from October 2015 to October 2021
and from October 2015 to October 2018 respectively. Mr. CHEN
obtained a bachelor’'s degree of engineering in radioactive
geological survey and exploration from the Department of Geology
of the Taigu Geological School, China (currently known as East
China University of Technology) in 1984 and a master’s degree of
business administration from the Jinan University, China in 1995,
and holds a PRC Certified Accountant credential. He has over 25

years' experience in financial and corporate management.
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Mr. YANG Changyi, aged 62, has been appointed as a non-
executive Director since October 2021. He is a member of the
Strategy and Investment Committee and the Audit Committee of
the Company. Mr. YANG currently serves as a part-time external
director of business units of CR Holdings, worked in China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from August 2003 to January
2021 and had served various managerial positions including the
Vice President responsible for operation and management of South
China Region, the Chairman of Qingdao Energy China Resources
Gas Limited, the General Manager of Jinran China Resources Gas
Co., Ltd., the General Manager of Zhengzhou China Resources Gas
Limited, the General Manager of Xiamen China Resources Gas Co.,
Ltd., the Financial Controller of Chengdu City Gas Co., Ltd.
(currently known as Chengdu Gas Group Corporation Ltd.) and the
Financial Controller of Suzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. He
successively studied Technology Economy and Management in the
Hohai University, China and Ideological and Political Education in
the Nanjing Normal University, China. He is also a qualified
accountant in the PRC, and has over 30 years’ experience in

financial and corporate management.
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Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, aged 71, has been an independent
non-executive Director since August 2008. He is the chairman of
the Risk and Compliance Committee of the Company and a
member of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee and the Audit Committee of the Company.
Mr. IP graduated from the University of Hong Kong with a degree
in social sciences in 1973. Mr. IP joined the Hong Kong Government
in November 1973 and was promoted to the rank of Director of
Bureau in April 1997. He worked in the Hong Kong Government as
a Principal Official from July 1997 to June 2007. Senior positions
held by Mr. IP in the past include Commissioner of Insurance,
Commissioner for Labour, Secretary for Economic Services and
Secretary for Financial Services. Mr. IP took up the position of
Secretary for Economic Development and Labour in July 2002. His
portfolio in respect of economic development covered air and sea
transport, logistics development, tourism, energy, postal services,
meteorological services, competition and consumer protection. He
was also responsible for labour policies including matters relating

to employment services, labour relations and employees rights.

In his capacity as Secretary for Economic Development and Labour,
Mr. IP was a member of the Hong Kong Airport Authority Board,
the Mandatory Provident Fund Authority Board, the Hong Kong
International Theme Parks Company Board as well as the Chairman
of the Logistics Development Council, Port Development Board,
Maritime Industry Council and Aviation Development Advisory
Committee. Mr. IP retired from the Hong Kong Government in July
2007. Mr. IP received the Gold Bauhinia Star award from the Hong
Kong Government in 2001, and is an unofficial Justice of the Peace.
Mr. IP has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of six other listed companies on the main board of the
Stock Exchange, namely, Lai Sun Development Company Limited
since December 2009, Kingboard Laminates Holdings Limited since
May 2011, Luk Fook Holdings (International) Limited since October
2011, Nameson Holdings Limited since April 2018, Million Cities
Holdings Limited since June 2018 and C-MER Eye Care Holdings
Limited since November 2020.
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Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, aged 77, has been an independent
non-executive Director since January 2011. He is the chairman of
the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee of the Company and a
member of the Nomination Committee, the Audit Committee and
the Risk and Compliance Committee of the Company. Mr. SHEK
was appointed as a Justice of the Peace in 1995, awarded the Silver
Bauhinia Star in 2007 and awarded the Gold Bauhinia Star in 2013.
Mr. SHEK was a member of the Legislative Council of Hong Kong
representing the real estate and construction functional
constituency from 2000 to 2021.

Mr. SHEK was appointed as an independent non-executive director
of Goldin Financial Holdings Limited (listed on the main board of
the Stock Exchange) in January 2017, re-designated from
independent non-executive director to executive director and
appointed as the Vice Chairman in March 2021, and re-designated
from the Vice Chairman to the Chairman since June 2022; and has
been appointed as the advisor of SIM Holdings Limited since May
2021. He has been appointed as an independent non-executive
director of Chuang'’s China Investments Limited (listed on the main
board of the Stock Exchange) since April 2008, and acted as the
Honorary Chairman since April 2019 following his retirement from
his position as the Chairman. He has appointed as an independent
non-executive director and the Vice Chairman of ITC Properties
Group Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange)
since September 2010, and served as an independent non-
executive director of numerous companies listed on the main board
of the Stock Exchange, including Paliburg Holdings Limited since
July 2002, Chuang’s Consortium International Limited since May
2004, NWS Holdings Limited since September 2004, Regal Portfolio
Management Limited (the manager of Regal Real Estate Investment
Trust) since February 2006, Eagle Asset Management (CP) Limited
(the manager of Champion Real Estate Investment Trust) since
March 2006, Country Garden Holdings Company Limited since
December 2006, Lai Fung Holdings Limited since December 2012,
Cosmopolitan International Holdings Limited since December 2013,
Everbright Grand China Assets Limited since January 2018, CSI
Properties Limited since July 2018, Far East Consortium
International Limited since June 2019, Shin Hwa World Limited
(formerly known as Landing International Development Limited)
since August 2020, Hao Tian International Construction Investment
Group Limited since October 2020 and International Alliance
Financial Leasing Co., Limited since July 2021. Mr. SHEK was also
an independent non-executive director of Hop Hing Group
Holdings Limited (privatized and delisted in January 2022) from
January 2007 to June 2020 and SJM Holdings Limited from October
2007 to May 2021 (listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange).
He is an Honorary Court member of The Hong Kong University of
Science and Technology, a Court and Council Member of The
University of Hong Kong, a Court Member of City University of
Hong Kong, an independent non-executive director of Lifestyle
International Holdings Limited (privatized and delisted in December
2022) and Ping An OneConnect Bank (Hong Kong) Limited. Mr.
SHEK was also a non-executive director of the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority, and an Independent Member of the
Board of Governors and Chairman of English Schools Foundation.
He graduated from the University of Sydney, Australia with a
Bachelor of Arts Degree and a Diploma in Education, and obtained

a Juris Doctor Degree at City University of Hong Kong.
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Madam ZENG Xuemin, aged 78, has been an independent non-
executive Director since August 2008. She is a member of the
Strategy and Investment Committee, the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee and the Audit Committee of the Company.
Madam ZENG is a senior engineer at professor level accredited by
the State Economic and Trade Commission of China and a
registered consulting engineer (investment) accredited by the
National Development and Reform Commission of China. She
studied at the Beijing Architecture and Industrial Institute, China
from 1963 to 1968 and started her career and served at Benxi

gBg Lt
Madam ZENG Xuemin

Gongyuan Cement Factory as a technician and director of the
laboratory between 1969 and 1983. From 1984 to March 2001, she
worked at the Production Division and the Planning Division of the
State Building Materials Bureau in the PRC and served as the
deputy director and the director of the various departments and
divisions. She was the Vice President of the China Cement
Association from April 2001 to April 2014 and has been appointed
as a distinguished expert since July 2014. She has been the
Chairman of the Council of Branch of Building Materials, China
Association for Engineering Construction Standardization from July
2002 to June 2019. Madam ZENG is specialized in managing the
development and planning, and the scientific advancement,
policies and laws and regulations for construction investment as
well as setting up the relevant standards and quotas applicable to
the building materials industry. She took the lead in formulating the
relevant building materials industry development plans for the
Seventh Five-Year Plan, Eighth Five-Year Plan, Ninth Five-Year Plan
and Tenth Five-Year Plan and in setting up a wide spectrum of
construction standards and quotas for the building materials
industry, including the standards of design for a cement factory. In
the area of engineering and construction management, she was
awarded with a number of Grade 1 and Grade 2 prizes at the
provincial level.
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Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster, aged 49, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since June 2022. He is the
chairman of the Audit Committee of the Company and a member
of the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee and the Risk and Compliance Committee of the
Company. Mr. NG obtained a diploma in accounting from the
School of Professional and Continuing Education, The University of
Hong Kong in 1997, has been the founder and the sole proprietor
of Webster Ng & Co. since 2001, and is currently a Managing
Director of AC CPA Limited. Mr. NG has over 28 years of
experience in accounting and auditing. He is a fellow practising
Certified Public Accountant and Chartered Tax Adviser in Hong
Kong, and is currently a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants, the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants, the Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, the
Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales, the
Society of Chinese Accountants & Auditors, and founding member
of the Hong Kong Professionals and Senior Executives Association,
and assumes various positions in associations involving finance and
auditing. Mr. NG currently serves as a member of sixth-term
Election Committee (Accountancy) of Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region, a non-executive director of eMPF Platform
Company Limited, a member of Lotteries Fund Advisory
Committee, a member of Lump Sum Grant Steering Committee, an
appointed member and the Honorary Treasurer of Social Workers
Registration Board, a non-official member of Citizens Advisory
Committee on Community Relations of the Independent
Commission Against Corruption, a member of District Fight Crime
Committee, Sai Kung, a member of the finance, audit and risk
committee of Medecins Sans Frontieres (HK) Limited and the
Honorary Auditor of the North Kwai Chung District Scout Council,
Scout Association of Hong Kong. Mr. NG was appointed an
independent non-executive director of UNQ Holdings Limited
(listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange) in June 2020 with
effect from June 2021. He is currently a Justice of the Peace, a
member of the inaugural Advisory Committee of the Accounting
and Financial Reporting Council of Hong Kong and a member of
the Securities and Futures Appeals Tribunal of Hong Kong.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. HUANG Ting, aged 53, has been appointed the Vice President
of the Company since January 2014, responsible for the
management of the Functional Building Materials Business Division
of the Company and Shenzhen Runfeng Trade Development Co.,
Ltd. He joined China Resources National Corporation (currently
known as China Resources Company Limited) in 1992. He joined
the Group in July 2003 and had served various managerial positions
including the Deputy Regional General Manager (Guangdong), the
Financial Controller, the Chief Financial Officer and the Chief
Procurement Officer. Mr. HUANG obtained a bachelor's degree in
economics from the Xiamen University, China in 1992. He has over

20 years of experience in corporate management.

Mr. ZHENG Qinghong, aged 57, has been appointed the Vice
President of the Company since January 2014 and acting as the
General Manager of West China Region. He joined the Group in
July 2003 and had served various managerial positions including
the Deputy Regional General Manager (Guangdong), the Regional
General Manager (Fujian), the Chief Logistics Officer and the
Regional General Manager (Yunnan). Mr. ZHENG obtained a
master’s degree in engineering from the Wuhan University of
Technology, China in 1993. He has over 30 years of working
experience in building materials and cement industry.

Madam TAN Ying, aged 46, has been appointed the Chief
Financial Officer of the Company since March 2022. She joined
China Resources Group in 2010 and had served as the Assistant
Controller, the Deputy Controller and the Deputy General Manager
of the Finance Department of China Resources Group. Madam
TAN obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from the China
Institute of Finance and Banking in 1999 and a master’s degree in
commerce from the University of Sydney, Australia in 2005. She has
over 20 years of experience in finance, banking and corporate

management.
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Mr. LI Baojun, aged 54, has been appointed the Vice President of
the Company since December 2020, responsible for the
management of human resources and general administration of the
Company. Mr. LI joined China Resources Group in September 2002
and had served as the General Manager of the Strategic
Management Department of China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited as well as the Assistant General Manager of the
Strategic Management Department of China Resources Group. He
joined the Group in January 2014 and had served as the Chief
Strategy Officer, the General Manager of the International
Department and the Regional General Manager (Hainan) of the
Company. Mr. LI obtained a bachelor’s degree in engineering from
the Tianjin University, China in 1990, a master’s degree in industrial
engineering from the Hebei University of Technology, China in
2003 and a master’s degree in business administration from the
China Europe International Business School, China in 2012. He has
over 20 years of experience in strategic development and corporate

management.

Mr. LI Chuaniji, aged 52, has been appointed the Vice President of
the Company since December 2020 and acting as the General
Manager of the Structural Building Materials Business Division. He
joined the Group in July 2003 and had served various managerial
positions including the Chief Logistics Officer, the Deputy General
Manager of the Marketing Department, the Deputy Regional
General Manager (Fujian), the Deputy Regional General Manager
(Yunnan) and the Regional General Manager (Guizhou). Mr. LI
obtained a bachelor’s degree in economics from the Shanghai
University of Finance and Economics, China in 1992 and a master's
degree in business administration from the Hong Kong Baptist
University in 2013. He is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and a member of the Chinese
Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has over 20 years of

experience in financial, marketing and corporate management.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Mr. CAIl Xiang, aged 55, has been appointed the Vice President of
the Company since December 2020, responsible for the
management of operations management, environmental, health
and safety, the Smart & Information Technology Department of the
Company and Shenzhen Runfeng Intelligent Technology Co., Ltd.
He joined the Group in July 2003 and had served various
managerial positions including the Deputy Regional General
Manager (Guangdong), the Regional General Manager (Guizhou),
the Chief Procurement Officer and the Chief Operating Officer. Mr.
CAl completed an undergraduate programme in business
administration from the Wuhan University of Technology, China in
2006. He has over 30 years of working experience in building

materials and cement industry.

Mr. LI Wei, aged 54, has been appointed the Vice President of the
Company since December 2020, responsible for the management
of the Southwest China Region, market management and
digitalization of marketing models. He joined the Group in January
2005 and had served various managerial positions including the
Regional Marketing Controller (Guangdong), the Deputy Regional
General Manager (Guangxi), the Deputy Regional General Manager
(Hainan), the Chief Procurement Officer, the Chief Marketing
Officer and the Head of the New Business Office. Mr. LI obtained a
master’s degree in business administration from the Queen’s
University of Brighton, USA in 2009. He has over 30 years of

experience in marketing and corporate management.

Mr. WANG Yue, aged 46, has been appointed as the senior
management of the Company at Vice President level since March
2018, responsible for the management of disciplinary work of the
Company. He joined the Company in October 2012 and had served
various managerial positions including the General Manager of the
Internal Audit Department and the Head of the Office of Discipline
Inspection Commission. Mr. WANG obtained a bachelor’s degree
in economics from the Zhongnan University of Finance and
Economics (currently known as the Zhongnan University of
Economics and Law), China in 1998. He has over 20 years of

experience in corporate management.
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The Directors are pleased to present their annual report together
with the audited financial statements of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. Its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of cement,
concrete and related products and services. Details of the principal
activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out in Note 49 to the

consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year are set out in the consolidated

statement of comprehensive income on page 157.

DIVIDEND

The Board recommends the payment of final dividend of HK$0.009
per Share in cash for the year ended 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$0.28 per Share). The Board declared an interim dividend of
HK$0.12 per Share in cash for 2022 (2021: HK$0.24 per Share) and
the total distribution for the year ended 31 December 2022 will be
HK$0.129 per Share (2021: HK$0.52 per Share).

The final dividend will be payable in cash to each shareholder in
HK$ by default. Shareholders will also be given the option to elect
to receive all or part of the final dividend in RMB at the exchange
rate of HK$1.0:RMB0.881398, being the average benchmark
exchange rate of HK$ to RMB as published by the People’s Bank of
China during the five business days immediately before Friday, 17
March 2023. If shareholders elect to receive the final dividend in
RMB, such dividend will be paid to shareholders at RMB0.00793258
per Share. To make such election, shareholders should complete
the Dividend Currency Election Form which is expected to be
despatched to shareholders in mid-June 2023 as soon as
practicable after the record date of Friday, 9 June 2023 to
determine shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend, and
lodge it with the Company's share registrar, Computershare Hong
Kong Investor Services Limited, Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor,
Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong
not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 5 July 2023.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Shareholders who are minded to elect to receive all or part of their
dividends in RMB by cheques should note that (i) they should
ensure that they have an appropriate bank account to which the
RMB cheques for dividend can be presented for payment; and (i)
there is no assurance that RMB cheques can be cleared without
material handling charges or delay in Hong Kong or that RMB
cheques will be honoured for payment upon presentation outside
Hong Kong. The cheques are expected to be posted to the
relevant shareholders by ordinary post on Wednesday, 19 July 2023

at the shareholders’ own risk.

If no duly completed Dividend Currency Election Form in respect of
the shareholder is received by the Company’s share registrar by
4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 5 July 2023, such shareholder will
automatically receive the final dividend in HK$. All dividend
payments in HK$ will be made in the usual way on Wednesday, 19
July 2023.

If shareholders wish to receive the final dividend in HK$ in the usual

way, no additional action is required.

Shareholders should seek professional advice with their own tax
advisers regarding the possible tax implications of the dividend

payment.

The Company has adopted a dividend policy to provide returns to
our shareholders. Subject to compliance with applicable laws, rules,
regulations and the Articles of Association of the Company, the
Company may declare and pay dividends to our shareholders
provided that such declaration and payment of dividends does not

affect the Group's normal operations.

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining the
dividend amount, the Board will take into account, among others,
the Group's earnings performance, financial position, liquidity
position, current and future operations, capital requirements, the
interests of our shareholders and any other factors which the Board

deems relevant.

The dividend policy will be continuously reviewed from time to
time. There can be no assurance from the Company that a dividend
will be proposed or declared in any particular amount for any given

periods.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
Monday, 22 May 2023 to Thursday, 25 May 2023, both days
inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company
will be registered. In order to determine the identity of members
who are entitled to attend and vote at the annual general meeting
to be held on Thursday, 25 May 2023, all share transfer documents
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 19 May 2023 with the Company’s
share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Subject to the approval of shareholders of the Company at the
forthcoming annual general meeting, the final dividend will be
distributed on or about Wednesday, 19 July 2023 to shareholders
of the Company whose names appear on the register of members
of the Company after the close of business of the Company at 4:30
p.m. on Friday, 9 June 2023 and the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 5 June 2023 to Friday, 9
June 2023, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of
shares of the Company will be registered. In order to qualify for the
proposed final dividend, all share transfer documents accompanied
by the relevant share certificates shall be lodged not later than 4:30
p.m. on Friday, 2 June 2023 with the Company’s share registrar,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited at Shops
1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong.

BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the Company’s business, a discussion and analysis
of the Group's development and performance during the year, the
principal risks and uncertainties facing the Group, the material
factors underlying its results and financial position, and the future
development of the Company’s business are set out in the
Chairman’s Statement and the Management Discussion and

Analysis of this annual report.

In addition, the Group’s environmental and social policies and
performance, as well as compliance with relevant laws and
regulations which have a significant impact on the Group and the
Company's relationships with its key stakeholders are discussed in
the Sustainability Report and the Corporate Governance Report of
this annual report.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

FIXED ASSETS AND INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of the movements in fixed assets and investment property
of the Group during the year are set out in Notes 16 and 18 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are set out in

Note 49 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

There was no movement in the authorized share capital of the
Company during the year. Details of the authorized and issued
share capital of the Company for the year are set out in Note 38 to

the consolidated financial statements.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the year or
subsisted at the end of the year.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in various
form of raw materials and finished goods in the total amount of
approximately HK$5,920,000 (2021: HK$6,416,000).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association of the Company or the laws of the Cayman Islands
which would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata

basis to its existing shareholders.

TAXATION RELIEF

According to the laws of the Cayman Islands, there are currently no
taxes levied on individuals or corporations by reason of holding of
Shares based upon profits, income, gains or appreciations and

there is no taxation in the nature of inheritance tax or estate duty.
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RESERVES

As at 31 December 2022, the Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders amounted to approximately HK$4,032.8
million (2021: HK$2,931.2 million).

DIRECTORS

The Directors who held office during the year and up to the date of
this report are:

Executive Director

JI Youhong

Non-executive Directors

ZHU Ping

CHEN Kangren

YANG Changyi

LI Fuli (resigned with effect from 6 May 2022)

Independent non-executive Directors

IP Shu Kwan Stephen

SHEK Lai Him Abraham

ZENG Xuemin

NG Kam Wah Webster (appointed with effect from 29 June 2022)
LAM Chi Yuen Nelson (resigned with effect from 29 June 2022)

In accordance with Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster shall retire from office at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer

himself for re-election.

In accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Mr. ZHU Ping, Mr. CHEN Kangren and Mr. IP Shu Kwan
Stephen shall retire from office by rotation at the forthcoming
annual general meeting and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-

election.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

CHANGE OF DIRECTOR AFTER THE DATE OF THIS
REPORT

With effect from 18 April 2023, Mr. JING Shiging has been
appointed as an executive Director. In accordance with Article 16.2
of the Articles of Association of the Company, Mr. JING Shiging
shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general meeting

and, being eligible, offer himself for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting has a service contract which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation,

other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATIONS

Directors are entitled to fees fixed by the Board under the
authorization of the annual general meeting with reference to the
prevailing market conditions and his duties and responsibilities with
the Company. Each executive Director is entitled to salaries,
allowances and discretionary bonuses determined by the Board
having regard to the Group's performance, the prevailing market
condition and recommendation made by the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee. Details of Directors’ remuneration are set out

in Note 10 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There were no transactions, arrangements or contracts of
significance to which the Company, its parent company, any of its
fellow subsidiaries or its subsidiaries were a party and in which a
Director or his/her connected entities had a material interest, either
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time

during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries, or its parent company a party to
any arrangements to enable the Directors or chief executives of the
Company or any of their spouse or children under the age of 18 or
nominees to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares

in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES

As at 31 December 2022, the Directors, chief executives of the
Company or their associates held certain interests in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company and its associated corporations
as recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
Section 352 of the SFO as follows:

(@) &QF (@) The Company
R RAERER D E
HFRABBMECRT
ExpE 8 FEEEROHE B2 B9 Le Bl (77)
(%)
Aggregate long
position in Shares and
Number of underlying Shares to
Name of Director Capacity ordinary Shares held issued Shares (note)
(%)
ACRAL BERBEBA 110,000 0.01
JI' Youhong Beneficial owner

F BREARBR-_ZE-_—F+-A=1+—HE
1T 6,982,937,817 AT E ©

note: Based on 6,982,937,817 Shares in issue as at 31 December 2022.
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(b) ERBEEEERAT(KNATMNME (b) China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited, an
BEE) associated corporation of the Company
RIR5 R AEE
BR3P K5 B B
EHBREEERAT
EEME 51 FrisEBiReEE ERITRMD LB ()
(%)
Aggregate long
position in shares and
underlying shares to
issued shares of
China Resources
Number of Pharmaceutical
Name of Director Capacity ordinary shares held Group Limited (note)
(%)
KF EmEBA 350,000 0.01
ZHU Ping Beneficial owner
H: REENSEREEARAIRN-_E-_—F note: Based on 6,282,510,461 shares of China Resources Pharmaceutical
+ZA=+—B B #1Ti 6,282,510,461 % Group Limited in issue as at 31 December 2022.
-
EXFBEIN RZF__F+-A=1T— Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2022, so far as is
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

known to the Directors, no interests and short positions were held
or deemed or taken to be held under Part XV of the SFO by any
Director or chief executives of the Company or their respective
associates in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO or pursuant to the Model Code or which were
required pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO to be recorded in the
register referred to therein. None of the Directors and the chief
executives (including their spouses and children under the age of
18) had, as at 31 December 2022, any interest in, or had been
granted any right to subscribe for the securities and options of the
Company and its associated corporations within the meaning of the
SFO, or had exercised any such rights.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has purchased and maintained directors and officers
liability insurance throughout the year, which provides appropriate
cover for the directors and officers of the Group against their
potential legal liabilities to third parties that may be incurred in the
course of performing their duties. The level of the coverage is
reviewed annually.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The Group regards the chief executive officer, vice presidents and

chief financial officer of the Company as the senior management.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, total remunerations

paid to the senior management who are not executive Directors are

™ as follows:

—E=E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
e MoERL Salaries and allowances 10,319 14,702
BB TEAL Discretionary bonus 10,768 37,275

RN RARGASIERE S HR Pension costs and mandatory provident
fund contributions 1,628 2,086
22,715 54,063

BETEENEREEA BT T T

:

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the remunerations of
the senior management who are not executive Directors are within

the following bands:

AE
Number of individuals
—E-C—F —E_—F
2022 2021

Z%1,000,000%8 7T

1,000,001 77T % 1,500,000 % 7T
1,500,001 7 T 2 2,000,000 7 T
2,000,001 % 7T % 2,500,000 7T
2,500,001 7 7T 3,000,000 % 7T
3,000,001 78 7T & 3,500,000/ 7T
3,500,001 78 7T & 4,000,000/ 7T
4,000,001 % 7T % 4,500,000 % 7T
4,500,001 7 7T & 5,000,000 7 7T
5,000,001 %8 7T % 5,500,000 7T
5,500,001 7% 7T & 6,000,000 7% 7T,

RAFHRAPNSRERABNEREDRASE
WEERSPRERABRE—HAKE -

Nil — HK$1,000,000 - -
HK$1,000,001 — HK$1,500,000 1 1
HK$1,500,001 — HK$2,000,000 - -
HK$2,000,001 — HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 — HK$3,000,000
HK$3,000,001 — HK$3,500,000
HK$3,500,001 — HK$4,000,000 -
HK$4,000,001 — HK$4,500,000 -
HK$4,500,001 — HK$5,000,000 -
HK$5,000,001 — HK$5,500,000 -
HK$5,500,001 — HK$6,000,000 -

N N N

The biographies of the senior management at the date of this
annual report are disclosed in the section on Biographical Details

of Directors and Senior Management in this annual report.
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SHAREHOLDERS WITH NOTIFIABLE INTERESTS

As at 31 December 2022, so far as is known to the Directors, the
following persons, not being a Director or chief executives of the
Company, had interests or short positions in the shares and
underlying shares of the Company as recorded in the register
required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO

as follows:
BRERBALTER HR KA RDEE RERVBEIL
(%)
Long position/ Approximate
Name of interested parties Short position Number of Shares shareholding
(%)
FREEBRERRQA (iF) e 4,798,453,749 68.72
China Resources Company Limited (note) Long position
M (iF) L) 4,798,453,749 68.72
CRI (note) Long position
CRC Bluesky Limited (7%) e 4,798,453,749 68.72
CRC Bluesky Limited (note) Long position
EH(RHE)(#) L) 4,798,453,749 68.72
CR Holdings (note) Long position
EHEEOKR)BRAR () e 4,792,189,749 68.63

CRH (Cement) Limited (note)

i FRERERARNEBIRMEBEVRITRANE
=B A - &% A CRC Bluesky Limited 2 #6 E %
TIRAEE %% HB A » CRC Bluesky Limited 71 /33
HERE)2MBEBTRANEREBA - MEE (K
B AIRERREOKR)BERARIREEERAFE
BEBTRANEEAA - EHEE KR AR
ARIEETEA4,792,189,749 AR5 - (E AR R BB 8
TRAR6B3% 2B ERARBMEEFAE
6,264,000 &R An - G AR BB BITIARL 0.09% -

PR EXPRIRERSN  SLEEMRM R-T -
T-A=1—8 #BBEMATHEARRES
R ERE ARG XV RS 2 [ 393 BD A 4R TE A R 2R
RAHHZFARBEXARENARBREES
KB NGBIE 336 fRtETF My B Lt AR R
Rt RARRER D Vs A R ©
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Long position

note: China Resources Company Limited is the beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of CRI, which in turn is the beneficial owner of the entire issued
share capital of CRC Bluesky Limited, which in turn is the beneficial owner of
the entire issued share capital of CR Holdings, which in turn is the beneficial
owner of the entire issued share capital of CRH (Cement) Limited and
Commotra Company Limited. CRH (Cement) Limited directly held 4,792,189,749
Shares representing approximately 68.63% of the issued share capital of the
Company, whereas Commotra Company Limited directly held 6,264,000 Shares
representing approximately 0.09% of the issued share capital of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, so far as is known to the Directors, as at
31 December 2022, no other person had interests or short positions
in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which were
required to be disclosed to the Company or the Stock Exchange
under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which were recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO.



ARE MRN8 TR RN E TR 2
FTOAEERBERER
A LR E

ZEmA LR
ZHERE - FA - ARAETHER
THEITNERXSHBERMIT

EEREBE
REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Certain related party transactions as disclosed in Note 48 to the
consolidated financial statements also fall under the definition of
continuing connected transactions in Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules. Details of such transactions conducted by certain subsidiaries
of the Company with connected persons during the year are

summarized below:

LR ARG
KX HEE LR
Annual cap
permitted
under the
Amount Listing Rules
TRTARE FrARE
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEHENEEBEE N (iF1) Purchase of electricity from CR Power
Group (note 1) 1,165,707 1,600,000
BERMBRERAR Purchase of garments, promotional
= RARE (ER) BER AR R materials, safety shoes, labour protective
FBES B8 ZHBRRREIRE products, tools, safety protection services
fEsEAm - BRE - BRAm - and ancillary work materials from China
TE  Z2ERBER Resources Textiles Company Limited,
TEERBh A (7F2) China Resources Fashion (Holdings)
Company Limited and their respective
subsidiaries (note 2) 40,029 140,000
YR B aT:/F'EJ;"EIEI’]ET & Maximum daily aggregate amount of loans
HEFN S ERR=EE (773) and related interests due from China
Resources Group (note 3) - 1,200,000
RIREEBIRITIRN BIR A AH Maximum daily aggregate amount of
GREHRSEE deposits with China Resources Bank of
(BIERWFE) (£4) Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (inclusive of interests
receivable) (note 4) 1,041,122 1,300,000
EHEMERE(RE)ERAA Maximum daily aggregate principal amount
FriRftmiRIZR RV E R of factoring services offered by China
e AT B (i) Resources Commercial Factoring (Tianjin)
Co., Ltd. (note 6) 24,200 500,000
MEBEMEENE AEA (5F7)  Sale of engineered stones to CR Land
Group (note 7) 66,932 150,000
BEBHREERERSS Purchase of information technology
BT AR (77 8) services from CR Digital Group (note 8) 28,384 300,000
“ECFFR
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

notes:

Purchase of electricity from CR Power Group

On 10 November 2020, the Company entered into an agreement with China
Resources Power Holdings Company Limited for the purchase of electricity by
the Group from CR Power Group, including but not limited to direct power
supply (where CR Power Group generates the electricity to be supplied) and
agency power supply (where CR Power Group purchases the electricity for
supply to the Group), for the term of three years from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2023. The agreement would enable the Group to secure electricity
supply at a fair, reasonable and competitive price which is lower than the
normal on-grid tariffs, which in turn reduces operating costs of the Group.
Under the agreement, the electricity fees payable by the Group shall be
determined after arm’s length negotiation in accordance with the relevant
policies on power supply system reform of PRC and its provinces and with
reference to prices in the open market, which shall be no less favourable than
the prices for similar transactions with independent third parties. As CR
Holdings is a controlling shareholder of both China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited and the Company, China Resources Power Holdings
Company Limited is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Details of the above transactions were disclosed in the Company's

announcement dated 10 November 2020.
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Purchase of garments, promotional materials, safety shoes, labour
protective products, tools, safety protection services and ancillary work
materials from China Resources Textiles Company Limited, China Resources

Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited and their respective subsidiaries

On 25 October 2019, the Company entered into a framework agreement with
China Resources Textiles Company Limited for the procurement of garments
and promotional materials and a framework agreement with China Resources
Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited for the procurement of safety shoes,
labour protective products and tools respectively for a term of three years from
1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022 in order to enable the Group to have a
greater flexibility in the choice of relevant products on normal commercial
terms and on a scale which would not place the Group's resources at risk or
affect its relationship with other independent third-party suppliers. Under these
agreements, the purchase prices of each relevant product would be determined
after arm’s length negotiation with reference to the prevailing market prices of
similar products. Such prices shall be no less favourable than those available
from other independent third-party suppliers. In view of the substantial increase
in the demand for procurement of protective masks and other protective gears
of the Group since early 2020 and the relatively high level of continuous
demand for relevant procurement, the Board envisaged that the annual caps
contemplated under the framework agreement with China Resources Fashion
(Holdings) Company Limited dated 25 October 2019 could not meet the
business requirements of the Company. Therefore, on 23 October 2020, the
Company and China Resources Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited entered
into a supplemental framework agreement to revise the annual caps. In view of
(i) the relatively high level of continuous demand for procurement of
promotional materials due to the intensive work on the image construction and
marketing of the national unified brand “Runfeng Cement” and (ii) the
substantial increase in the relevant procurement amount due to the
contemplated expansion on scope of cooperation with China Resources
Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited to safety protection services including
noise control work and ancillary work materials including motor spare parts, on
30 December 2021, the Company entered into supplemental framework
agreements with China Resources Textiles Company Limited and China
Resources Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited respectively to further revise
the annual caps. As China Resources Textiles Company Limited and China
Resources Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited are indirectly wholly owned
subsidiaries of CR Holdings, China Resources Textiles Company Limited and
China Resources Fashion (Holdings) Company Limited are connected persons
of the Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the above transactions were
disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 25 October 2019, 23
October 2020 and 30 December 2021. The transaction amounts set out on the
table above were the aggregate transaction amounts of the Group with China
Resources Textiles Company Limited, China Resources Fashion (Holdings)
Company Limited and their respective subsidiaries for the year ended 31
December 2022.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Master Lending Agreements with CR Holdings and CRI

On 9 December 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with CR
Holdings for loan facilities denominated in HK$, RMB and US$, whereby the
interest rate would not be less than the higher of (i) the rate at which CR
Holdings or a corporate borrower of similar standing is able to borrow in Hong
Kong in an amount equal to the relevant advance in the applicable currency
from a bank or a financial institution for the relevant period and (ii) the deposit
rate in Hong Kong which could have been obtained from a bank or a financial
institution for such relevant amount and period. On the same day, the Company
entered into an agreement with CRI for loan facilities denominated in RMB,
whereby the interest rate would be no less than the higher of (i) the rate at
which CRI or a corporate borrower of similar standing is able to borrow in the
Chinese Mainland in an amount equal to the relevant advance in RMB from a
bank or a financial institution for the relevant period and (i) the RMB deposit
rate which could have been obtained from a bank or a financial institution in the
Chinese Mainland for such relevant amount and period. The above two
agreements will provide the Company with greater flexibility in the
management of its surplus cash resources by enabling it to lend a portion of its
surplus cash resources and those of its subsidiaries to other China Resources
Group companies, including CR Holdings and CRI. The terms of the above two
agreements are three years from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2022. Details
of the above transactions were disclosed in the Company’s announcement
dated 9 December 2019. As at 31 December 2022, there was no outstanding
loan or any interest due to the Company under these two Master Lending
Agreements.
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Deposit services, financial products and commercial banking services
provided by China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.

On 10 November 2020, the Company entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement with China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., pursuant to which,
China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. shall provide deposit services,
financial products and commercial banking services to the Group, including but
not limited to credit services (such as provision of corporate loans, discounting
of commercial bills, factoring of account receivables, and granting of loans with
account receivables as collaterals), settlement services, agency services, cash
management services, financial consulting services and other financial
businesses as agreed by the parties. The term of the strategic cooperation
agreement was three years from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023. The
strategic cooperation agreement would enable the Group to enhance its
overall liquidity, optimize its utilization of cash and capital and provide greater
flexibility in cash management for generation of better return on normal
commercial terms and on a scale which will not place the Group's resources at
risk or affect its relationship with other financial institutions. Under the strategic
cooperation agreement, these deposits shall bear the same interests and be on
the same terms and conditions as would apply to similar deposits placed by any
other independent third-party customers of China Resources Bank of Zhuhai
Co., Ltd., which rates shall be determined with reference to the deposit rates
published by the People’s Bank of China, whereas the prices of financial
products and commercial banking services shall be no less favourable as the
applicable prices of similar products and services offered by China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. to its independent third-party customers under the
same conditions. Upon comprehensive consideration of factors including the
amounts of historical transactions, financial management and business needs of
the Group, on 25 October 2021, the Board resolved to revise the annual caps
for maximum daily amounts in relation to the principals and interests receivable
of financial products to be offered by China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.
and China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. As CRI holds more than 50% of the
registered capital of China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. is a connected person of the Company under the
Listing Rules. Details of the above transaction were disclosed in the Company's
announcements dated 10 November 2020 and 25 October 2021. As at 31
December 2022, the Group had aggregate balance of deposits of
RMB221,939,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$248,456,000) placed with
China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (inclusive of interests receivable).
During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not use any financial
product or commercial banking services provided by China Resources Bank of
Zhuhai Co., Ltd.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Financial products and trust services provided by China Resources SZITIC
Trust Co., Ltd.

On 10 November 2020, the Company entered into a strategic cooperation
agreement with China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd., pursuant to which,
China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. shall provide financial products and trust
services to the Group, including but not limited to provision of cash
management and asset management services, launch of equity cooperation,
consulting and advisory services, and other trust services as agreed by the
parties. The term of the strategic cooperation agreement was three years from
1 January 2021 to 31 December 2023. The strategic cooperation agreement
would enable the Group to enhance its overall liquidity, optimize its utilization
of cash and capital and provide greater flexibility in cash management for
generation of better return on normal commercial terms and on a scale which
will not place the Group's resources at risk or affect its relationship with other
financial institutions. Under the strategic cooperation agreement, the prices of
financial products and trust services shall be no less favourable as the
applicable prices of similar products and services offered by China Resources
SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. to its independent third-party customers under the same
conditions. Upon comprehensive consideration of factors including the
amounts of historical transactions, financial management and business needs of
the Group, on 25 October 2021, the Board resolved to revise the annual caps
for maximum daily amounts in relation to the principals and interests receivable
of financial products to be offered by China Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd.
and China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. As CRI holds more than 50% of the
registered capital of China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd., China Resources
SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd. is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Details of the above transaction were disclosed in the Company’s
announcements dated 10 November 2020 and 25 October 2021. During the
year ended 31 December 2022, the Group did not use any financial products or
trust services provided by China Resources SZITIC Trust Co., Ltd.
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Factoring services offered by China Resources Commercial Factoring
(Tianjin) Co., Ltd.

On 25 October 2021, the Company entered into a framework agreement with
China Resources Commercial Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. (formerly known as
RUNXIN Commercial Factoring Co., Ltd.), pursuant to which, China Resources
Commercial Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. shall offer factoring services to the
Group, including but not limited to factoring financing, (classified) account
management of sales sub-accounts, collection of accounts receivables, non-
commercial bad debt guarantees, customer credit investigations and
evaluations, and consultation services related to commercial factoring, etc. The
term of the framework agreement was from 25 October 2021 to 31 December
2023. The framework agreement would enable the Group to optimize its asset
structure, accelerate the efficiency of asset turnover, save costs, improve the
efficiency of capital utilization, broaden its financing channels and reduce its
financing costs, which are in line with the Company’s overall development
strategy. Under the framework agreement, any interests, service fees and
commissions to be charged by China Resources Commercial Factoring (Tianjin)
Co., Ltd to the Group shall comply with the relevant charging standards
promulgated by the People’s Bank of China or the China Banking and Insurance
Regulatory Commission (if applicable) for the same type of services from time
to time (if applicable), shall be on normal commercial terms and arrived at upon
arm’s length negotiations by both parties, and shall not be higher than the
rates of interests, service fees and commissions charged by China Resources
Commercial Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd to its independent third-party
customers for the provision of similar services. As China Resources Commercial
Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd is a wholly owned subsidiary of China Resources
Financing and Leasing Co., Ltd., whose 81.22% equity interests are attributable
to CR Holdings, China Resources Commercial Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the above
transaction were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 25 October
2021. As at 31 December 2022, the Group had aggregate balance of principals
of RMB3,140,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$3,515,000) of factoring

services offered by China Resources Commercial Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Sale of engineered stones to CR Land Group

On 20 June 2022, Runfeng New Materials entered into two strategic
cooperation agreements with China Resources Land Holdings Company
Limited, an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of China Resources Land Limited,
pursuant to which, during the term from 20 June 2022 to 30 December 2023
and the term from 20 June 2022 to 30 June 2023, CR Land Group designated
Runfeng New Materials as a strategic supplier of engineered stones products
made in China and imported engineered stones products respectively. CR Land
Group may elect to use the engineered stones products made in China or
imported engineered stones products supplied by Runfeng New Materials
according to the needs of its development projects for shopping malls,
residential buildings and office buildings. The strategic cooperation
agreements are conducive to the rapid expansion of business scale of
functional building materials of the Group, enhance the popularity and market
reputation of the products and brand of Runfeng New Materials, help the
Group to become a leading enterprise in the engineered stone industry and
achieve high-quality and sustainable development. The unit selling prices of all
products shall be determined after arm'’s length negotiations upon appropriate
adjustments on the basis of the standard price list of Runfeng New Materials
after comprehensive consideration on, among others, factors including
customers’ procurement scales, demands for specifications, extra costs for
tailor-made products, urgency for product supplies and payment terms. As CR
Holdings is a controlling shareholder of both China Resources Land Limited
and the Company, China Resources Land Holdings Company Limited is a
connected person of the Company under the Listing Rules. Details of the above
transactions were disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 30
September 2022.

Purchase of information technology services from CR Digital Group

On 1 January 2021, China Resources Cement Investments Limited entered into
a framework agreement with China Resources Digital Holdings Limited for the
purchase of information technology services by the Group from CR Digital
Group, for the term of one year from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021. In
view of the Group's continuous promotion of the construction of information
technology, digitalization and intelligentization, on 24 December 2021, the
parties entered into a supplemental agreement to extend the expiry date of
the term of the framework agreement to 31 December 2023 and revise the
annual caps for the framework agreement. The agreements will enable the
Group to procure the information technology services provided by CR Digital
Group to support the Group's business, to ensure a steady source of services
which are of reliable quality, and to support the development within the CR
Digital Group on normal commercial terms and on a scale which will not place
the Group's resources at risk or affect its relationship with other independent
third-party suppliers. The prices of the information technology services shall be
determined on arm'’s length basis through public tender or mutual negotiations
by the parties with reference to the open market prices or quotes from other
independent suppliers of similar services and taking into account the service
level, quality of services as well as other terms such as payment terms and time
required for the provision of services. Such prices shall not be higher than those
offered by other independent third-party suppliers. As China Resources Digital
Holdings Limited is a wholly owned subsidiary of CRI, China Resources Digital
Holdings Limited is a connected person of the Company under the Listing
Rules. Details of the above transactions were disclosed in the Company'’s
announcement dated 24 December 2021.
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The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the above

continuing connected transactions and confirmed that the

transactions have been entered into:

(a)

(b)

(0)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
on normal commercial terms or better; and
according to the relevant agreements governing them on

terms that are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the

shareholders of the Company as a whole.

Based on work performed, Ernst & Young, our independent

auditor, has confirmed in a letter to the Board to the effect that

nothing has come to its attention that causes it to believe that the

above transactions:

(a)

(b)

(d

have not been approved by the Board,;

were not, in all material respects, in accordance with the

pricing policies of the Group;

were not entered into, in all material respects, in accordance

with the relevant agreements governing the transactions; and

have exceeded the caps disclosed in the previous

announcements.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year, the aggregate sales attributable to the Group's
five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group's

total sales.

During the year, the aggregate purchases attributable to the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 32.1%
of the Group's total purchases, and the purchases attributable to
the Group's largest supplier accounted for approximately 15.0% of
the Group's total purchases. Among the five largest suppliers, one
was a joint venture of the Group. Save as disclosed above, so far as
is known to the Directors, none of the Directors, any of their close
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) nor any shareholder
(which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
number of issued shares of the Company) had any direct or indirect
interests in the Group's five largest suppliers during the year ended
31 December 2022.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY'S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or

redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

Please refer to the Corporate Governance Report on pages 105 to
148 of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, as at the date of this
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the

Company's issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group's results and its assets and liabilities for

the past five years is set out on page 288.
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AUDITOR

The financial statements of the Company for the year have been
audited by Ermnst & Young.

According to the relevant regulations issued by the Ministry of
Finance and the State-owned Assets Supervision and
Administration Commission of the State Council of the People’s
Republic of China regarding the audit work on financial statements
of state-owned enterprises, there are restrictions in respect of the
years of audit services that an accounting firm can continuously
provide to a state-owned enterprise. The Company is a subsidiary
of China Resources Company Limited which is a state-owned
enterprise, and since the number of years that the Company has
continuously engaged its existing independent auditor, Ernst &
Young, has reached the prescribed time limit, the Board proposes
Ernst & Young to retire as the independent auditor of the Company
with effect from the conclusion of the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company to be held on 25 May 2023 and will not be
re-appointed.

The Board resolved, with the recommendation from the Audit
Committee of the Company, to propose the appointment of KPMG
as the new independent auditor of the Company following the
retirement of Ernst & Young, subject to the approval of
shareholders of the Company at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

The Company has received a confirmation letter dated 17 March
2023 from Ernst & Young confirming that there are no
circumstances connected with the retirement which they consider
should be brought to the attention of holders of securities or
creditors of the Company in relation to the proposed change of
independent auditor. The Board has also confirmed that there are
no other matters in relation to the proposed change of
independent auditor that need to be brought to the attention of
holders of securities or creditors of the Company.
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BEREMMLTKEGAIEHEMBEMEMR Y The Board would like to take this opportunity to express its sincere
HERBETEBARLHE - gratitude to Ernst & Young for their professional services and
support in the past.

EEE R By Order of the Board
RB/EA JI Youhong

EY4 Chairman

®E —T-_=ZF=A++tH Hong Kong, 17 March 2023

104 EHNORERERD
China Resources Cement Holdings Limited



EEERESR

ZAN/N] B i%%ﬁwﬁ_iﬁl&ﬁ%aé SEMNT
XER UNBRAKENEEERTRRR
MTEEERTANRA - EXRAREHH
©EER %‘%ﬁﬁk%ﬂxi{ﬁfﬁwﬂzﬂ&%@h
REHEMBFHERSHERE - Fitt - ARF
RMEENEEERRA W%ﬁ%%%%
= AROERERRAES - BRIENHE
FRLHAERNENERAEREEE -

BE_Z__H+_A=+—HLEFEA K

REDETEEEATREM TR 1T
MR ER B0 B FIRFR S ©
fmBkERERTR

RX A ST E 08 5T R A A A ST Al 1

X MEZE I —FRAER-E-_=FNAH
A - S EEATRIM TG EC2.11&
e EEITREHETERR— ABER
FeoARREYEEBEEEXERIEES
RZEBHEBHENE YN T =_=FMNA —H\
ABAE  KRAEETBETBRHEALS
FERZERBERATES - At - KA G
BRIFEEEATRIRTRANECEC2. 114 °

EXRERRE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the Board are devoted to achieving and
maintaining the highest standards of corporate governance and
have adopted the principles of the CG Code in the construction of
our corporate governance code. The Board believes that effective
corporate governance practices are fundamental to enhancing
shareholder value and safeguarding interests of our shareholders
and other stakeholders. Accordingly, the Company has adopted
sound corporate governance principles that emphasize on the
quality of the Board, effective risk management and internal
control, stringent disclosure practices, and transparency and

accountability to all stakeholders.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, the Company had
complied with the applicable code provisions of the CG Code,
except for the deviation as disclosed below.

DEVIATION FROM CG CODE

The Company has complied with the applicable code provisions set
out in the CG code except that, during the period from May 2022
to April 2023, the roles of chairman and chief executive should not
be performed by the same individual in respect of code provision
C.2.1 of the CG Code. The Company has identified suitable
candidate of the Chief Executive Officer with appropriate
professional qualifications or relevant expertise, and announced on
18 April 2023 that Mr. JI Youhong ceased to act as the Chief
Executive Officer and Mr. JING Shiging has been appointed as the
Chief Executive Officer and an executive Director. Hence, the
Company is currently in compliance with code provision C.2.1 of
the CG Code.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

DEALINGS OF DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT
EMPLOYEES IN SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Board has adopted a code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in the Model Code. Upon specific enquiries made
by the Company, all Directors confirmed that they have complied
with the required standards set out in the Model Code and the
Company's code of conduct regarding their securities transactions
during 2022.

In addition, the Company has established written guidelines no less
exacting than the Model Code in respect of dealings in the
Company's securities of relevant employees of the Group who are
likely to possess inside information in relation to the Group or the

Company's securities because of such office or employment.

THE BOARD
Composition

The Board serves as the major decision-making body of the
Company, plays the roles of “formulating strategies, making
decisions and preventing risks”, and is responsible for shaping and
monitoring the Company’s culture. The key duties and powers of
the Board include making decisions on medium to long term
development, appointing the senior management, evaluating the
performance of the senior management, managing the
remunerations of the senior management, managing the allocation
of remunerations of the employees and managing material financial
matters. The Directors are accountable for promoting the success
of the Company and making decisions objectively in the best
interests of the Company. The Directors should be held
accountable for their actions or inactions, and where appropriate,
take the shareholders’ and stakeholders’ views into account in their

decisions.
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The operation and management of the Board and the day-to-day
management of the Company’s business should be clearly divided
at the Board level to ensure that there is a balance of power and
authority and that power will not be concentrated on any one
individual. In order to maintain highly efficient operation, as well as
flexibility and swiftness in the day-to-day operational management,
to the extent permitted by applicable laws, rules, regulations, the
Listing Rules and the Articles of Association of the Company and
upon integrating the actual circumstances of the Company, the
Board has formulated the delegation management policy and the
list of delegated matters to delegate some of its duties and powers
to the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer for
decision making in the Chairman’s themed meetings and the Chief
Executive Officer's meetings respectively. In accordance with the
principle of unification of quality and efficiency of decision-making,
the policy clearly sets forth the Board's principles of delegation,
scopes of delegated matters, management mechanism, conditions
to delegation and other requirements based on operating
management status, scale of assets and liabilities and quality of
assets, business loading capacity and risk control capabilities, and
distinguishes the scopes of decision-making powers among the
Board, the Chairman of the Board and the Chief Executive Officer.
The Board may reserve necessary powers and require the delegees
to regularly report to the Board on the execution of relevant
delegated powers. Upon review on the execution of delegated
powers, the Board may from time to time dynamically adjust the
limits and requirements for delegation to ensure reasonable,

scientific and effective delegation.

The Board should have a balance of skills and experience
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the Company.
Currently, the non-executive Directors and the independent non-
executive Directors represent a majority of the Board, which helps
to enhance the Board's diversity of perspectives, ensures the
independence of the Board and enables the Board to make

independent judgments effectively.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Since 2022, the following changes to members of the Board and its
committees took place. With effect from 18 March 2022, (1) Mr. LI
Fuli was appointed as the Chairman of the Strategy and Investment
Committee; (2) Mr. JI Youhong, Mr. ZHU Ping, Mr. CHEN Kangren,
Mr. Yang Changyi and Madam ZENG Xuemin were appointed as
members of the Strategy and Investment Committee; (3) Mr. JI
Youhong ceased to be a member of the Risk and Compliance
Committee and a member of the Executive Committee; and (4) Mr.
ZHU Ping was appointed as a member of the Risk and Compliance
Committee. With effect from 6 May 2022, (1) Mr. LI Fuli resigned as
the Chairman of the Board, a non-executive Director, the Chairman
of the Strategy and Investment Committee, the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee, a member of the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee and an authorised representative of the
Company; (2) Mr. JI Youhong was appointed as the Chairman of
the Board, the Chairman of the Strategy and Investment Committee
and the Chairman of the Nomination Committee; and (3) Mr. CHEN
Kangren was appointed as a member of the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee. With effect from 29 June 2022, (1) Mr. LAM
Chi Yuen Nelson resigned as an independent non-executive
Director, the Chairman of the Audit Committee, a member of the
Nomination Committee, a member of the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee and a member of the Risk and Compliance
Committee; and (2) Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director, the Chairman of the Audit
Committee, a member of the Nomination Committee, a member of
the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee and a member of the
Risk and Compliance Committee. With effect from 18 April 2023,
Mr. JING Shiging was appointed as an executive Director and a

member of the Strategy and Investment Committee.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprised nine Directors,
including two executive Directors, namely, Mr. JI Youhong
(Chairman) and Mr. JING Shiging (Chief Executive Officer); three
non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHU Ping, Mr. CHEN Kangren
and Mr. YANG Changyi; and four independent non-executive
Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him
Abraham, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster.
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The independent non-executive Directors represents at least one
third of the Board as required under Rule 3.10A of the Listing Rules
throughout the year ended 31 December 2022. A description of the
Directors is set out in the Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management Section on pages 69 to 82 and on the

Company's website.

Culture

On the basis of the “Fourteenth Five-Year” China Resources
Corporate Culture System, the Company continued to deepen
corporate culture construction and strengthen corporate culture
management. In 2022, the Board established the Strategy and
Investment Committee, which is tasked with studying, refining and
making recommendation for the Board’s consideration on
corporate culture, the Company’s own philosophy, visions and
missions. During the year, the Board had ensured that the
Company'’s purpose, values and strategies were aligned with its
corporate culture. All Directors act with integrity, lead by example,
and promote the desired corporate culture. The Company instils
and continually reinforces such culture across the organisation

values of acting lawfully, ethically and responsibly.

Appointment, Re-election and Rotation of Directors

All Directors have entered into formal letters of appointment with
the Company setting out key terms and conditions of their
appointment. Although all Directors do not have a specific term of
appointment, they are subject to re-election by shareholders at
annual general meetings and at least about once every three years
on a rotation basis in accordance with Article 16.18 of the Articles
of Association of the Company. A retiring Director is eligible for re-
election and re-election of retiring Directors at annual general
meetings is dealt with by separate individual resolutions. Where
vacancies arise at the Board, candidates are identified, selected
and recommended to the Board by the Nomination Committee as
more fully explained below under the section on Nomination
Committee. Any Director(s) so appointed by the Board shall hold
office only until the next following annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting
in accordance with Article 16.2 of the Articles of Association of the

Company.
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Directors’ Training

Upon appointment to the Board, the new Directors receive a
package of orientation materials with a comprehensive induction to
the Group's historical development, organizational structure,
corporate governance policies, annual business plans, general
information on businesses and operations, risk management and
internal control systems. The package also includes the links to
various e-training for directors offered on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Hong Kong Securities and Investment Institute,
the Model Code, the “Corporate Governance Guide for Boards
and Directors” and the “Guide for Board and Directors: Leadership
Role and Accountability in ESG” issued by the Stock Exchange, and
"A Guide on Directors’ Duties” issued by the Companies Registry
of Hong Kong. They also attend a formal training programme to
have a full and proper understanding on director’s duties under
statutes, common law, the Listing Rules and other regulatory

requirements.

The Company encourages all Directors to participate in continuous
professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge
and skills. The Company arranges in-house trainings for Directors in
the form of seminar and reading materials on a regular basis to
ensure that the Directors are apprised of the latest changes in the
commercial, legal and regulatory environment in which the Group
conducts its businesses. In addition, all Directors are provided with
information on monthly financial updates of the Company to enable

the Board as a whole and each Director to discharge their duties.

From time to time, the Board arranges visits for a deeper
understanding of the Group’s business operations and matters
which could have significant effect or impact on the Group's
business. In 2022, the three non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
ZHU Ping, Mr. CHEN Kangren and Mr. YANG Changyi, actively
participated in the study visits of the Group.
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The three non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHU Ping, Mr.
CHEN Kangren and Mr. YANG Changyi, visited Yuebao Cement
and Guangzhou Technology Research and Development Center,
West China Region, Southeast Region and Hainan District of South
China Region in July, August, October and December 2022
respectively and visited numerous local production lines, digital
mines and co-processing projects to gain a deep understanding on
the production, operation and the “Fourteenth Five-Year”
development plan of each region, the business development of
basic building materials, construction of digital mines, sludge co-
processing technology, research and development results and
application scenarios of new materials, and work progress of
business transformation and innovation. They also shared
experience and made recommendations on the bidding of mining
rights, consolidation of mining resources, construction of marketing
channels, market share of brands, new business development and

staff cultivation.

In April 2022, two non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHU Ping
and Mr. CHEN Kangren, went to Guangdong to study and
understand the Group’s cement, aggregates, white cement and
engineered stone businesses, visit aggregates mines, and conduct
exchange forums with the managers and middle-level employees
of the local business units. In August 2022, Mr. ZHU Ping, a non-
executive Director, visited the cement production lines in Longyan
Caoxi, Fujian and the project for resourceful utilization of textiles
wastes as alternative fuel jointly experimented by the Group and
China Resources Environmental Protection Technology Limited in
Pingnan, Guangxi. In December 2022, Mr. YANG Changyi, a non-
executive Director, visited Shangdong Runhe New Material Co.,
Ltd., Runhe (Lanling) New Material Co., Ltd. and Runhe (Feixian)
New Material Co., Ltd. acquired by the Group in July 2022 to
understand the Company’s operations in functional building

materials.
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In addition, in August 2022, the executive Director Mr. JI Youhong,
three non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHU Ping, Mr. CHEN
Kangren and Mr. YANG Changyi, and four independent non-
executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK
Lai Him Abraham, Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. NG Kam Wah
Webster attended a training seminar on the “Amendments to the
Listing Rules effective from 2022" held by the Legal and
Compliance Department (Board Office) of the Company. During
2022, the aforesaid eight Directors and two former Directors,
namely, Mr. LI Fuli and Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson, read and studied
numerous continuous professional development materials such as
the Listed Issuer Regulation Newsletters and the Enforcement
Bulletins published by the Stock Exchange, and information
relevant to the Company or its business.

Independence

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the annual review of
the independence of independent non-executive Directors
according to the requirements set out in the Listing Rules and
relevant members of the Nomination Committee did not
participate in the review of their own independence. For a Director
to be considered independent, the Nomination Committee and the
Board must be satisfied that the Director does not and will not have
any direct or indirect material relationship with the Group. In
addition, the Company has received annual written confirmation of
independence from all the independent non-executive Directors in
accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. None of the
Directors has or maintained any financial, business, family or other
material/relevant relationship with any of the other Directors. In
order to prevent bias in the decision-making by the independent
non-executive Directors or compromise on their objectivity and
independence, the Company pays director’s fees of fixed amount
to the independent non-executive Directors, and does not grant
them any equity-based remuneration (such as share options or

grants) with performance-related elements.



BEEHRELL ARREEREBHLLTH
EBEFNTEFTBRNGF  FRHFELELER
RAMAFER - BESFRARELAE
Mo AEREBERRTHOHEG RZRME
B REZEENEZRBA/REDABIES
B FMITE IR ROBIE » B R &R
YAEBRRNOMNEREERFREHLE
B o

RFBEREBUIIFNTESHARAINER
BRUN RS - AREIREZEEMMAER
EERRSMEBUFATESTHEBEILA
+

RAREER I ZETEERE  SEBILIER
TESUARMAANFAREER  UEE®
ZRAIAREAER - TR  EEREFH
SEEVINTESRITEL RSB HME
EHEMNEE  REBARBERIHXE R
BUFPTEFHESRIELBRER - #5
ERMNEEGR  UHERESRAESEIIIEN
TEEMBIBUMNER -RZTZ=F 2
BEVENTEERARHSHBITHRE
BHRLBEEERSHEARSE - BT BH®
& HBHREER AARE EZREES
REMZES RN ERBY EERERER
BHER MBS - HARAIMNREHETHES
ZEA - BEIT AR EREMECRIER ERE
BRSO TR 4B N AR R RN 2 AR R 5 RO EE R
iz - KIZEEZEMEHEBER  EZRRR
FRFI N EBEERFRNAER -

EXERRE
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Notwithstanding that Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him
Abraham and Madam ZENG Xuemin have served as independent
non-executive Directors for over nine years, they do not participate
in the day-to-day management of the Company. The Nomination
Committee and the Board are satisfied that, as well proven by the
independent, impartial and ethical judgment and advice given by
them over the years, they have the required integrity,
independence and experience and bring views and contribute to
the Board in the interests of all shareholders to fulfil their role as

independent non-executive Directors.

Upon comprehensive review of the overall contribution and service
of each independent non-executive Director to the Company, and
based on the review results of the Nomination Committee, the
Board considered all the independent non-executive Directors as

independent.

The Company has established various different channels to
encourage independent non-executive Directors to express their
comments in an open and honest manner and, if necessary, in a
confidential manner. During the year, the Chairman of the Board
held at least one meeting with all the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors to promote an
open and active discussion culture, foster effective contributions of
the independent non-executive Directors to the Board, maintain a
constructive relationship, and ensure availability of independent
views and input of the independent non-executive Directors to the
Board. In 2022, all the independent non-executive Directors
devoted sufficient time to fulfil their duties and responsibilities by
actively participating in each major decision-making of the Board,
listening to reports and audit of financial reports on a regular basis,
and fully expressing independent, constructive and informed
opinions and views to the Company, the Board and its committees,
which had played an important role in the Company’s standardized
operation, made positive contributions to the development of the
Company's strategy and policies, and fully safeguarded the
interests of independent shareholders and stakeholders as a whole.
Upon comprehensive review of all relevant circumstances, the
Board considered that such mechanism and its implementation was

effective during the year.
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Board Meetings

The Board is expected to meet regularly and at least four times a
year. Between scheduled meetings, the senior management
provides information to Directors on a regular basis regarding the
activities and development in the businesses of the Group. The
Directors shall have full access to information on the Group and
independent professional advice at all times whenever considered

necessary by the Directors.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will
receive written notice and an agenda of the meeting at least
fourteen days in advance, and obtain Board papers on the
Company's online meeting management system no less than three
days prior to the meeting. For other meetings, Directors are given
as much advance notice as reasonable and practicable in the
circumstances. Except for those circumstances permitted by the
Articles of Association of the Company, a Director who has a
material interest in any contract, transaction, arrangement or any
other kind of proposal put forward to the Board for consideration
shall abstain from voting on the relevant resolution and such

Director shall not be counted for quorum determination purposes.

Each Director may propose agenda for the Board meetings, and
have separate and independent access to the senior management
to seek further information or make enquiries. The Company shall
make prompt and full responses to the Directors if possible. Where
necessary, all Directors may have access to the advice and services
of the Company Secretary or seek independent professional advice
in appropriate circumstances upon reasonable request at the
Company’s expense to ensure that applicable laws, rules,
regulations, the Listing Rules, the Articles of Association of the
Company, the meeting procedures of the Board and other

requirements are followed.
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During 2022, eight meetings were held by the Board. The

attendances at these meetings are as follows:

BT
SRRH
Meetings
Attended/Held
HITES Executive Director
#eRAT JI'Youhong 8/8
FHITES Non-executive Directors
K ZHU Ping 8/8
PREE CHEN Kangren 8/8
HBRK YANG Changyi 8/8
TR (R=ZZF=——1F LI Fuli (resigned with effect from
A HANHEHT) 6 May 2022 3/3
BYFHITES Independent non-executive Directors
EEE IP Shu Kwan Stephen 8/8
aiEH SHEK Lai Him Abraham 8/8
B2 ZENG Xuemin 8/8
RifE (R—F-—F NG Kam Wah Webster (appointed with
NAZHFNHEZE) effect from 29 June 2022) 3/3
MEER(RZE_Z LAM Chi Yuen Nelson (resigned with
NAZTHBEET) effect from 29 June 2022) 5/5
“ECFFR
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The matters considered and approved in the Board meeting held
in 2022 mainly include changes of Chairman of the Board, Directors,
chairmen and members of the Board committees, authorised
representatives, Company Secretary, the Chief Financial Officer and
other senior management; implementation plan of duties and
powers of the Board; proposal to the general meeting for
amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of Association of
the Company; changes of the establishment and names of the
Board committees; formulation or amendments to the procedures
for Board meetings, terms of reference for the Board committees,
Board Diversity Policy, various relevant management policies for
implementation of duties and powers of the Board, the compliance
management policy and various internal audit policies of the
Company; establishment of New Materials Business Division;
annual business plan (inclusive of annual work report of the Chief
Executive Officer), annual investment plan, annual financial budget,
annual financing plan, annual guarantee plan, annual donation
plan, annual internal audit plan and its adjustments, the Board's
annual work report, annual post-investment evaluation report,
annual internal audit work conclusion report and proposals for
annual budget and final accounts of total remunerations; legal and
compliance work report, internal control system work report, risk
management and internal control evaluation work report for 2021;
publication of annual report 2021 (inclusive of Environmental and
Social Responsibility Report 2021), interim report 2022, the first and
third quarterly financial reports in 2022, and results announcements;
appraisal results of operating performance in 2021, proposal for
incentives allocation, bonus payment for 2021, and operating
performance pledges for 2022 and tenure of executive Director and
the senior management; remunerations of independent auditor
and independent non-executive Directors; certain investment and
disposal projects and continuing connected transactions of the
Group; changes of Hong Kong share registrar, address of Hong
Kong headquarters and principal place of business of the Company;
changes of the bank accounts and authorised bank signatories of
the Company; as well as reports on the matters decided by Chief
Executive Officer's meetings under the Board's delegation and the

execution status of the Board's resolutions, etc.
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ROLES AND FUNCTIONS OF CHAIRMAN AND
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Chairman

The roles of the Chairman are segregated from the Chief Executive
Officer. Such division of responsibilities helps to reinforce their
independence and accountability. The Chairman is responsible for
providing leadership to, and overseeing the Board'’s functions of
“formulating strategies, making decisions and preventing risks” to
ensure that the Board works effectively and performs its
responsibilities and that all key and appropriate issues are
discussed by the Board in a timely manner. The Chairman is also
responsible for drawing up and approving the agenda for each
Board meeting upon considering, where appropriate, matters
proposed by the other Directors and the Company Secretary. With
the support of the Board Office and the Company Secretary, the
Chairman strives to ensure that all Directors are properly informed
of issues arising at Board meetings and provided in a timely manner
with adequate information which is accurate, clear, complete and

reliable.

The Chairman also takes primary responsibility for ensuring that
good corporate governance practices and procedures are
established, and encourages all Directors to make a full and active
contribution to the Board's affairs and take the lead to ensure that
the Board acts in the best interests of the Group. Directors with
different views are encouraged to voice their concerns, with
sufficient time allowed for discussion of issues to ensure that Board
decisions fairly reflect Board consensus. A culture of openness and
debate is promoted by facilitating the effective contribution of non-
executive Directors in particular and ensuring constructive relations
between executive and non-executive Directors. The Chairman
holds physical meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the presence of other Directors not less than
once a year. The Board, under the leadership of the Chairman, has
complied with the corporate governance practices and procedures
and has taken appropriate steps to ensure effective communication
with shareholders and other stakeholders and to communicate

shareholders’ views to the Board as a whole.
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In addition, according to the delegation management policy of the
Board, the Chairman may execute some of the duties and powers
of the Board within the scope of delegation. The decision-making
matters delegated by the Board to the Chairman shall generally be
studied and discussed collectively in the Chairman’s themed
meetings. The Chairman shall report to the Board on the execution
of delegated powers on a regular basis, and important matters shall

be reported in a timely manner.

When the Chairman is on leave and the normal functions of the
Chairman cannot be carried out, the Board may choose another
Director to take the role as the acting Chairman until the Chairman
resumes carrying out his normal duties or a new Chairman has been
elected and appointed by the Board, subject to compliance with
applicable laws, rules, regulations and the Articles of Association of

the Company.

Chief Executive Officer

The Chief Executive Officer is responsible for leading the senior
management of the Company to serve the roles of operational
management in “making operating plans, seeing to their

implementation and strengthening management”.

The Chief Executive Officer executes the duties and powers
required by the Articles of Association of the Company, including
but not limited to the management of the day-to-day operations of
the Company, preparation of operating plans, and formulation of
specific policies and systems. In addition, according to the
delegation management policy of the Board, the Chief Executive
Officer may execute some of the duties and powers of the Board
within the scope of delegation. The decision-making matters
delegated by the Board to the Chief Executive Officer shall
generally be studied and discussed collectively in the Chief
Executive Officer's meetings, and the Chief Executive Officer shall
report to the Board on the execution of delegated powers on a

regular basis.
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The Chief Executive Officer is directly responsible for maintaining
the operational performance of the Group. He also works with the
Chief Financial Officer and the senior management and presents
annual business plan, annual investment plan, annual financial
budget plan, annual financing plan and annual guarantee plan to
the Board for consideration and approval, and ensures that the
Board is provided with all the necessary information relating to the
funding requirements of the businesses of the Group and that the
funding requirements are met. He closely monitors the operating
and financial results of the businesses against the relevant plans
and budgets, and takes remedial action if necessary. He
communicates regularly with the Chairman and all Directors to
keep them fully informed of all major business development and

issues.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company established the Nomination Committee, the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee (formerly known as the
Remuneration Committee prior to 18 March 2022) and the Audit
Committee on 2 September 2009, the Risk and Compliance
Committee (formerly known as the Corporate Governance
Committee prior to 18 March 2022) on 29 February 2012, and the
Strategy and Investment Committee on 18 March 2022. The
Executive Committee established on 13 January 2010 was
abolished with effect from 18 March 2022.

According to the Listing Rules and their terms of reference, each
Board committee reports its recommendations to the Board and
maintains effective and constructive communications with the
Board to assist the Board in making scientific decisions and
enhance the Board's work efficiency. Each Board committee is
provided with sufficient resources to perform its duties. Where
necessary, each Board committee may seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances upon reasonable

request at the Company’s expense.
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STRATEGY AND INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Since its establishment on 18 March 2022, the following changes to
members of the Strategy and Investment Committee have taken
place. With effect from 6 May 2022, (1) Mr. LI Fuli resigned as the
Chairman and a member of the Strategy and Investment
Committee; and (2) Mr. JI Youhong was appointed as the Chairman
of the Strategy and Investment Committee. With effect from 18
April 2023, Mr. JING Shiging has been appointed as a member of
the Strategy and Investment Committee. As at the date of this
report, the Strategy and Investment Committee comprises two
executive Directors, namely, Mr. JI Youhong and Mr. JING Shiging,
three non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. ZHU Ping, Mr. CHEN
Kangren and Mr. YANG Changyi, and an independent non-
executive Director, namely, Madam ZENG Xuemin, and is chaired
by Mr. JI Youhong.

The terms of reference for the Strategy and Investment Committee
have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company. The duties of the Strategy and Investment
Committee include but are not limited to: studying and making
recommendations to the Board on the strategic plans, operating
plans, investment plans, investment and disposal projects, annual
post-investment evaluation report of the Company, the formulation,
amendment and review of the primary management policies in
terms of strategic management and investment management,
shaping and refining corporate culture, the Company’s own

philosophy, systemic visions, missions and values, etc.
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RITB-—F  BREREZEERIT TR During 2022, four meetings were held by the Strategy and
% ERTNEEREEAEEETREN  Investment Committee to consider and make recommendations to
BREHER - —FEREETERE the Board on certain investment and disposal projects of the
NaREBERHIEZEBFIEEE - Z523%M  Group, the annual post-investment evaluation report 2021, and
HEERIT amendments to the investment management policy of the
Company, etc. The attendances at these meetings are as follows:

HFE BT

SRERE

Meetings

Attended/Held

#RAL JI' Youhong 4/4

KF ZHU Ping 4/4

BRERC CHEN Kangren 4/4

HBRR YANG Changyi 4/4

B2 ZENG Xuemin 4/4

FRMN(R-_FE-__FHHNNHET) LI Fuli (resigned with effect from 6 May 2022) 0/0

BEZEEE NOMINATION COMMITTEE

E-E-FPK IBREBemE 4L Since 2022, the following changes to members of the Nomination
T#F mg—_E-_—FHANAR  (1)Z@F Committee have taken place. With effect from 6 May 2022, (1) Mr.
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LI Fuli resigned as the Chairman of the Nomination Committee;
and (2) Mr. JI Youhong was appointed as the Chairman of the
Nomination Committee. With effect from 29 June 2022, (1) Mr. LAM
Chi Yuen Nelson resigned as a member of the Nomination
Committee; and (2) Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster was appointed as a
member of the Nomination Committee. As at the date of this
report, the Nomination Committee comprises one executive
Director, Mr. JI Youhong, one non-executive Director, Mr. ZHU
Ping, and three independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr.
IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham and Mr. NG Kam
Wah Webster, and is chaired by Mr. JI Youhong. The majority of its

members are independent non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference for the Nomination Committee have been

uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
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Board Diversity Policy

According to the latest requirements of the Listing Rules, in 2022,
the Board amended and had properly and effectively implemented
the Board Diversity Policy of the Company. Appointment of
Directors shall adhere to both the high standard of moral integrity
and competence and the principles of diversity. Directors of
different ages and length of service shall form a diverse Board, and
the proportion of female members in the Board shall be gradually
increased upon due consideration of the actual circumstances of
the Company to secure scientific decision-making of the Board and
facilitate the Company to maintain its core competitiveness and
sustainable development. The Nomination Committee reviews the
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge,
experience and diversity) of the Board annually, and makes
recommendations to the Board on the appointment of new
Directors. The scope of Board diversity includes professional
background, talents, skills, knowledge, regional and industrial
experience, gender, age, cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, length of service, the independence of independent non-
executive Directors, etc., and any other qualities which the Board or
the Nomination Committee determine to supplement or expand

from time to time.

In addition, the Nomination Committee formulates measurable
objectives for Board diversity and its timetable for implementation
on an annual basis and makes recommendations to the Board. As
of the end of 2022, there was 1 female among 8 Directors, which
had achieved gender diversity of the Board members; there was 1
female among 10 senior management members of the Company;
and female employees represented approximately 17% in the
workforce of the Company. In 2023, the number of female Director,
the number of female senior management and the female gender

ratio in the workforce are targeted to remain unchanged.

The female gender ratio in the workforce is relatively low in general
in the building materials industry which the Group operates. The
Company continues to care for its female employees by strictly
implementing provisions on maternity and breastfeeding leave for
female employees and organizing various forms of expert lectures
and recreational activities to care for the physical and mental health
of female employees to safeguard the equal levels of remuneration
and benefits and career development opportunities of female

employees and improve their happiness and sense of gain.
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Nomination Policy

The Nomination Policy sets out the nomination procedures and the
process and criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to

select and recommend suitable candidates of directorship.

In assessing the suitability of a candidate as Director, the
Nomination Committee would consider character and integrity;
qualities in all its aspects, including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional and
educational qualifications, skills, knowledge, expertise, experience
and accomplishment that are relevant to the Group's business and
corporate strategy; commitment to devote adequate time to
effectively discharge duties as a member of the Board and relevant
Board committees; requirement for the Board to have independent
non-executive directors in accordance with the Listing Rules and
whether the candidates would be considered independent with
reference to the independence guidelines set out in the Listing
Rules; the Board Diversity Policy and any measurable objectives
adopted by the Nomination Committee for achieving diversity on
the Board; and such other perspectives applicable to the Group.
These factors are for reference only, and not meant to be

exhaustive.

The Nomination Committee shall identify and select candidates as
Directors pursuant to the criteria as set out above, and invite
nominations of candidates from Board members, if any, for
consideration by the Nomination Committee. The Nomination
Committee may use any process it deems appropriate to evaluate
the candidates, which may include personal interviews, background
checks, presentations or written submissions by the candidates and

third party references.

A shareholder may also propose a person for election as a Director,
details of which are set out in the section on procedures for
shareholders to nominate a person for election as a Director of this
report. For any person that is nominated by a shareholder for
election as a Director at the general meeting of the Company, the
Nomination Committee shall evaluate such candidate based on the
criteria as set out above to determine whether such candidate is
qualified for directorship and where appropriate, the Nomination
Committee and/or the Board shall make recommendation to
shareholders in respect of the proposed election of Director at the

general meeting.
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The Nomination Committee shall review the overall contribution
and service to the Company of the retiring Directors and determine
whether the retiring Directors continues to meet the criteria as set
out above. The Nomination Committee and/or the Board shall then
make recommendations to shareholders in respect of the proposed

re-election of Directors at the general meeting.

In addition, the Nomination Committee shall make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment and removal of

the Chief Executive Officer and the senior management.

In 2022, five meetings were held by the Nomination Committee to
review the structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board,
assess the independence of independent non-executive Directors,
and make recommendations to the Board on changes of Chairman
of the Board, Directors, chairmen and members of the Board
committees, authorised representative, Company Secretary, the
Chief Financial Officer and other senior management, as well as
formulation of relevant management policies for implementation of
duties and powers of the Board regarding the appointment of
senior management, etc. The attendances at these meetings are as

follows:

HE BT
SRRE™
Meetings
Attended/Held
HRA(R=—E-——FaHNHEZE) JI Youhong (appointed with effect from
6 May 2022) 3/3
K ZHU Ping 5/5
B IP Shu Kwan Stephen 5/5
aiEH SHEK Lai Him Abraham 5/5
RW/E(R_F_—_FNH=1NH NG Kam Wah Webster (appointed with effect
EZI(T) from 29 June 2022) 11
ZRMN(R=ZZF=—FHANNHEFT) LI Fuli (resigned with effect from 6 May 2022) 2/2
MER(RZFE-_FHA-1/H LAM Chi Yuen Nelson (resigned with effect
BET) from 29 June 2022) 4/4
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REMUNERATION AND APPRAISAL COMMITTEE

Since 2022, the following changes to members of the Remuneration
and Appraisal Committee have taken place. With effect from 6 May
2022, (1) Mr. LI Fuli resigned as a member of the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee; and (2) Mr. CHEN Kangren was appointed as
a member of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee. With
effect from 29 June 2022, (1) Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson resigned as
a member of the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee; and (2)
Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster was appointed as a member of the
Remuneration and Appraisal Committee. As at the date of this
report, the Remuneration and Appraisal Committee comprises one
non-executive Director, Mr. CHEN Kangren, and all the
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan
Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham, Madam ZENG Xuemin and
Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster, and is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan
Stephen. The majority of its members are independent non-

executive Directors.

The terms of reference for the Remuneration and Appraisal
Committee have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company. The duties of the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee include but are not limited to: consulting the
Chairman of the Board and/or the Chief Executive Officer about
the remuneration proposals for other executive Directors; making
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure for
remunerations of all Director and the senior management and on
the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing remuneration policy; making recommendations to the
Board on the remuneration packages of Directors; considering
salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and
responsibilities and employment conditions elsewhere in the
Group; making recommendations to the Board on review and
approval of compensation payable to executive Directors and the
senior management for any loss or termination of office or
appointment, and compensation arrangements relating to dismissal
or removal of Directors for misconduct and ensuring that such
arrangements are reasonable and appropriate; organizing and
making recommendations to the Board on the formulation of
primary human resources management policies, rules on operating
performance appraisals and rules on the management of
remuneration of the senior management of the Company, as well
as the establishment of comprehensive constraint mechanisms; and
organizing and launching operating performance appraisals on the
senior management, and making recommendations to the Board

on the appraisal results and proposals for remuneration allocation.
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In 2022, two meetings were held by the Remuneration and
Appraisal Committee to make recommendations to the Board on
proposals for annual budget and final accounts of total
remunerations of the Company, remuneration of independent non-
executive Directors, appraisal results of operating performance in
2021, proposal for incentives allocation, bonus payment for 2021,
and operating performance pledges for 2022 and tenure of
executive Director and the senior management, as well as
formulation of various relevant management policies for
implementation of duties and powers of the Board regarding
evaluating the performance of the senior management, managing
the remunerations of the senior management, and managing the
allocation of remunerations of the employees. Attendances at these

meetings are as follows:

HE BT
BBR™
Meetings
Attended/Held
figk SHEK Lai Him Abraham 2/2
REC (R-ZZFE-—FHaHNH CHEN Kangren (appointed with effect
EZ(F) from 6 May 2022) 2/2
9 P IP Shu Kwan Stephen 2/2
B2 ZENG Xuemin 2/2
RIVE (R—ZFE-—F H=-1TNIH NG Kam Wah Webster (appointed with effect
EZ(T) from 29 June 2022) 1/1
RN (R=ZF=Z=FAHANAHET) LI Fuli (resigned with effect from 6 May 2022) 0/0
MEE (R-ZFE-_—F~ A=-1TNH LAM Chi Yuen Nelson (resigned with effect
BHT) from 29 June 2022) 11
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

Since 2022, the following changes to members of the Audit
Committee have taken place. With effect from 29 June 2022, (1) Mr.
LAM Chi Yuen Nelson resigned as the Chairman of the Audit
Committee; and (2) Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster was appointed as
the Chairman of the Audit Committee. As at the date of this report,
the Audit Committee comprises one non-executive Director, Mr.
YANG Changyi, and all the independent non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham,
Madam ZENG Xuemin and Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster, and is
chaired by Mr. NG Kam Wah Webster. The majority of its members

are independent non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference for the Audit Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.
The duties of the Audit Committee include but are not limited to:
reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence and
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in accordance
with applicable standards; discussing issues and qualifications
arising from the interim and final audits, and any matters the
external auditor may wish to discuss; monitoring integrity of the
Group's financial statements, annual reports and accounts, half-
year reports and quarterly reports, and reviewing significant
financial reporting judgments contained in them; reviewing the
Group's financial reporting system; and ensuring that the internal
audit function is adequately resourced and has appropriate
standing within the Group, and reviewing and monitoring its
effectiveness. With effect from 18 March 2022, the duties for
reviewing the Group's risk management and internal control
systems had been transferred to the Risk and Compliance

Committee.
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In 2022, seven meetings were held by the Audit Committee to
review the financial statements and results announcements of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021, the three months
ended 31 March 2022, the six months ended 30 June 2022 and the
nine months ended 30 September 2022, annual report 2021, interim
report 2022, the internal control system work report 2021, risk
management and internal control evaluation work report 2021,
annual financial budget, annual financing plan, annual guarantee
plan, annual donation plan, annual internal audit plan and its
adjustments, and annual internal audit work conclusion report;
review the continuing connected transactions of the Group, the risk
management and internal control systems, the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal audit function and the independence of the
external auditor; and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and remuneration of independent auditor and
formulation of various relevant management policies for
implementation of duties and powers of the Board regarding the
management of material financial matters, etc. The attendances at

these meetings are as follows:

HE BT
BRBIRE
Meetings
Attended/Held

RBPE (R=ZF==F N NHA=1NIH NG Kam Wah Webster (appointed with effect
EZ(E) from 29 June 2022) 3/3
HRK YANG Changyi 7/7
B IP Shu Kwan Stephen 717
VaE: 1 SHEK Lai Him Abraham 7/7
28 ZENG Xuemin 7/7

MER (R-F-—FNHA-+1H LAM Chi Yuen Nelson (resigned with effect

BET) from 29 June 2022) 4/4
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RISK AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

Since 2022, the following changes to members of the Risk and
Compliance Committee have taken place. With effect from 18
March 2022, (1) Mr. JI Youhong ceased to be a member of the Risk
and Compliance Committee; and (2) Mr. ZHU Ping was appointed
as a member of the Risk and Compliance Committee. With effect
from 29 June 2022, (1) Mr. LAM Chi Yuen Nelson resigned as a
member of the Risk and Compliance Committee; and (2) Mr. NG
Kam Wah Webster was appointed as a member of the Risk and
Compliance Committee. As at the date of this report, the Risk and
Compliance Committee comprises two non-executive Directors,
namely, Mr. ZHU Ping and Mr. CHEN Kangren, and three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. IP Shu Kwan
Stephen, Mr. SHEK Lai Him Abraham and Mr. NG Kam Wah
Webster, and is chaired by Mr. IP Shu Kwan Stephen. The majority

of its members are independent non-executive Directors.

The terms of reference for the Risk and Compliance Committee
have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and
the Company. The Company realizes the importance of good
corporate governance practice and is endeavored to ensure
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements on corporate
governance through the development, review and oversight of the
policies and practices of the Company on corporate governance,
the code of conduct and compliance manual applicable to
Directors and employees of the Company. The Risk and
Compliance Committee shall make recommendations to the Board
with regard to any necessary changes. With effect from 18 March
2022, the Risk and Compliance Committee has been assigned the
duties for reviewing the Group's risk management (including
environmental, social and governance risks) and internal control
systems, and shall make recommendations to the Board upon
review of the primary policies and systems of the Company in the
aspects of corporate governance, legal and compliance, risk

management and internal control.
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In 2022, four meetings were held by the Risk and Compliance
Committee to review the training and continuous professional
development records of Directors and the Company’s compliance
with the CG Code; review and make recommendations to the
Board on implementation plan of duties and powers of the Board,
proposal for amendments to the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company, changes of the establishment and

names of the Board committees, as well as formulation or

BHIEZHITHETEEE - ZEE#MHFE amendments to the procedures for Board meetings, terms of
EpUNNE reference for the Board committees, various relevant management
policies for implementation of duties and powers of the Board and
the compliance management policy of the Company, etc. The
attendances at these meetings are as follows:
HFE BT
BRRE
Meetings
Attended/Held
9 IP Shu Kwan Stephen 4/4
KERZFZZF=H+/H ZHU Ping (appointed with effect
HEZAT) from 18 March 2022) 3/3
PRER CHEN Kangren 4/4
YR | SHEK Lai Him Abraham 4/4
R|E (R_F-_—F A-1TNH NG Kam Wah Webster (appointed with effect
EEF) from 29 June 2022) 1/1
WHRLA(R=ZF=-—F=H+/H JI'Youhong (ceased to act with effect
I@ﬁ’;‘ff) from 18 March 2022) 171
MER(R—_FE-——FNA—-+1H LAM Chi Yuen Nelson (resigned with effect
BEE) from 29 June 2022) 3/3
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EXECUTIVE COMMITTEE

As of 18 March 2022, the then Executive Committee comprised the
executive Director, Mr. JI Youhong only and there was no quorum

to hold meetings.

In view of the enhanced arrangements for the Board's delegation
to the senior management as well as the continuous lack of quorum
for meetings, the Board resolved to abolish the Executive
Committee with effect from 18 March 2022.

ATTENDANCE AT GENERAL MEETING

During the year, the Company held one general meeting, namely,
the annual general meeting, at the sixth floor, China Resources
Financial Building, No. 2700 Keyuan South Road, Nanshan District,
Shenzhen, Guangdong, on Friday, 27 May 2022. Details of
resolutions and poll results were published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange and the Company at least 20 clear business days
before the annual general meeting and on the day after conclusion

of the annual general meeting respectively.

At the annual general meeting, the Chairman of the meeting
proposed separate resolutions for each substantially separate
issues, and delegated the Company Secretary to provide
explanation of the detailed procedures for conducting a poll and

answer any questions from shareholders on voting by poll.
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Chairman of the Board, all Directors, chairmen of all Board

committees and external auditors attended this annual general

meeting in person or online. The attendance of the Directors at this

meeting is as follows:

R-B__%F
BA=-++tH
BTHER
Meeting held on
27 May 2022
HITES Executive Director
feRAT JI' Youhong v
FHITES Non-executive Directors
K ZHU Ping v
FREET— CHEN Kangren v
HBRK YANG Changyi v/
BYKHITES Independent non-executive Directors
B IP Shu Kwan Stephen 4
Vakit: SHEK Lai Him Abraham 4
B ZENG Xuemin v
MBR(R=ZZFZ—FAAZT/AFHT) LAM Chi Yuen Nelson (resigned with effect
from 29 June 2022) v/
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IMPORTANT SHAREHOLDERS' DATES

The important dates for shareholders in 2023 are as follows:

E35]

Events

*

—E-=FPA-+N\H
28 April 2023

—ECFRAATARTFOEE=

19 May 2023, 4:30 PM

—E-=FRA-+-BZE=-+HAH

22-25 May 2023

—E-=FRA=-+HAHAH
25 May 2023

—E-=FRA=+—H
31 May 2023

—E-=FXA—H
1 June 2023

TEC=FRAZATFAR=

2 June 2023, 4:30 PM

—E_=FRARBEANAR

5-9 June 2023

—E-=F+A+NBE*
19 July 2023*

—EZ=FNATNA*
18 August 2023*

S B o o =
27 October 2023*

TEAH

AMBE_Z_=F=A=+—HUE=EAAZARERZTENBER
Announcement of the unaudited quarterly financial information for
the three months ended 31 March 2023

BERXEELERFBF AN FRE 2B XHFHREZ R
Deadline for lodging transfer documents for attendance and voting at

the annual general meeting

BOTBRRBERSA L EHEBFTEAY

Book closure dates prior to annual general meeting

BRBFAE

Annual general meeting

BB —_FT - —FRERE ZBMHHRER
Last day of dealings in Shares with ent|t|ement to ﬂnal dividend 2022

GREd=!

Ex-entitlement date

ERXERUB —FT - —FRERE 2B X HEHR
Deadline for lodging transfer documents for entitlement to
final dividend 2022

CEC CFRPREZEEMEBFFERS
Book closure date for final dividend 2022

RN —F - —FRERE
Payment of final d|V|dend 2022

AMABE_E-_ZFNAZTHLENEAAZREEZUKER
Announcement of the unaudited financial information for
the six months ending 30 June 2023

AMEBE_Z_=FNA=THILNEARZAEERZTEVKER
Announcement of the unaudited quarterly financial information for
the nine months ending 30 September 2023

* Tentative dates
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT
Financial Reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the annual reports, interim reports, quarterly reports and the
consolidated financial statements of the Company that give a true
and fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance. The statement by the independent auditor
about its reporting responsibilities relating to the financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2022 is set out in the
Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 149 to 156. The Directors
are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability

to continue as a going concern.

Independent Auditor

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent
auditor’s independence and objectivity and effectiveness of the
audit process. It receives each year the letter from the independent
auditor confirming their independence and objectivity and holds
meetings with representatives of the independent auditor to
consider the scope of its audit, and the scope and appropriateness
of non-audit services, if any, to be provided by it. The Audit
Committee then makes recommendations to the Board on the
appointment, reappointment, removal, remuneration and terms of
engagement of the independent auditor. The Group's policy
regarding the engagement of Ernst & Young for the various

services listed below during the year is as follows:

o Audit services — include audit services provided in
connection with the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the Company and the financial statements of

the individual subsidiaries.

] Audit related services — include services that would normally
be provided by an independent auditor but not generally
included in audit fees, for example, review of financial
statements for the purpose of interim report, due diligence
and accounting advice relating to mergers and acquisitions
and internal control reviews of systems and/or processes. The
independent auditor is to be invited to undertake those
services that it must or is best placed to undertake in their

capacity as auditor.
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o Taxation related services — include all tax compliance and
tax planning services, except for those services which are
provided in connection with the audit. The Group uses the
services of the independent auditor where it is best suited. All
other significant taxation related work is undertaken by other

parties as appropriate.

o Other services — include, for example, risk management
diagnostics and assessments, non-financial systems
consultations and corporate governance compliance
assessment. The independent auditor is also permitted to
assist management and the Group’s Internal Audit
Department with internal investigations and fact-finding into
alleged improprieties. These services are subject to specific

approval by the Audit Committee.

] General consulting services — the independent auditor is not

eligible to provide services involving general consulting work.

An analysis of the fees of Ernst & Young and other independent
auditors relating to the audit of the financial statements of the
Company and subsidiaries for the year ended 31 December 2022 is
shown in Note 9 to the financial statements. For the year ended 31
December 2022, a provision of HK$6,365,000 was made in the
financial statements for service fee payable to Ernst & Young for
the annual audit and the Group had paid HK$761,000 and
HK$308,000 to Ernst & Young as service fees for review of 2022

interim financial statements and tax consultation respectively.

TECCFFR
Annual Report 2022

135



136

EERELARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERERE ABEERERER

EXRRARYREMIASENEREE
KA RGAR AR GEER - KETT
HBE BFERILBEAAEEBETRELE
RERER - WEBHRIBERNER - B
RERENELE  FUART —EFBRARE
BRBORE BEERNBHMEREREE
NMABREIE RGN BRE - DARELR FTER A B9 IR
REEFRHMEE -

BT _Fi ARAVERARMAERSE
Rk - M SRR - AREIETE - LEHR
EERkERESRZEGERRR - NiE -
AR AREETERBBER  BEH=E
EXRBEMHBRES

ERREERESH  ARASELREERG
BRI - XR AR MERABSS
E - BEBEUHAREFERPRATLE
B 2B - REEREETTRREBUE
PRRANGTL - B KRB E - RIB
BB B - AR B 48 HE T B R R R AR AN R
b BREZRTIFELABRFHERR BT
FETARBRMERESR - BESHARRNE
OERARFT - HIFT RS R ERER - &8
ARBEBRATEFH  HEAERERRE
{LEERIIEIR - WIRFEHRABREETTERE
Al A ARRREREBRAMR - ARG HEEIT
AR I E R R - AR AR RN AL
IMERZLCBE  BET+FRAREZE
BoOHHEREERBREMN - R LK BE
BE - REZRE -

EBKEERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

RISK MANAGEMENT, INTERNAL CONTROL AND
COMPLIANCE MANAGEMENT

The Board has overall responsibility for and is highly concerned
with the Group's risk management and internal control systems,
and assessment and management of risks. In meeting its
responsibility, the Board seeks to increase risk awareness across the
Group's business units and has put in place policies and
procedures, including parameters of authority delegation, which
provide a framework for the identification and management of
risks. It also reviews and monitors the effectiveness of the risk
management and internal control systems to ensure that the

policies and procedures in place are adequate and appropriate.

Since 2022, the Legal and Compliance Department of the Company
has been responsible for organizing the management works of risk,
internal control, legal and compliance, and report on the execution
of management works of risk, internal control, legal and compliance
to the Board and the Risk and Compliance Committee on a regular
basis. All department at headquarters and all business units

coordinate and cooperate in the relevant works.

In terms of risk management, the Company has established a sound
mechanism for risk assessment and assessment standards. The
Legal and Compliance Department organizes all departments and
all business units on a regular basis to carry out collection,
identification and assessment of risk data regarding the overall and
systemic risks which the Group may be exposed to during the year
and in medium to long term, compile and prepare a list of risks
upon analysis. According to the list of risks, headquarters level of
the Company conducts risk identification and assessment. The
annual top ten risks and management requirements are confirmed
upon review on the risk assessment result by the Chairman of the
Board. Specific responsible management departments for each risk
shall formulate measures for tackling, managing and controlling the
risks. Through integration of the business and industry
characteristics of the Company, quantitative risk monitor indicators
are set up scientifically and reasonably. Dynamic monitor on
changes of risks is conducted every quarter to analyze the major
risks of the Company. The Legal and Compliance Department also
organizes interim risk assessment to review on the effectiveness of
the existing measures, analyze the trend of changes of risks and
confirm the keys of risk management in the second half of the year.
Major operating risk incidents are reported in a timely manner for

precise management and control and proper disposal.
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In terms of the construction of internal control system, the
Company has established a relatively standard and sound internal
control system with effective key control points to reasonably
secure legal and compliant corporate operating management,
asset security, true and complete financial reports and relevant
data, which has enhanced operating efficiency and efficacy to
facilitate the achievement of corporate development strategy. The
Legal and Compliance Department organizes headquarters
departments and all onshore and offshore subsidiaries to conduct
internal control self-assessment and supervision evaluation in key
business processes, covering cement, concrete and other business
segments. Internal control review is carried out through sampling,
on-site inspections and results record. Internal control defects
found in internal control system supervision evaluation are
compiled and recognized with grades. Internal control
management work, major defects and latent risk hazards are
reported to the Board on a regular basis. Rectification plans are
formulated with specific responsible persons and completion times
to strengthen follow-up on the progress of rectification of internal
control defects and expedite the execution of rectification. At the
same time, in order to enhance the continuous optimization of the
internal control system, the Company links the internal control
system supervision evaluation results and rectifications with its
appraisal mechanism, which holds the units or individuals
accountable for the responsibilities of failure to fulfil the duties of
internal control management and supervision according to
requirements, serious internal control defects and improper
rectifications. In 2022, the overall operation of the Company’s
internal control system was good, no important and major internal
control defects were found and there was no occurrence of major

risk incident or compliance incident.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

In terms of compliance management, the Company is dedicated to
strengthening the compliance management mechanism. In 2022,
the Board approved the amendments to the "Compliance
Management Policy of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited”
as well as the formulation of or amendments to a series of
complement management policies, and determined the Company'’s
compliance management system to establish compliance review
working mechanism and specify personnel, standards, process and
key points of compliance review. Through sorting out the
compliance obligations and confirming compliance review matters
in the scope of tendering procurement, and transforming the
business process, compliance review has been successfully
embedded in the non-construction type of procurement business
process as a mandatory procedure at last. Compliance review is
reinforced in key steps, management and control of process is
strengthened, and procurement compliance risks are effectively
prevented and controlled through correction of compliance

opinions and compliance judgments.

In addition, the Legal and Compliance Department of the Company
organizes and conducts special treatment on compliance
management issues of operating business, requires units of all
levels to carry out full-faceted and all-level investigations on issues
including compliance management of operating business and
violations of laws and regulations. The units involved are guided
and supervised to initiate in-depth analysis and proactive
rectification on the issues found during investigations, insist on
dissecting root causes and finding solution paths from systems,
mechanisms and management policies to address both the
symptoms and the root causes and safeguard the robust operation
of the Company. At the same time, the Company requires all senior
and middle-level managerial staff to complete the declaration of
related party transactions and external investments in shareholding,
running businesses and launching enterprises. Special
investigations on the sensitive roles regarding incompliant
shareholding and related party transactions are conducted to
ensure that they cannot seek personal gain by taking advantage of

the power or resources in their office.

Whilst these procedures are designed to identify and manage risks
that could adversely impact the achievement of the Group's
business objectives, they do not provide absolute assurance against

material misstatement, errors, omissions or fraud.
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Internal Control Environment

The Board is responsible for monitoring the overall operations of
the businesses within the Group. The Group’s internal control
procedures include a comprehensive system for reporting
information to the Directors. Business plans and financial budget
plans are prepared annually and subject to review and approval by
the Board as part of the Group's five-year corporate planning cycle.
Financial reports for the current year are prepared on a monthly
basis, reviewed for variances to the original annual business plan
and the financial budget plan and for re-approval. When preparing
the annual business plan and financial budget and setting forecasts,
the senior management identifies, evaluates and reports on the
likelihood and potential financial impact of significant business
risks. The Directors review the monthly management reports on the
financial results and key operating statistics of each business unit,
and the Chief Executive Officer holds monthly meetings with the
senior management to review these reports, business performance
against the annual business plan and financial budget plan,

forecasts, significant business risk sensitivities and strategies.

The Group maintains a centralized cash management system for its
subsidiaries’ operations. The Group has established guidelines and
procedures for the approval and control of expenditures. Operating
expenses are subject to overall budget control and are controlled
within each business unit with approval levels set by reference to
the level of responsibility of each executive and officer. Capital
expenditures are subject to overall control within the annual budget
review and approval process, and more specific control and
approval by the Board or the Chief Executive Officer are required

for unbudgeted expenditures prior to commitment.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Internal Audit

The Internal Audit Department of the Company is responsible for
internal audit, major audit conclusions and rectification work,
promoting the application of audit results, studying on major issues
and execution of rectification, and reporting the same to the Audit

Committee, the Chairman of the Board and the senior management.

Depending on the nature of business and risk exposure of
individual business units, the scope of work performed by the
Internal Audit Department includes regular audits and dawn raids
on the businesses of the Company to ensure robust compliance
procedures in place. Representatives from the Internal Audit
Department meet with the Audit Committee and the independent
auditor at least once a year to discuss on the findings from the
Internal Audit Department and any potential risks that may exist.
Annual internal audit work report in accordance with the annual
internal audit plan, together with the annual internal audit plan of
the next year, shall be submitted by the Internal Audit Department
to the Audit Committee and the Board for approval every year after
the end of the relevant year. The Audit Committee also reviews and
evaluates the Company’s internal audit policies and their

implementation.

Whistle-Blowing Policy

The Group is committed to maintaining sound corporate
governance. We maintain smooth and diversified whistle-blowing
channels including as employees’ congress, whistle-blowing
hotlines, whistle-blowing emails, in-person visits and online
reporting at all business units to encourage our employees and
parties who deal with us (including customers, contractors,
suppliers, creditors and debtors) to provide real-time feedback
opinions and aspirations and to report any potential improprieties
or misconducts within the Group in confidence and anonymity. All
disciplinary and non-compliance issues are handled and

investigated seriously according to the Company’s policies.
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Promotion of Anti-Corruption and Integrity

The Group strictly complies with the Criminal Law of the People's
Republic of China, the Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s
Republic of China, and the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance of
Hong Kong. No person is allowed to take advantage of their
position to demand and receive bribery or obtain benefits by
improper means. It is also forbidden to blackmail, conduct fraud or

launder money.

Over the years, the Company has intensively promoted and
thoroughly implemented various anti-corruption policies including
the “"China Resources Group Business Code of Conduct”, “China
Resources Ten Commandments” and “Sunshine Declaration”, and
continued to improve the probity policies and systems for

deepening upright corporate building.

In 2022, the "Overseas Anti-Commercial Bribery Compliance
Management Measures of China Resources Cement Holdings
Limited” and complement compliance guidelines were formulated,
which provide guidance on anti-corruption laws and regulations in
key countries and regions, form lists of compliance matters in key
scopes and non-key scopes, and specify the workflow and work
mechanisms for third-party compliance due diligence investigations
and compliance commitment in overseas (including Hong Kong)

investment projects.

The Group always places strong emphasis on and continuously
strengthens the work for integrity cultivation and probity education
of the Directors and employees. The Legal and Compliance
Department of the Company regularly provides anti-corruption
legal information to the Directors to ensure the Directors grasp the
latest requirements of applicable laws and regulations. In 2022, the
Company held an alert education meeting to convey and study
anti-corruption spirit. An executive Director and the three non-
executive Directors were in attendance. Relevant training materials

were forwarded to all Directors for studying.

TECCFFR
Annual Report 2022

141



142

EERELARE

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

RERAEEMBEHBEREXZTALTR
A ARFEHEAFETZMEIZERM
% RREEXSARERNIFERERSE
EiEf - REZRENERGHEII T B
ARAMER R EL AT L WFHERIER T
ZERRRMGEN - EE—REBEEEBIZTE
TRERFFERBER SR B E B ELAR
—HBEBEALREIMBBELE =7 (BZXE
BALTOMISHEFE) RS L ERF—Z 8
RHNHREMEEBGR  TEBFEFER
RER  BX - @EiEE  IRGR - REHE
mERBABREE) - MZFRE CEREE
ATHRHENER) RERIE R #IRBAEE
WERELL R SR A AR BB AR B AR
BIRE  MBABREKABEMNIABIB -

AEEZHEKNE ARMKETEAERANLRE
e AERSERER S - ARAH
BHEAERRERINEF LR  E2F L
REEAEIZEDBO%H - BAEER - AKEM
BRERBEMHLRE  WEEEREEER
HRAEEIRTE - PIIERT2F LR - FERE
RBEARBEETRAETOAESFEDRIES
BYFERITER B RBEI R R EZ
Heh - BUZBEKHE (AT ERE) AEEE
ERFREHE 2R 198 78 T E B BUR M bl ey 8 <715
e REBENIHEBERZHIFE RN
ARRFEUEEMZBEASAWE - XRAF
BEPBEEF 101 EREFEERE

EBKEERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Continuing Connected Transactions

In order to ensure that all continuing connected transactions of the
Group comply with the Listing Rules, the Company has formulated
and continuously improved the management measures for
connected transactions which sets forth the procedures for
approval of connected transaction contracts and management of
continuing connected transactions. The framework agreements
approved by the Board set out the major terms and conditions of
the continuing connected transactions which could be entered into
by the individual business units of the Company. Before each
individual continuing connected transaction may be entered into in
its ordinary and usual course of business, individual business units
are required to obtain and compare the quotations and pricing
terms of the same or similar transactions from a connected person
and at least two independent third parties which are market
competitors of the connected person, and to consider the
assessment criteria (including the price, quality, suitability, payment
terms, and time required for the provision of goods or services).
Such quotes, together with the offer from the connected person,
and the individual contracts will be reviewed and passed by the
management of the relevant members of the Group, finance
personnel and legal personnel according to the Group's internal

approval and monitoring procedures.

The finance department of the relevant members of the Group will
be responsible for the monthly reporting of the amount of
continuing connected transactions to the Finance Department of
the Company for monitoring the annual cap of the relevant
transactions every month and issuing warning to the Board, relevant
departments and units of the Group when the utilization rate of
annual cap reaches 80%, which will facilitate the Board to consider
implementation of relevant response measures such as the revision
of annual cap. The continuing connected transactions shall also be
subject to review and audit by independent non-executive
Directors and auditors respectively every year pursuant to Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules. Among which, the independent auditor
shall sample check, among other things, the compliance of such
pricing terms with the pricing policies or mechanisms under the
framework agreements. Details of our continuing connected
transactions have been disclosed in the relevant announcements
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company. Results of the annual review are reported on pages 93 to

101 of this annual report.
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Inside Information

The Board has delegated the Chief Executive Officer to be
responsible for the handling and dissemination of inside
information. In order to ensure that the market and shareholders
are fully and promptly informed about the material developments
in the Company's business, the Board has adopted the Inside
Information Disclosure Policy regarding the procedures of proper
information disclosure. Release of inside information is subject to
the approval of the Board or the Chief Executive Officer. After
deciding to disseminate inside information within the scope of
delegation, the Chief Executive Officer shall report back to the
Board on the exercise of relevant delegated power in a timely
manner. Unless duly authorized, all staff members of the Company
shall not communicate inside information to any external parties
and shall not respond to market speculation and rumours. In
addition, all external presentation materials or publications must be

pre-vetted before release.

Review of the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal control systems

Upon the recommendation of the Risk and Compliance Committee,
the Board had approved the internal control system work report
and the risk management report for year 2022 submitted by the
Legal and Compliance Department of the Company, and
considered the risk management and internal control systems of

the Group have been effective, adequate and appropriate.

Group Liability Insurance

Directors and officers liability insurance has been purchased and
maintained to protect directors and officers of the Group against
their potential legal liabilities to third parties that may be incurred
in the course of performing their duties.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. SO Yiu Fung, has been appointed as
the Company Secretary and an authorised representative of the
Company by the Board'’s resolutions since May 2022. Mr. SO is
currently a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants and the group deputy company secretary of CR
Corporate Affairs Limited which acts as the Company’s external
company secretarial service provider. Although Mr. SO is not a full-
time employee of the Company, he reports to the Chairman of the
Board and in his capacity as Company Secretary advises the Board
on corporate governance matters. The primary corporate contact
person at the Company with Mr. SO is Mr. YIN Yue, an alternate
authorised representative, the General Counsel and the Director of
the Board Office of the Company. For the year ended 31 December
2022, Mr. SO had taken no less than 15 hours of relevant
professional training pursuant to Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

On Friday, 27 May 2022, a special resolution was passed at the
annual general meeting to adopt the second amended and
restated Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company
in order to fully implement the key powers and duties of the Board,
allow Directors and shareholders of the Company to attend general
meetings by online means and conform to the latest requirements
of the Listing Rules and the Cayman Islands Companies Act. The
second amended and restated Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company have been uploaded to the websites

of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS
Core Shareholder Protection Standards

The Company always pays keen attention to the enforcement and
protection of shareholders’ rights. Upon review on the Company’s
compliance situation, on Friday, 27 May 2022, the annual general
meeting approved the amendments to the Memorandum and
Articles of Association of the Company for its on-going compliance
with the shareholder protection standards set out in Appendix 3 of
the Listing Rules.
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Convening Extraordinary General Meeting and Putting
Forward Proposals (other than proposing a person for
election as a Director) at General Meetings

Pursuant to Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, an extraordinary general meeting shall be convened on
the written requisition of any one or more members of the
Company holding together, as at the date of deposit of the
requisition, Shares representing not less than one-tenth of the
voting rights, on a one vote per share basis, which carry the right of
voting at general meetings of the Company. The written requisition
shall be deposited at the principal place of business of the
Company in Hong Kong (Room 3001-05, China Resources Building,
26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong) for the attention of the
Board or, in the event the Company ceases to have such a principal
place of business in Hong Kong, the registered office of the
Company (PO Box 309, Ugland House, Grand Cayman, KY1-1104,
Cayman lIslands) for the attention of the Board, specifying the
objects of the extraordinary general meeting and the resolutions to
be added to the agenda of the extraordinary general meeting, and

signed by the requisitionist(s).

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the extraordinary general
meeting to be held within a further 21 days, the requisitionist(s)
themselves or any of them representing more than one-half of the
total voting rights of all of them, may convene the extraordinary
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that
in which extraordinary general meeting may be convened by the
Board provided that any extraordinary general meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months
from the date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of

the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the Company.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Procedures for shareholders to nominate a person for
election as a Director

Article 16.4 of the Articles of Association of the Company provides
that no person shall, unless recommended by the Board, be eligible
for election to the office of Director at any general meeting unless
during the period, which shall be at least seven days, commencing
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the
meeting appointed for such election and ending no later than
seven days prior to the date of such meeting, there has been given
to the Company Secretary notice in writing by a member of the
Company (not being the person to be proposed), entitled to attend
and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given, of his
intention to propose such person for election and also notice in
writing signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to

be elected.

Accordingly, if a shareholder of the Company wishes to nominate a
person to stand for election as a Director at the annual general
meeting, the following documents must be validly served on the
Company Secretary at the Company’s principal place of business in
Hong Kong within the period specified in Article 16.4 of the Articles
of Association of the Company, namely, (1) the shareholder’s notice
of intention to propose a resolution to elect a nominated candidate
as a Director at the annual general meeting; (2) a notice signed by
the nominated candidate of his willingness to be elected; (3) the
nominated candidate’s information as required to be disclosed
under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (4) the nominated

candidate’s written consent to the publication of his personal data.

Procedures for sending enquiries to the Board

Shareholders may send enquiries to the Board (i) in writing to the
Company's principal place of business in Hong Kong (Room 3001-
05, China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong
Kong) for attention to the Board; (ii) by attending the Company’s
annual general meeting or extraordinary general meeting; or (iii) by
email at crcement@crc.com.hk. The aforesaid procedures have

been uploaded to the Company’s website.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

As at 31 December 2022, the Company had 1,275 registered
shareholders and total public float capitalization amounted to
HK$9,043,764,000. In addition to individual shareholders, some
Shares are held by institutional investors, or by individuals and
organizations through financial intermediaries such as nominees,
investment funds and the Central Clearing and Settlement System
of Hong Kong. The names of the shareholders, other than the
Directors, holding 5% or more of the Shares as at 31 December
2022 are disclosed in the Report of the Directors on page 92 of the

annual report.

As the core principles of corporate governance, the Board gives
high priority to maintaining effective, transparent and constructive
communications with shareholders and other investors, and
believes that the Company’s relationship with shareholders is
critical to its future success. The Board is accountable to
shareholders for effective governance of business and value
creation. The Company keeps in touch with its shareholders and
other investors through various channels to facilitate
communications of their views on various matters affecting the
Company and deepen their understanding on the Company'’s
performance, strategies, prospects and the market environment in
which the Company has operations. We believe shareholders’ value
can be enhanced through efficient and transparent communications

with investors.

In order to ensure shareholders’ exercise of their rights in an
informed manner, a shareholders’ communication policy of the
Company has been established. A dedicated investor relations
team has been established as the primary contact of the Company
with shareholders, investors and analysts. The Company actively
responds to daily inquiries from shareholders and investors, and
publishes important information of the Company on the websites
of the Stock Exchange and the Company for equal and timely
access by all stakeholders. The Company also holds results
presentation meetings for investors after the release of annual
results and interim results via either telephone conference, video
conference or on-site presentations to ensure that overseas
shareholders and investors can timely and adequately understand
the Company’s business operations and future development

strategies.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

The Company keeps close contact with the investment community,
makes every effort to maintain stable and effective communications
with shareholders and investors and takes steps to solicit and
understand their views. To this end, the Company regularly
participates in different activities including investor meetings,
roadshows and investor conferences held by various investment
banks in order to increase interactions with shareholders and
investors. In 2022, in addition to results roadshows, the Company
participated in 7 investor forums and a total of approximately 150
investor meetings, which enabled communications with over 1,000
domestic and international fund managers and analysts. Among
which, meetings were mainly conducted via online formats such as

video conference or telephone conference.

In September 2022, the Company organized the annual reverse
roadshow with a total of 43 analysts in participation. During this
roadshow, investors initially took a tour of the “Runpin Luxury”
showroom on the Company in Shenzhen to gain an in-depth
understanding on the development plan of the functional building
materials business and engaged in in-depth communications and
discussions. Afterwards, investors made a group on-site visit to
DongGuan Universal Classical Material Ltd. and personally
experienced the automation, scale and greenness of an engineered
stone production plant. Investors participating online were even
able to follow a camera tour into the world of engineered stone
from production design of products to field application in shopping
mall projects in order to comprehensively and vividly understand

the situation of the business.

During the year, upon the review and recommendation of the Risk
and Compliance Committee, the Board considered the
shareholders’ communications policy of the Company and its

implementation have been effective.

The Board always welcomes views and inputs from shareholders
and investors, who can send their enquiries and concerns to the
Board by addressing them to the Company’s Finance Department
by letter, telephone, fax or email. Details of the contact information

can be found on page 4 of this annual report.
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RGN EH AT Ernst & Young
B A EEEE79%E 27/F, One Taikoo Place,
Rty —EE2748 979 King's Road,

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

TO THE MEMBERS OF
CHINA RESOURCES CEMENT HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited (the “"Company”) and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on
pages 157 to 287, which comprise the consolidated statement of
financial position as at 31 December 2022, and the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial

statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as
at 31 December 2022, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to

provide a basis for our opinion.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our

audit addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of
material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The
results of our audit procedures, including the procedures
performed to address the matters below, provide the basis for our
audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial

statements.

Impairment assessment of goodwill

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill as a key audit
matter due to the involvement of significant judgements and

assumptions in the performance of this assessment.

As set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements,
determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation of
the value in use of the cash-generating units (“CGUs") to which
goodwill has been allocated. During the year, the value in use
calculation required the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the CGUs and a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value. The estimation uncertainty

mainly included the gross margin, discount rate and growth rate.
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The carrying amount of goodwill as at 31 December 2022 was
HK$2,474,570,000 and, for the purpose of impairment testing, as
disclosed in Note 21 to the consolidated financial statements,
goodwill has been allocated to the groups of CGUs comprising the
cement operating segment and concrete operating segment. The
carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the cement operating
segment and the concrete operating segment were
HK$2,281,020,000 and HK$193,550,000, respectively, at 31
December 2022. The management of the Group assessed and
concluded that there was no significant impairment of goodwill for
the year ended 31 December 2022.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of

goodwill included:

Obtaining an understanding of the basis adopted in the value in
use calculations prepared by management;

Assessing the reasonableness of the key assumptions made by
management, including the growth rates by comparing the prior

year cash flow projections with the current year actual cash flows;

Testing the appropriateness of the key inputs applied by
management, including revenues, cost of sales and operating
expenses by benchmarking them against the economic and

industry data;

Assessing the key factors in determining the discount rate,
including the Group’s debt and equity ratio, return on investments
and other risk factors, and comparing to discount rates adopted in

the cement industry for evaluating the reasonableness; and

Evaluating the sensitivity analysis performed by management in
respect of the growth rate and discount rate to evaluate the extent

of impact on the calculations of the value in use.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

We identified the impairment assessment of trade receivables as a
key audit matter due to the use of judgement and estimates in

assessing the allowance for doubtful debts.

At 31 December 2022, the carrying amount of trade receivables was
HK$2,900,660,000 (net of allowance for doubtful debts of
HK$690,436,000) as disclosed in Note 28 to the consolidated
financial statements. Management used a provision matrix to
calculate expected credit losses for trade receivables. The matrix
was initially based on the Group's historical default rates, and
specific factors that management considered in the estimation of
the rates including the type of customers, ageing of the balances
and recent historical payment patterns. Management then
calibrated the matrix to adjust the historical credit loss experience
with forward-looking information, such as the existence of disputes

and forecasted economic conditions.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment of trade

receivables included:

Obtaining an understanding of how the allowance for doubtful
debts was estimated by management and testing the key controls
of the Group relating to the credit control, debt collection and

estimation of expected credit losses;

Checking the ageing analysis of the trade receivables throughout
the year to understand movements in the ageing and the

settlement pattern of the customers;

Testing the ageing analysis of the trade receivables, on a sample
basis, to the source documents, including sales invoices and good

delivery notes; and

Assessing the reasonableness of allowance for doubtful debts with
reference to the credit profile including default or delay in
payments, settlement records, subsequent settlements and the
ageing analysis of the trade receivables, evaluating whether the
historical loss rates are appropriately adjusted based on current
economic conditions and forward-looking information and,
examining the actual losses recorded during the current financial

year.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial

statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of

assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we
conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing

to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair
view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic

alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee
in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's

financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made
solely to you, as a body, in accordance with our agreed terms of
engagement, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the

contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of

these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism

throughout the audit. We also:

] Identify and assess the risk of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,

or the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an

opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.
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o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related

disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a

going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that

achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain

solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in

internal control that we identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we
have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence and to communicate with them all relationships and
other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate

threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in
our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public

interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Ip Hing Lam.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

17 March 2023



mEEHWER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

BHEZZT-__F+-_A=1—HILFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2022

—E=-= —E_——4F
2022 2021
HtaF THET FAT
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
EERE Turnover 6 32,218,607 43,962,708
HE RN Cost of sales (27,299,718) (29,839,942)
EH Gross profit 4,918,889 14,122,766
H A Other income 7 1,190,541 734,920
HEYHENTEEBEEZD Change in fair value of an investment
property 18 - 10,000
SHERDHER Selling and distribution expenses (545,316) (2,064,191)
—RITRER General and administrative expenses (2,814,189) (2,988,870)
P& 5 (B8 ) W Exchange (loss) gain (61,769) 19,015
% E N Finance costs 8 (349,693) (231,693)
FE(REEE N AR Share of results of associates 15,232 371,523
A RN E Share of results of joint ventures (71,251) 317,627
B B AT & R Profit before taxation 9 2,282,444 10,291,097
18 Taxation 12 (419,785) (2,566,452)
FEAEF Profit for the year 1,862,659 7,724,645
Ht2mE (BR) WA : Other comprehensive (expense)
income:
HETSEN7HEZIEmA  Items that will not be subsequently
ER : reclassified to profit or loss:
BMEREINEEMELN Exchange differences arising on
M H ZRE translation to presentation currency (4,789,361) 1,560,645
HEMEE RN EEE Change in fair value of other
investment (12,049) (20,885)
At @B A2 EmH Item that will be subsequently
HH : reclassified to profit or loss:
JE(EB S AR HMEMER  Share of other comprehensive
expense of associates (28,460) (5,216)
FEEMEm(ER) WA Other comprehensive (expense)
income for the year (4,829,870) 1,534,544
FE2E(ER) KALRE Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year (2,967,211) 9,259,189
AR AT EEEERT] Profit (loss) for the year attributable to:
(E18) -
FiN/NETE 2 =N Owners of the Company 1,935,735 7,767,357
AR HE A Non-controlling interests (73,076) (42,712)
1,862,659 7,724,645
UTNATEEFEZmE(EA) Total comprehensive (expense)
WA RREE income for the year attributable to:
RAREEA A Owners of the Company (2,830,903) 9,276,673
FEfE R e o Non-controlling interests (136,308) (17,484)
(2,967,211) 9,259,189
BREREF (BT) Basic earnings per share (HK$) 15 0.277 1.112

S
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

RZZBE-_—_F+=-A=+—H At31 December 2022

—E-—F —TE-—F
2022 2021
HitaE FET FHTT
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
IEMENEE Non-current assets
EEEE Fixed assets 16 31,467,930 29,556,092
FREEE Right-of-use assets 17 5,128,710 4,325,329
KEME Investment property 18 130,000 130,000
Hiig & Other investment 19 39,361 51,410
BVEE Intangible assets 20 19,905,873 12,298,717
NN oL Interests in associates 22 6,304,386 6,754,993
PN RN Interests in joint ventures 23 2,070,095 2,793,146
BEEE® Deposits for acquisition of assets 4,116,961 4,448,461
ELERIBEE Deferred tax assets 24 881,164 535,391
FEERNAINER Loans to joint ventures 25 - 1,115,457
KB RIE Long term receivables 26 280,674 299,086
BEEHIRITFER Pledged bank deposits 30 467,327 318,456
70,792,481 62,626,538
MENE B Current assets
ey Inventories 27 2,732,197 2,941,190
FEWE 5 8RR Trade receivables 28 2,900,660 4,793,437
H fth & W 50 Other receivables 29 1,660,315 1,601,479
F—REERRIMNER Loan to a joint venture 25 211,134 =
AR IR Taxation recoverable 83,814 21,368
BEERIEITFER Pledged bank deposits 30 51,434 97,847
Ha RIRITHEH Cash and bank balances 31 2,181,728 7,067,381
9,821,282 16,522,702
mEaE Current liabilities
JERTE SRR Trade payables 32 3,241,807 3,786,280
H At FET FRIR Other payables 33 7,274,462 7,265,261
JESRIA Taxation payable 242,427 909,656
KB —FKEEIZERA A Loans from an intermediate
BB holding company 34 - 1,672,700
KA FERBRERIEK Loans from
non-controlling shareholders 35 462,888 42,366
RITER —R—FEREIH Bank loans — amount due
within one year 36 4,085,229 7,336,197
15,306,813 21,012,460
mEBRERE Net current liabilities (5,485,531) (4,489,758)
BEAERRESEE Total assets less current liabilities 65,306,950 58,136,780

FEBACREZERARA T
158 e -
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mE M BIRR R
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

R-ZZT-_—_F+=-A=+—H At31 December 2022

—E-—F —E-—F
2022 2021
HifaE FET FHIT
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
EREBERE Non-current liabilities
RITER — RN —F1&5H Bank loans — amount due
after one year 36 11,751,356 1,223,090
REFEIERR AR E R Loans from non-controlling
shareholders 35 133,790 139,288
E At REAFE I 5RIE Other long term payables 37 2,099,599 708,973
ELERIEAGE Deferred tax liabilities 24 481,937 424,082
14,466,682 2,495,433
50,840,268 55,641,347
A& K Capital and reserves
f& s Share capital 38 698,294 698,294
EE Reserves 48,535,152 54,157,719
RAREE AEIEER Equity attributable to owners
of the Company 49,233,446 54,856,013
eI AR R A Non-controlling interests 1,606,822 785,334
G Total equity 50,840,268 55,641,347

F1S57TBEF 7 BEWNEGEAMBREAEN -F  The consolidated financial statements on pages 157 to 287 were
T=E=AttREEERERRETIE

Wi FIALTHRERE

L R4 JI YOUHONG
ZEFE DIRECTOR

March 2023 and are signed on its behalf by:

% ZHU PING
ZEZF DIRECTOR

approved and authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 17

RO FFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

(EZF__F+ZA=1+—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

AAAEAAEGRR
Equity attributable to owners of the Company
B AKRE DEEMEE RERF  EHEE  REEV & FEREE  BEAR
Property Non-
Share Merger  revaluation  Translation Other  Retained controlling Total
capital reserve reserve reserve reserves profits Total interests equity
TER TER TEL TERL TER TERL TERL TERL TER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
R=Z--%-f-H At 1 January 2021 698,204 (35,193 17,810 1,120958 (80,034) 47904987 49,626,822 27011 50023833
Hfp2EWA(BR) Other comprehensive income (expense)
—ERER — exchange differences - - - 1535417 - - 1535417 25,28 1,560,645
—EiEBERAEAMEE — share of other comprehensive
R expense of associates - - - - (5.216) - (5,216) - (5,21)
—ERRENATEESS  —changeinfairvalue of
other investment - - - - (20,885) - (20,885) - (20,885)
EERT(BR) Profit loss) for the year - - - - - 1761357 776135 @2712) 7724645
EE2ANA(ER) 68 Total comprehensive income (expense)
for the year - - - 1535417 (26101 7761357 9216673 (17484) 9259189
WEERBAA Acquisition of subsidiaries = = = = = - - w07 017
WE-FRENBATN Acquisition of additional interest
BIMER of an existing subsidlary - - - - 2420 = 2420 (2,628) (208)
A FEERRRARE Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders = = = = = = = @118) 4118
“ECEFRERS 2020 final dividend - - - - - 34199 R3741%9) - 3%
“E-—EhERs 2021 interim dividend - - - - - (1675909 (1,675905) - (1,675905)
FRRENERLE Capital contributions by
non-controlling shareholders = = = = = = = 183,536 183,536
Rkl ET 2 le Remeasurement gain on retirement plan - - - - 202 - 202 = 202
R-ZF-—%+-A=t—H  At31December 2021 698,204 (35193 17810 2,656,375 (103513 51622240 54,856,013 785,334 55,641,347
A2 EER Other comprehensive expense
—EREE — exchange differences - - - (4726109 - - (4726129 (63232 (4789,361)
—EHBENTEMRE — share of other comprehensive
R expense of associates - - - - (28,460) - (28,460) - (28,460)
—EbRANTEREED — change in fair value of
other investment - - - - (12,049 - (12,049) - (12,049
FERF(ER) Profit loss) for the year - - - - - 193B7% 193573 (73,076) 1862659
FEEE(ER)MAEE Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year - - - (4726129 (40509) 1,935,735 (2:830903) (136,308 (2967,211)
b Acquisition of subsidiaries = - - - = - - T8869 768,69
“E-FXRHRS 2021 final dividend - - - - - (1955223 (1,995,223 - (195523
“E-CEhlRE 2022 interim dividend - - - - - (837953 (837953 - (837.953)
FHERRRMARLE Capital contributions by
non-controlling shareholders - - - - - - - 326,476 326476
T FHEARRRARE Dividends paid to
non-controlling shareholders = = = S = = = (63,836) (63,830)
LE-FHEAA Disposal of a subsidiary - - - = - - = [73493) (73.493)
RINTEMETT20E Remeasurement gain on retirement plan = = = = 1512 = 1512 = 1512
WZZ-#+-A=+—H  At3!December 2022 698,294 (35193 17810 (2069.754) (142510) 50764799 49,233,446 1606822 50,840,268
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RERERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BHEZZT-__F+-_A=1—HILFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2022

—E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FET FHIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
REKLEHNHEERE Cash flows from operating activities
B ¢ A1 22 7 Profit before taxation 2,282,444 10,291,097
B TYSIBMEL T Adjustments for:
BEEEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 2,049,838 1,987,530
FRAREENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 224,805 167,784
RS R 5 Amortization of mining rights 264,680 378,519
RENFE AT EEZHEEN Gain on changes in fair value of an
Wz investment property - (10,000)
FBHA Interest income (118,173) (166,659)
FMEMAX Interest expenses 349,693 231,693
i i NI Share of results of associates (15,232) (371,523)
BhEERRIFEE Share of results of joint ventures 71,251 (317,627)
HEBTEEE (W) EE (Gain) loss on disposal of fixed assets (11,075) 18,309
mEFAEEERE Gain on disposal of right-of-use assets (8,693) (27,307)
i R W e Gain on disposal of mining rights - (17,033)
BEEWME AR (Y)EE (Gain) loss on disposal of subsidiaries (239,072) 6,688
BEEE RN Gain on disposal of a joint venture (18,158) =
FERER[D Reversal of impairment of inventories (461) (2,428)
REZREHK Allowance for doubtful debts 281,220 134,329
HAth fE I FIR R B IR B R Reversal of allowance for doubtful debts
of other receivables (3,377) (226)
EEREEE Negative goodwill recognized (16,218) =
b 5 =5 Exchange difference (119,443) 50,035
LEESEHHMNLCERSMA Operating cash inflows before movements
in working capital 4,974,029 12,353,181
ZERAD () Decrease (increase) in inventories 283,801 (885,721)
BUNE ZERFUR A (3E ) Decrease (increase) in trade receivables 1,608,737 (1,622,902)
e W R IB R A (38 0) Decrease (increase) in other receivables 200,996 (232,190)
FEN B SRR Decrease in trade payables (811,812) (183,296)
Ho e 3038 Ol A>) 380 (Decrease) increase in other payables (1,033,185) 19,869
KEERELERNIRS Cash generated from operations 5,222,566 9,448,941
2T EFERER Hong Kong Profits Tax paid (31,661) (10,957)
B BERH R HEATSE Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income
Tax paid (1,625,008) (3,210,605)
EHE Interest paid (395,634) (193,084)
KRB EENIR ST Net cash generated from operating activities 3,170,263 6,034,295
B FFR
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BE_ZT-__F+-_HA=+—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2022

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

—E-—F —TE-—F
2022 2021
FET FHTT
HK$'000 HK$'000
RERBZDNHEESRE Cash flows from investing activities
MWEBEEEEMZMAEEFRIE  Purchases and deposits paid for
MEl® acquisition of fixed assets (5,480,236) (4,203,428)
Yo B8 o I ) Acquisition of subsidiaries (3,307,244) (2,376,345)
LU BEERTEAE T S MRV BE B FUE Purchases and deposits paid for
MEl® acquisition of mining rights (2,282,551) (4,400,919)
FERAEEEEN Additions of right-of-use assets (688,097) (734,441)
BT R REITE A RIRI TR Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries in
prior years (271,331) -
KB E R BH)EE Capital injection in associates (176,517) =
ikl Acquisition of associates (152,994) -
B E N AR Advances to joint ventures (110,153) (7,009)
2B R IT RIS A0 Increase in pledged bank deposits (92,271) (11,395)
NG &N EHEE Capital injection in joint ventures (20,385) (284,779)
I HA B U R IE S N Additions of long term receivables (5,538) (16,494
REMBARFTERIE Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries 1,830,153 =
UG ER 2R B B A B A9 AR B, Dividends received from associates 208,893 460,531
BUFI B Interest received 78,538 155,618
HEBTEEMSRIE Proceeds from disposal of fixed assets 52,976 48,918
Bt N\ BIRE R (BR) Repayment from (advance to) associates 31,289 (112,721)
WELR B A& & A R AR 8 Dividends received from joint ventures 30,991 169,180
HEEAREEEMGHRIA Proceeds from disposal of right-
of-use assets 14,074 82,407
BB REAFEIGRIE Repayments of long term receivables 4,634 14,495
FEENFNER Loans to joint ventures - (1,115,457)
WHE & & A A Acquisition of joint ventures - (761,630)
RE—KEEZERAFRER Repayment from an intermediate
holding company - 856,163
RE—KRARKBARAER Repayment from a fellow subsidiary - 489,236
&S ERIERE PTIS I8 Proceeds from disposal of mining rights - 17,603
KEEZHTERNIE S F5E Net cash used in investing activities (10,335,769) (11,730,467)




RERERER
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

BHEZZT-__F+-_A=1—HILFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2022
—E_— —E——4F
2022 2021
FET FHIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
KERMELZDNRTRE Cash flows from financing activities
EERPIRITER Repayments of long term bank loans (4,526,336) =
B E Dividends paid (2,793,176) (4,050,104)
(EB)RE —REEZRAFIA (Repayment of) loans from an intermediate
B holding company (1,640,222) 1,672,700
INHEEAE Payments of lease liabilities (90,792) (248,628)
(1838 ) R B R R B B K (Repayment of) loans from
non-controlling shareholders (28,204) 135,491
S EAth = BA FE S FR0E Settlement of other long term payables (12,470) (9,454)
i EHARITE R Long term bank loans raised 11,324,725 1,223,090
REFFZERBRREHEARLE Capital contributions from
non-controlling shareholders 326,476 183,536
R HASRITE SR N Increase in short term bank loans 135,572 3,952,493
BERHEE Repayment of medium term notes - (3,611,400)
BT IEEE R AR R B AR B Dividends paid to
non-controlling shareholders - (2,059)
W IR BB A R AR ME RS Acquisition of additional interest of an
existing subsidiary - (208)
MEEHTELA (FTA)MIEEFE  Net cash generated from (used in)
financing activities 2,695,573 (754,543)
FEReRBeEEMFERD Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
for the year (4,469,933) (6,450,715)
FHReRREEED Cash and cash equivalents at beginning
of the year 7,067,381 13,226,924
[EREHNHIRE MIRTTEBNTE  Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on
cash and bank balances (415,720) 291,172
ERBERBESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year,
IR N IRTT4EER representing cash and bank balances 2,181,728 7,067,381
B FFR
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZT-__F+-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

1.

GENERAL

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an
exempted company with limited liability under the Company
Law (2002 Revision) of the Cayman Islands on 13 March 2003
and its shares were listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited on 6 October 2009. Its immediate holding
company is CRH (Cement) Limited, a company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands. Its ultimate holding company is
China Resources Company Limited, a company established in
the Chinese Mainland.

The Company is an investment holding company and its
subsidiaries (together with the Company hereinafter
collectively referred to as the "Group”) are principally
engaged in the manufacture and sale of cement, concrete

and other related products and services.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") while the functional currency of the
Company is Renminbi ("RMB”). The Company has adopted
HK$ as its presentation currency because management
considered that it is more beneficial to the users of the

consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S ——

B”EFE%ET&,%‘M AEBUBHRE
ZR ([EHRMBREED D)

AEBERANFEERERTIIRER]
BBMBMELER :

BRMBREEN  HSERZEL
F3R (X

BRMBREEYN —Fo-FRAZTAR
FI6W(BTX)  HEUTRRSAEN

HeR%
AR g ER nE - BERRE:
FI6M|(BTX)  KMERTREANZ
FIEmR
BE g ER BRAHN —EXADH

RIFETLX)  RA
BEMBREEN  BEMBMEENE T
—F)\%E BEMBREEA
T TERY F9% - BAMBRE
ZERLE ERF16FREDED
pIREE G ER
EXALACHES

FEFH%“ (BT RS E M RA M EE
/

2.

FH+ZA=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
("HKFRSs")

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the

first time in the current year:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the conceptual framework

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19-related rent concessions
beyond 30 June 2021

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, plant and equipment:
proceeds before intended use

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous contracts — cost of

fulfilling a contract

Annual Improvements to Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRSs 2018-2020 HKFRS 9, illustrative examples
accompanying HKFRS 16 and
HKAS 41

The application of the revised standards has had no material

impact on the consolidated financial statements.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

("HKFRSs") (Continued)

The Group has not early applied the following new and

revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet

effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28 (2011)

Amendments to HKFRS 16

HKFRS 17 and amendments

to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1
and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its

associate or joint venture®

Lease liability in a sale and
leaseback?

Insurance contracts®

Initial application of HKFRS 17 and
HKFRS 9 — comparative
information®

Classification of liabilities as current
or non-current
(the "2020 Amendments”) and
non-current liabilities with
covenants
(the “2022 Amendments”) *

Disclosure of accounting policies'

Definition of accounting estimates'

Deferred tax related to assets and

liabilities arising from a single

transaction’
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2.

APPLICATION OF NEW AND REVISED HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(“HKFRSs") (Continued)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

a Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.

As a consequence of the 2022 Amendments, the effective date of the
2020 Amendments was deferred to annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2024. In addition, as a consequence of the 2020 Amendments
and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of
financial statements — classification by the borrower of a term loan that
contains a repayment on demand clause was revised to align the

corresponding wording with no change in conclusion.

2 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in October
2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary exemption that
permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than HKFRS 9 for annual
periods beginning before 1 January 2023.

® An entity that chooses to apply the transition option relating to the
classification overlay set out in this amendment shall apply it on initial
application of HKFRS 17.

The Directors do not anticipate that the application of new
and revised HKFRSs and Interpretations will have material

impact on the consolidated financial statements of the Group.

THE CHANGE OF ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

After considering the Group's actual usage of the mining
rights for aggregates mining and with reference to the
amortization methods of other comparable cement
companies, the Group decided to adjust the amortization
method of mining rights for aggregates mining from the
straight-line method to the production method which was

adopted from 1 January 2022 onwards.

The Group applied prospective application to account for the
changes in accounting estimate. After measurement based
on the scope of the existing consolidated financial
statements, the change in accounting estimate is expected to
lower down the amortization expenses by HK$524,920,000 for
the year 2022.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition,
the consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and
by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis, except for investment property,
equity investment designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income and certain trade receivables, which
have been measured at fair value, as explained in the

accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the

consideration given in exchange for goods.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2, leasing transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 16, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as
net realizable value in HKAS 2 or value in use in HKAS 36.



e ISR R MR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

S ——
BEREBUER (8)
N MM B E2EHRMNE A EEETZ
REQAFEETENRE ASIE ] HEE
EERAFEENENHASIBEHEER
HNEEUSEAFE—  F_HNE=M
SEIBIT

s FABAREBREBEREING
EREGHHRERNEEXRER
AT SR RIE CRFE)

s FEBABEBEATEEF AR
EBONEEXB BN EEKREZS
FHBARE &

s FZABABEB/EEXRENT
AERHABIR -

REEE

REMBRERAGAQR RENE QR R
HAfE bl BERNM BRI GEAAR - B
AR H IR LA T 1B 0B AR A BUAS 45
& :

o HHWIRERAITEES

e  HAKBELEFRER TE’]—J JEk:
RAX RS EGEM

o  BRENTEENAZEHEOR -
W= E MIERBRIA LA =615
5R1E1T-Ejztxj:ﬁfﬁ'ﬁ CAEEE

TLEE BHIRE R RMIEHEIEER
*ﬁa¥1$°

REAMBEBIHEN —HHREB AR
WARERBASERSESE AL
AFAGAEZEKRAER  EEAKETE
ZHIZMB AR 2 BARIE

4.

F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorized into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as

follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity

can access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset

or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

o Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the
financial statements of the Company and entities controlled
by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved

when the Company:

O has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and

o has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to

one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the

subsidiary.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to the
owners of the Company and to the non-controlling interests
even if this results in the non-controlling interests having a

deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies

in line with those used by other members of the Group.

All intra-group transactions, balances, income and expenses

are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in subsidiaries
that do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of
equity and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect
the changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries,
including re-attribution of relevant reserves between the
Group and the non-controlled interests according to the
Group's and the non-controlling interests’ proportionate

interests.
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F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries (Continued)

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the assets and
liabilities of that subsidiary and non-controlling interests (if
any) are derecognized. A gain or loss is recognized in profit or
loss and is calculated as the difference between (i) the
aggregate of the fair value of the consideration received and
the fair value of any retained interest and (ii) the previous
carrying amount of the assets (including goodwill), and
liabilities of the subsidiary and any non-controlling interests.
All amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive
income in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for as if
the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or
liabilities of the subsidiary (i.e. reclassified to profit or loss or
transferred to another category of equity as specified/
permitted by applicable HKFRSs). The fair value of any
investment retained in the former subsidiary at the date when
control is lost is regarded as the fair value on initial
recognition for subsequent accounting under HKFRS 9 or,
when applicable, the cost on initial recognition of an

investment in an associate or a joint venture.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a
business combination is measured at fair value, which is
calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the
assets transferred to the Group, liabilities incurred by the
Group to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity
interests issued by the Group in exchange for control of the
acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are generally recognized

in profit or loss as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when
the acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and
a substantive process that together significantly contribute to

the ability to create outputs.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognized at their fair value,
except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognized and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
“Income taxes” and HKAS 19 “Employee benefits”

respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to
replace share-based payment arrangements of the
acquiree are measured in accordance with HKFRS 2

“Share-based payment” at the acquisition date; and

. assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held for
sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 “Non-current assets
held for sale and discontinued operations” are

measured in accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the
liabilities assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-
assessment, the net amount of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is
recognized immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase

gain.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the
entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation may be initially
measured either at fair value or at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognized amounts of
the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. The choice of
measurement basis is made on a transaction-by-transaction

basis.

If the initial accounting for a business combination is
incomplete by the end of the reporting period in which the
combination occurs, the Group reports provisional amounts
for the items for which the accounting is incomplete. Those
provisional amounts are adjusted during the measurement
period, and additional assets or liabilities are recognized, to
reflect new information obtained about facts and
circumstances that existed at the acquisition date that, if
known, would have affected the amounts recognized at that
date.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at

cost less accumulated impairment losses, if any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of
cash-generating units) that is expected to benefit from the

synergies of the combination.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Goodwill (Continued)

A cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
is tested for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is an indication that the unit may be impaired. For
goodwill arising on an acquisition in a reporting period, the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated is
tested for impairment before the end of that reporting
period. If the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit
is less than its carrying amount, the impairment loss is
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill
and then to the other assets of the unit on a pro-rata basis
based on the carrying amount of each asset in the unit. Any
impairment loss for goodwill is recognized directly in profit or
loss. An impairment loss recognized for goodwill is not

reversed in subsequent periods.

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the
attributable amount of goodwill is included in the

determination of the amount of profit or loss on disposal.

Fixed assets

Fixed assets including land and buildings held for use in the
production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress
as described below) are stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position at cost less accumulated depreciation

and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress including fixed assets in the course
of construction for production, supply or administrative
purposes are carried at cost, less any recognized impairment
loss. Construction in progress is classified to the appropriate
categories of fixed asset when completed and ready for
intended use. Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis
as other property assets, commences when the assets are

ready for their intended use.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Fixed assets (Continued)

Depreciation is recognized so as to write off the cost of items
of fixed assets other than construction in progress less their
residual values over their estimated useful lives, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives, residual
values and depreciation method are reviewed at the end of
each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in
estimate accounted for on a prospective basis. The estimated
useful lives of fixed assets other than construction in progress

are as follows:

Land and buildings

Plant and machinery

Over the unexpired lease terms
3to 40 years

10 to 40 years

3 to 35 years

Logistics equipment
Others

An item of fixed assets is derecognized upon disposal or
when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the
disposal or retirement of an item of fixed assets is determined
as the difference between the sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or loss.

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/

or for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are measured at their fair
values. Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value
of investment property are included in profit or loss for the

period in which they arise.

An investment property is derecognized upon disposal or
when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from
use and no future economic benefits are expected from its
disposals. Any gain or loss arising on derecognition of the
property (calculated as the difference between the net
disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is
included in the profit or loss in the period in which the item is

derecognized.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Mining rights

Mining rights acquired separately or acquired in a business
combination and with finite useful lives are carried at costs
and at their fair value at the acquisition date, respectively, less
accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment
losses. Amortization for mining rights of limestone, which
have finite useful lives, is recognized on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives. And amortization for the
mining rights of aggregates is recognized on the production
method from 1 January 2022. The estimated useful life and
amortization method are reviewed at the end of each
reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate

being accounted for on a prospective basis.

A mining right is derecognized on disposal, or when no future
economic benefits are expected from use or disposal. Gain or
loss arising from derecognition of mining right is measured at
the difference between the net disposal proceed and the
carrying amount of the asset and is recognized in profit or

loss in the period when the asset is derecognized.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee

but is not control or joint control over those policies.

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement,
which exists only when decisions about the relevant activities

require unanimous consent of the parties sharing control.
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F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The results and assets and liabilities of associates and joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The
financial statements of associates and joint ventures used for
equity accounting purposes are prepared using uniform
accounting policies as those of the Group for like transactions
and events in similar circumstances. Under the equity method,
an investment in an associate or a joint venture is initially
recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognize the Group's
share of the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate or joint venture. Changes in net assets of the
associate or joint venture other than profit or loss and other
comprehensive income are not accounted for unless such
changes resulted in changes in ownership interest held by the
Group. When the Group's share of losses of an associate or
joint venture exceeds the Group's interest in that associate or
joint venture (which includes any long-term interests that, in
substance, form part of the Group’s net investment in the
associate or joint venture), the Group discontinues
recognizing its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognized only to the extent that the Group has incurred
legal or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf

of the associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the
investee becomes an associate or a joint venture. On
acquisition of the investment in an associate or a joint
venture, any excess of the cost of the investment over the
Group's share of the net fair value of the identifiable assets
and liabilities of the investee is recognized as goodwill, which
is included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any
excess of the Group's share of the net fair value of the
identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of the
investment, after reassessment, is recognized immediately in

profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method from
the date when the investment ceases to be an associate or a
joint venture, or when the investment is classified as held for
sale. When the Group retains an interest in the former
associate or joint venture and the retained interest is a
financial asset, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition in accordance with HKFRS 9. The
difference between the carrying amount of the associate or
joint venture at the date the equity method was discontinued,
and the fair value of any retained interest and any proceeds
from disposing of a part interest in the associate or joint
venture is included in the determination of the gain or loss on
disposal of the associate or joint venture. In addition, the
Group accounts for all amounts previously recognized in
other comprehensive income in relation to that associate or
joint venture on the same basis as would be required if that
associate or joint venture had directly disposed of the related
assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss previously
recognized in other comprehensive income by that associate
or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss on the
disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal or partial disposal

of the relevant associate or joint venture.

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no re-measurement to fair

value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate or a joint venture but the Group continues to use
the equity method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognized in other comprehensive income relating to that
reduction in ownership interest if that gain or loss would be
reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of the related

assets or liabilities.
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F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Investments in associates and joint ventures
(Continued)

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint
venture of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate or joint venture are recognized
in the Group's consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate or joint venture that are

not related to the Group.

Impairment (other than goodwill)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its tangible and intangible assets to
determine whether there is any indication that those assets
have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to

determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of
an individual asset, the Group estimates the recoverable
amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs. Where a reasonable and consistent basis of
allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also
allocated to individual cash-generating units, or otherwise
they are allocated to the smallest group of cash-generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation basis
can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific
to the asset (or a cash generating unit) for which the estimates

of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment (other than goodwill) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. In allocating the
impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of its fair
value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if
determinable) and zero. The amount of the impairment loss
that would otherwise have been allocated to the asset is
allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An

impairment loss is recognized immediately in profit or loss.

When an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased to
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognized for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized

immediately in profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable
value. Cost of inventories are determined using the weighted
average method. Net realizable value represents the
estimated selling price for inventories less all estimated costs

of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.
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F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognized when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or

services.

(a) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognized at the
point in time when control of the asset is transferred to
the customer, generally on acceptance of the goods by

customers.

(b)  Provision of services

Revenue from the provision of services is recognized
over the scheduled period on a straight-line basis
because the customer simultaneously receives and

consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognized on a time proportion basis over

the lease terms.

Interest income is recognized on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the
expected life of the financial instrument or a shorter period,
when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial

asset.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or
services to a customer for which the Group has received a
consideration (or an amount of consideration that is due) from
the customer. If a customer pays the consideration before the
Group transfers goods or services to the customer, a contract
liability is recognized when the payment is made or the
payment is due (whichever is earlier). Contract liabilities are
recognized as revenue when the Group performs under the

contract.

The Group's contract liabilities are recognized as deposits

from customers which is included in other payables.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are
assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of
those assets until such time as the assets are substantially

ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for

capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in profit or loss in

the period in which they are incurred.
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F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently

payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from “profit before taxation” as
reported in the consolidated statement of comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that
are taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes
items that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax is recognized on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
base used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognized for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognized for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilized. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized if the
temporary difference arises from goodwill or from the initial
recognition (other than in a business combination) of assets
and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither the taxable
profit nor the accounting profit. In addition, deferred tax
liabilities are not recognized if the temporary difference arises

from internal recognition of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognized for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences associated with such
investments are only recognized to the extent that it is
probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits against
which to utilize the benefits of the temporary differences and

they are expected to reverse in the foreseeable future.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be

available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realized, based on tax rates
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period. The
measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects the
tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to
recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and

liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax liabilities and
deferred tax assets for investment properties that are
measured using the fair value model, the carrying amounts of
such properties are presumed to be recovered entirely
through sale, unless the presumption is rebutted. The
presumption is rebutted when the investment property is
depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all of the economic
benefits embodied in the investment property over time,

rather than through sale.

Current and deferred tax are recognized in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case, the
current and deferred tax are also recognized in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively.
Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is

included in the accounting for the business combination.
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F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognized until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be

received.

Government grants are recognized in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognizes as expenses the related costs for which the grants
are intended to compensate. Specifically, government grants
whose primary condition is that the Group should purchase,
construct or otherwise acquire non-current assets are
recognized as a deduction from the carrying amount of the
relevant asset in the consolidated statement of financial
position and transferred to profit or loss on a systematic and

rational basis over the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no
future related costs are recognized in profit or loss in the

period in which they become receivable.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of each reporting period, monetary items
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the
rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items carried at
fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are

not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are

recognized in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e.
Hong Kong dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the
end of the reporting period, and their income and expenses
are translated at the average exchange rates for the year,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the year,
in which case, the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any, are
recognized in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve (attributed

to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on acquisitions of group entities are treated
as assets and liabilities of that group entities and retranslated
at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end of each
reporting period. Exchange differences arising are recognized

in other comprehensive income.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified

asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The
Group recognizes lease liabilities to make lease payments
and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the

underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a
lease component and non-lease components, the Group
adopts the practical expedient not to separate non-lease
components and to account for the lease component and the
associated non-lease components as a single lease

component.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessee (Continued)
(a)  Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognized at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets
are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognized, initial direct costs incurred, and
lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful lives

of the assets as follows:

Land and buildings Over the lease terms plus

extension option period

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group
by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the
exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated

using the estimated useful life of the asset.

(b) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognized at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease payments
to be made over the lease term. The lease payments
include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable, variable
lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value
guarantees. The lease payments also include the
exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain
to be exercised by the Group and payments of penalties
for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate. The variable
lease payments that do not depend on an index or a
rate are recognized as an expense in the period in which

the event or condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit
in the lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease liabilities is
increased to reflect the accretion of interest and
reduced for the lease payments made. In addition, the
carrying amount of lease liabilities is remeasured if there
is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change
in lease payments (e.g., a change to future lease
payments resulting from a change in an index or a rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the

underlying asset.

The Group’s lease liabilities are included in other

payables and other long term payables.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option). It also applies the recognition exemption for
leases of low-value assets to leases that are considered

to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognized as an expense on a straight-

line basis over the lease term.
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F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as

either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted
for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is
included in revenue in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of the
leased asset and recognized over the lease term on the same
basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognized as

revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortized cost, fair value through
other comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or

loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not adjusting
the effect of a significant financing component, the Group
initially measures a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the
case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Trade receivables are measured at the
transaction price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance

with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition” above.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortized cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount

outstanding.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to
generate cash flows. The business model determines whether
cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows,
selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortized cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in order to
collect contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the objective of
both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling.
Financial assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair value

through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognized on a trade date basis. Regular way purchases or
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the time frame established by

regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on

their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortized cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortized cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognized in profit or loss

when the asset is derecognized, modified or impaired.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign exchange
revaluation and impairment losses or reversals are recognized
in profit or loss and computed in the same manner as for
financial assets measured at amortized cost. The remaining
fair value changes are recognized in other comprehensive
income. Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value
change recognized in other comprehensive income is

recycled to profit or loss.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for
trading. The classification is determined on an instrument-by-

instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
Dividends are recognized as other income in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to
the Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured
reliably, except when the Group benefits from such proceeds
as a recovery of part of the cost of the financial asset, in which
case, such gains are recorded in other comprehensive
income. Equity investments designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income are not subject to impairment

assessment.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognizes an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract
and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive,
discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows
from the sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements

that are integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognized in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the
next 12 months (a 12 month ECL). For those credit exposures
for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit
losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure,

irrespective of the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the
credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly
since initial recognition. When making the assessment, the
Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,

including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group may consider a financial asset to be in default
when internal or external information indicates that the Group
is unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in
full before taking into account any credit enhancements held
by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash

flows.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortized cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement of
ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the simplified
approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 —  Financial instruments for which credit risk has
not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to 12 month
ECLs

Stage 2—  Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3—  Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the practical
expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group applies the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognizes a
loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is based on
its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-
looking factors specific to the debtors and the economic

environment.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognizes a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset in its entirety, the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the sum
of the consideration received and receivable is recognized in

profit or loss.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans
and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as

hedging instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of

directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables, loans from an intermediate holding company, loans
from non-controlling shareholders, bank loans and other long
term payables.

Subsequent measurement
Financial liabilities at amortized cost

After initial recognition, bank loans are subsequently
measured at amortized cost, using the effective interest rate
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial,
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognized in profit or loss when the liabilities are
derecognized as well as through the effective interest rate

amortization process.

Amortized cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortization is included in finance costs in profit
or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognizes financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group's obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid

and payable is recognized in profit or loss.

Provision

A provision is recognized when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be

made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognized for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to
be required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the consolidated statement

of comprehensive income.

Provisions for the Group’s obligations for environmental
restoration are based on estimates of required expenditure at
the mines in accordance with the rules and regulations of the
PRC. The obligation generally arises when the asset is
installed or the ground environment is disturbed at the
production location. The Group estimates its liabilities for
final environmental restoration and mine closure based upon
detailed calculations of the amount and timing of the future
cash expenditures to perform the required work. Spending
estimates are escalated for inflation, then discounted at a
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the
time value of money and the risks specific to the liability such
that the amount of provision reflects the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The Group uses its incremental borrowing rate as
the discount rate. When the liability is initially recognized in
other long term payables, the present value of the estimated
cost is capitalized by increasing the carrying amount of the

mining rights.
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Provision (Continued)

Over time, the discounted liability is increased for the change
in the present value based on the appropriate discount rate.
The periodic unwinding of the discount is recognized within
finance costs in profit or loss. The asset is amortized using the
straight-line method over its expected life and the liability is
accreted to the projected expenditure date. Additional
disturbances or changes in estimates (such as mine plan
revisions, changes in estimated costs, or changes in timing of
the performance of reclamation activities) will be recognized
as additions or charges to the corresponding assets and
environmental restoration liabilities when they occur at the

appropriate discount rate.

Employee benefits

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans,
government-managed retirement benefit schemes and the
Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme are recognized as an
expense when employees have rendered services entitling

them to the contributions.

Provisions for other employee benefits are recognized when
the Group has a present obligation to provide such benefits
to its employees and are measured at the Directors’ best
estimate of the future obligations discounted to their present

value where the effect is material.
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KEY SOURCES OF JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

Significant judgement in determining the lease term
of contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension
and termination options. The Group applies judgement in
evaluating whether or not to exercise the option to renew or
terminate the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors
that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the
renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the
Group reassesses the lease term if there is a significant event
or change in circumstances that is within its control and
affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the option to

renew or to terminate.

Estimated impairment of goodwiill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an
estimation of the value in use of the CGUs to which goodwill
has been allocated. The value in use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the CGUs and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. The estimation uncertainty mainly

included gross margin, discount rate and growth rate.

As at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of
goodwill were HK$2,474,570,000 and HK$1,321,665,000,
respectively. Details of the of the recoverable amount

calculation are disclosed in Note 21.

Deferred tax assets

The realizability of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient future profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future. In cases where the
actual future profits generated are less than or more than
expected, a reversal or a recognition of deferred tax assets
would be recognized in profit or loss in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income for the year in which
such a reversal or recognition takes place. As at 31 December
2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of deferred tax assets
were HK$881,164,000 and HK$535,391,000, respectively (see
Note 24).
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

KEY SOURCES OF JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on the aging days
for groupings of various customer segments that have similar
loss patterns (i.e., by geography, product type, customer type
and rating).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-
looking information. For instance, if forecast economic
conditions (i.e., GDP) are expected to deteriorate over the
next year which can lead to an increased number of defaults
in the manufacturing sector, the historical default rates are
adjusted. At each reporting date, the historical observed
default rates are updated and changes in the forward-looking

estimates are analyzed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to
changes in circumstances and forecast economic conditions.
The Group's historical credit loss experience and forecast of
economic conditions may also not be representative of
customer’s actual default in the future. The information about
the ECLs on the Group's trade receivables is disclosed in
Note 28 to the financial statements. The changes in ECLs
resulted from the changes in the historical observed default
rates and forecast economic conditions as at 31 December
2022 have had no significant impact on the profit or loss. As
at 31 December 2022 and 2021, the carrying amounts of trade
receivables were HK$2,900,660,000 (net of allowance for
doubtful debts of HK$690,436,000) and HK$4,793,437,000 (net
of allowance for doubtful debts of HK$467,579,000),
respectively.
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KEY SOURCES OF JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Estimated impairment of fixed assets

The carrying amounts of fixed assets are assessed for
impairment when facts and circumstances suggest that the
carrying amounts of the fixed assets may exceed their
recoverable amounts. The Group’s determination as to
whether the fixed assets are impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the assets. The Directors
exercise their judgement in estimating the recoverable
amount. Where the recoverable amount is less than expected,
a material impairment loss may arise. The Directors
conducted a review of the Group's production assets and
determined that during the year ended 31 December 2022,
no impairment loss (2021: Nil) has been recognized in respect

of those fixed assets (see Note 16).

Provision for environmental restoration

Provision for environmental restoration is based on estimates
of future expenditures incurred by management to undertake
environmental restoration work which are discounted at a rate
reflecting the term and nature of the obligation to their
present value. Significant estimates and assumptions are
made in determining the provision for environmental
restoration as there are numerous factors that will affect the
ultimate liability payable. These factors include estimates of
the extent and costs of environmental restoration activities,
technological changes, regulatory changes, cost increases
and changes in the discount rate. Those uncertainties may
result in future actual expenditures differing from the amounts
currently provided. The provision at the end of the reporting
period represents management'’s best estimate of the present
value of the future environmental restoration costs required.
Changes to estimated future costs are recognized in the
consolidated statement of financial position by adjusting the
environmental restoration asset and liability. The carrying
amount of provision for environmental restoration as at 31
December 2022 was HK$589,971,000 (2021: HK$512,027,000)
(see Note 37).
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

6.

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Segment information has been identified on the basis of
different products in internal management reports which are
prepared in accordance with accounting policies conformed
with HKFRSs, that are regularly reviewed by the chief
executive officer in order to allocate resources to the

operating segments and to assess their performance.

The Group's operating and reportable segments are as

follows:

Cement — manufacture and sale of cement and related

products

Concrete — manufacture and sale of concrete and related

products

Turnover represents the amounts received and receivable for

goods sold to outside customers.

Segment results represent the profits earned by each
segment without allocation of central administration costs,
Directors’ salaries, share of results of associates and joint
ventures, interest income, finance costs and exchange

differences.

All of the revenue in cement segment and concrete segment
are from sale of goods, which are recognized when the goods
are transferred at a point in time. The performance obligation

is satisfied upon delivery of goods.
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BE_Z_—_F+-A=1+—HLFE

TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

The information of the segment results is as follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2022

K ERt EIEc Fobc]
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
TET TET TET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EEE — 2 HkE TURNOVER — SEGMENT
REVENUE
HINHE External sales 26,918,194 5,300,413 - 32,218,607
PERZ EHE Inter-segment sales 707,165 2,819 (709,984) -
27,625,359 5,303,232 (709,984) 32,218,607

7 EBZ B H & TR T

NEEE
FEWA
I SRR
HHERM
RDOEDRFRA

BT R

BIHEER
pss)
m

BRI A B A

NSIES

|z

SR -

RESULTS
Segment results

Interest income

Exchange loss

Finance costs

Unallocated net corporate

income

Share of results of associates

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

2,604,336

19,743

- 2,624,079

Share of results of joint ventures

Profit before taxation

118,173
(61,769)
(349,693)

7,673
15,232
(71,251)

2,282,444

TECCFFR
Annual Report 2022

201



e UBRERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZT-__F+-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

6.

202

EEBENRDBER (&) 6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

HE-2-—FT-A=1+—AILFE

For the year ended 31 December 2021

K R Eapic! Rk
Cement Concrete Elimination Total
FHT T T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
EEE — 2 HkE TURNOVER — SEGMENT
REVENUE
HINHE External sales 36,137,083 7,825,625 = 43,962,708
AEp > BEsleE Inter-segment sales 1,315,837 1,465 (1,317,302) =
37,452,920 7,827,090 (1,317,302) 43,962,708

DEB 2 EHE NIRRT IS ERAE

442,746

ES RESULTS
DEEE Segment results 9,695,323
A Interest income
B 5 s Exchange gain
BBER Finance costs
bVl WNEINE Unallocated net corporate
expenses
NG Share of results of associates
(NN E Share of results of joint ventures
Brii AT & A Profit before taxation

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Inter-segment sales are charged at prevailing market prices.

10,138,069

166,659
19,015
(231,693)

(490,103)
371,523
317,627

10,291,097
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6. TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information of segment assets and segment liabilities is as

follows:

R+=A=+—H
As at 31 December
—E-= T —F
2022 2021
THET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
BE Assets
DEVEE Segment assets
— KB — Cement 55,399,530 50,402,455
— BT — Concrete 8,936,063 6,643,885
64,335,593 57,046,340
B E R B Interests in associates 6,304,386 6,754,993
REERBRELRE Interests in joint ventures 2,070,095 2,793,146
B IBEE Deferred tax assets 881,164 535,391
AR IE Taxation recoverable 83,814 21,368
RABAREE (7Fa) Unallocated corporate assets (note a) 6,938,711 11,998,002
e BEMETE Consolidated total assets 80,613,763 79,149,240
aE Liabilities
NDEEE Segment liabilities
— IKJE — Cement 9,052,664 7,439,188
— RET — Concrete 2,591,031 2,853,637
11,643,695 10,292,825
FIEFIAAE Deferred tax liabilities 481,937 424,082
H’éﬁﬁlﬁ Taxation payable 242,427 909,656
Ao ARIAE(Fb) Unallocated corporate liabilities (note b) 17,405,436 11,881,330
SEBEERE Consolidated total liabilities 29,773,495 23,507,893
7 notes:
a. FOMATIEERE S RFTES DG a. Unallocated corporate assets represent cash and bank balances,
RITES - FALATNBR R @I EE - pledged bank deposits, loans to joint ventures and assets of the
headquarters.
b. KAOMATBBIERTES - ke —xE b. Unallocated corporate liabilities represent bank loans, loans from an
ERATIHES  KEEERRENERR intermediate holding company, loans from non-controlling shareholders

BEREMEN IR - BRIRITEF - KB
—REEERDRNERERE AR
ME SRR ARSI S IMPIETEE - Bz
EFBEND AARDERARAME -

and other payables of the headquarters. The bank loans, loans from an
intermediate holding company and loans from non-controlling
shareholders are classified as unallocated corporate liabilities because

they are managed centrally by the treasury function of the Group.
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TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(Continued)

Other segment information

For the year ended 31 December 2022

Xfe BE L REEE mEHE
Corporate Consolidated
Cement Concrete level total
THET THET THET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ANEETEE Additions to fixed assets 4,668,288 689,247 16,511 5,374,046
FRREHELE N Additions to mining rights 4,099,664 - - 4,099,664
EREEEEM Additions to right-of-use assets 925,846 57,916 20,552 1,004,314
BEEER& (Decrease) increase in
OR300 deposits for acquisition of
assets (69,883) 2,886 (264,503) (331,500)
R e 8 Amortization of mining rights 262,506 2,174 - 264,680
RIZERAB I Allowance for doubtful debts 4,222 276,998 - 281,220
Hib W kI REEER (Reversal of allowance)
(IR EE allowance for doubtful
debts of other receivables (2,257) 222 (1,342) (3,377)
BEEEENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,861,838 187,745 255 2,049,838
EREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use
assets 144,903 50,385 29,517 224,805
HERTEE (Gain) loss on disposal of
(Yezn) B518 fixed assets (11,353) 655 (377) (11,075)
HEFREEER  Gain on disposal of
right-of-use assets (8,693) - - (8,693)
FRRERD Reversal of impairment of
inventories (461) - - (461)

ERKRERERAT
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F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022
TURNOVER AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2021

KR R AREE fRE 1R
Corporate  Consolidated
Cement Concrete level total
FET FET FET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
ANEBETEE Additions to fixed assets 1,254,281 483,473 124 1,737,878
Rt N Additions to mining rights 7,619,281 - - 7,619,281
FREEEL Additions to right-of-use assets 625,599 121,946 1,472 749,017
BEESE® (Decrease) increase in
ORiA) 12 deposits for acquisition of
assets (624,626) 102,998 941,163 419,535
BRTE R Y Amortization of mining right 378,519 - - 378,519
RIZERABI Allowance for doubtful debts 12,495 121,834 = 134,329
Hib el sRIB REEER (Reversal of allowance)
(IR E) EER allowance for doubtful
debts of other receivables (21,313 21,289 (202) (226)
BETBENE Depreciation of fixed assets 1,849,258 138,048 224 1,987,530
EREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use
assets 102,719 41,465 23,600 167,784
HEBTEERE Loss (gain) on disposal of
(Yezz) fixed assets 28,662 (8,096) (2,257) 18,309
HEFREEER  Gain on disposal of
right-of-use assets (14,235) (13,072 = (27,307)
& R 5k Gain on disposal of mining
rights - (17,033) - (17,033)
FERERED Reversal of impairment of
inventories (2,428) - - (2,428)
BEMENFEEZE Gain on change in fair value
= ER R of an investment property - (10,000) - (10,000)
ERETEEFNES Information about major customers

Rz MIESFE R - AN & B8 HE R P &
HERGIEBBAEEHELTEN10%

i EE R

AEBORERARIERBEEELERN

KA B A R &

No sales to an individual customer contributed over 10% of

the total sales of the Group for both years.

Geographical information

All revenue and non-current assets of the Group are arisen in

and located in the Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong.
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HAWA 7. OTHER INCOME
—ZE—= —E—fF
2022 2021
THET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT 288 () Government incentives
(note) 96,194 86,506
FEMA Interest income 118,173 166,659
& H AR R B Sales of other materials and
scrap 508,315 219,304
HE WA Rental income 45,124 58,787
KB R R B (E Compensation received from
insurance 3,029 6,959
REHERREF R EEE Compensation received from
suppliers and customers 39,255 37,346
& EE B E K Gain on disposal of fixed
assets 11,075 -
HEEAREEE WS Gain on disposal of right-of-
use assets 8,693 27,307
SRR Y e Gain on disposal of mining
rights - 17,033
Be B MY B A Al as Gain on disposal of
subsidiaries 239,072 -
BRE—RKAERRNE Gain on disposal of a joint
venture 18,158 —
Hitp Others 103,453 115,019
1,190,541 734,920

i BRRBEZ2EMIBFORY &

ERKRERERAT

BB

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

note: Government incentives mainly represented tax refunds, operating

subsidies and energy reduction incentives from local governments.
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B%EH 8. FINANCE COSTS
—E=E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FHET FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
ATBIEHFE Interests on:
IRITERREERTRHEE Bank loans and unsecured
medium term notes 375,952 193,084
RE—REEZERATHOERK Loans from an
intermediate holding
company 15,474 4,208
KB FEER R E R Loans from non-controlling
shareholders 11,262 1,737
RIREI1ERE Provision for
environmental
restoration 28,539 20,902
HEAE Lease liabilities 11,016 11,762
442,243 231,693
B EERNMEAEEEEN SRR Less: Amount capitalized to
fixed assets (92,550) =
349,693 231,693
“EFFR
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For the year ended 31 December 2022

BRBL AT & F PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
—E=-C —E—F
2022 2021
THET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
R AT &AM 2 (Gt A) Profit before taxation has
AT&IR : been arrived at after
charging (crediting):
EEME (et 10) Directors’ emoluments
(Note 10) 5,686 14,580
BT (TERERES)RREKEAR Pension costs and mandatory
SR FlE AR R provident fund
contributions for staff,
excluding Directors 312,173 327,427
Hh 8 TR Other staff costs 3,267,604 3,912,737
BT A48 Total staff costs 3,585,463 4,254,744
RIZEREIK Allowance for doubtful debts 281,220 134,329
H i FE U R IE R A BR A K Bl Reversal of allowance for
doubtful debts of other
receivables (3,377) (226)
B i 5 Amortization of mining rights 264,680 378,519
1% B BT 25 B Auditor’s remuneration 8,438 5,580
BEBEE Depreciation of fixed assets 2,049,838 1,987,530
EREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use
assets 224,805 167,784
FERER D Reversal of impairment of
inventories (461) (2,428)
HERBRTEEE (W) Eia (Gain) loss on disposal of
fixed assets (11,075) 18,309
HEEBEEERS Gain on disposal of right-of-
use assets (8,693) (27,307)
HE SRR Y e Gain on disposal of mining
rights - (17,033)
BEMWB AR (U BB (Gain) loss on disposal of
subsidiaries (239,072) 6,688
BE—RaERrNE Gain on disposal of a joint
venture (18,158) =
% EAMEE TR Short term lease payments 23,940 20,974
AR = Variable lease payments
— AEE — motor vehicles 513,861 680,362

ERKRERERAT
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10. EEME 10. DIRECTORS’' EMOLUMENTS
BE-E--—F+-A=+—BHLEE For the year ended 31 December 2022
BREHA
gkt
EsHe HFEREH AREHR WAL @t
Pension
costs and
mandatory
Salaries provident
Directors’ and fund  Discretionary
EERA Name of Director fees allowances  contributions bonus Total
TR TR TR TR TR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HITEE Executive Director
aRa JI Youhong - 1,756 223 2,317 4,296
HHTEE Non-executive Directors
REH LI Fuli* - - - - -
K ZHU Ping - - , } -
FRER{— CHEN Kangren - - - - -
BR% YANG Changyi 229 - - - 229
et Sub-total 229 - - - 229
BUFHTEE Independent non-executive
Directors
EHE IP Shu Kwan Stephen 290 - - - 290
R SHEK Lai Him Abraham 290 - - - 290
S Eg ZENG Xuemin 290 - - - 290
RigE NG Kam Wah Webster” 148 - - - 148
MR LAM Chi Yuen Nelson** 143 - - - 143
NG Sub-total 1,161 - - - 1,161
1,390 1,756 223 2,317 5,686
e RZEZ_FHANHEHE - * Resigned with effect from 6 May 2022.
R-B-—FEXA-TNBEEE- A Appointed with effect from 29 June 2022.
b REZZBZZF AT NARE - = Resigned with effect from 29 June 2022.
TECFFR
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10. EEM < %) 10. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
BE T - —F+-_A=+—HItFE For the year ended 31 December 2021
RIS
R
EE ik e REh INEaS MiEEA st
Pension
costs and
mandatory
Salaries provident
Directors' and fund  Discretionary
EE Name of Director fees allowances  contributions bonus Total
THT T THT T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
HHTEF Non-executive Directors
RN LI Fuli - - - - _
KE ZHU Ping" - - - - _
BB CHEN Kangren” = = - - _
BERR YANG Changyi* = = - - -
[EREL ZHOU Longshan* - 907 - 5,639 6,546
BRIE ~ CHEN Ying* - - - - _
EB" WANG Yan* = = - - _
BB WAN Suet Fei* - - - _ _
St JING Shiging** - 159 23 - 182
gt Sub-total - 1,066 23 5639 6,728
HITEF Executive Director
HRE JI'Youhong - 1,660 195 4,837 6,692
BUFHTEE Independent non-executive
Directors
B IP Shu Kwan Stephen 290 = - - 290
JaL T SHEK Lai Him Abraham 290 - - - 290
L2 ZENG Xuemin 290 - - - 290
HEE LAM Chi Yuen Nelson 290 = - - 290
et Sub-total 1,160 = = = 1,160
1,160 2,726 218 10,476 14,580
B R-ZB-—F+A-+-AEZE- A Appointed with effect from 22 October 2021.
# RZZBEZ—FNA+=HRE- # Retired with effect from 13 August 2021.
* RZBZ—F+A=Z+=HEHE- 2 Resigned with effect from 22 October 2021.
5 RZEZ—FHATMARE - o Retired with effect from 14 May 2021.

ERKRERERAT
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10. EEME @)

11.

EXFRRATEENHEEBREEAE
MBI AR 7 R AR B B R R T
fi -

EXFIRBMERITESTNMEERRM
MEEEARRESHREM A

B S %

R-FB_—F AEE=FMEABRE
—H(CE-F WMBEF KEW
BB A X 10MHWER - It
TRAR=FMEANRTINA

F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

10. DIRECTORS' EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

11.

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid
for their services in connection with the management of the

affairs of the Company and the Group.

The emoluments of the independent non-executive directors
shown above were paid for their services as directors of the
Company.

EMPLOYEES' REMUNERATIONS

The five highest paid individuals in 2022 included one
Directors (2021: two) whose emoluments are included in the
disclosures in Note 10 above. Total remunerations paid to the

five highest paid individuals are:

—=E-= —E—F

2022 2021

THET FET

HK$'000 HK$'000

e KoEEh Salaries and allowances 7.124 6,231

BYIBTEAL Discretionary bonus 7,879 21,856
RAREHAFGRHIE R B R HRK Pension costs and mandatory

provident fund contributions 1,011 739

16,014 28,826

MENFHMNFLATEE :

Their remunerations were within the following bands:

=== B —F

2022 2021

2,500,001 7 7T £ 3,000,000 %5 7T HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 3 =
3,000,001 7 7T 2 3,500,000 7T HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 1 —
4,000,001 77T £ 4,500,000 7% 7T HK$4,000,001 to HK$4,500,000 1 -
4,500,001 7% 7T £ 5,000,000 7% 7T HK$4,500,001 to HK$5,000,000 - 1
5,000,001 7% 7T £ 5,500,000 7% 7T HK$5,000,001 to HK$5,500,000 - 1
5,500,001 7 7T 2 6,000,000 7% 7T HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 - 1
6,500,001 % 7T £ 7,000,000 75 7T HK$6,500,001 to HK$7,000,000 - 2
5 5

“EFFR
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12. Bi1E 12. TAXATION
—E=E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
THET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BUEAR 18 Current taxation
BBNEH Hong Kong Profits Tax 13,507 21,592
FR B R O ZE AT IS A Chinese Mainland Enterprise
Income Tax 986,868 2,834,116
1,000,375 2,855,708

212

RBEFEEERR
BENEH
R E A RS

BT IA (At 24)
)
RER

BB MG TR R E RS 5T R
LA 16.5% TR R E -

B Ay i 1 P AS B 4 P ME 6 TR AR
BEREAMEEERNERYKRER
5% EH TS - B5% T ERNHER
AR B TRHTIARIR 5% st BB P Bl it
B AR B RAEE - RBBER
DA HELER ©

R ASE BRI 6 R EEN B E R
M BERRESEA IR A AR
REEE - WP B RSB A BR
T —F+ - A=1+—HFRRNE
DIKRB AR EGDBRRZESE
38,969,950,000% jo( = T = — &
38,680,901,000 7% 7T, ) + I WA 4R E B 75
MR AURIER B B E/E L B -

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

Overprovision in prior years
Hong Kong Profits Tax (61) 97)
Chinese Mainland Enterprise

Income Tax (83,513)

(83,574)

(104,267)
(104,364)

Deferred taxation (Note 24)
Hong Kong 118 5,179

Chinese Mainland (497,134) (190,071)
(497,016) (184,892)
419,785 2,566,452

Hong Kong Profits Tax was calculated at 16.5% of the

estimated assessable profit for both years.

Chinese Mainland Enterprise Income Tax includes the income
tax calculated at 25% on the taxable income of the group
entities in the Chinese Mainland, the withholding tax
calculated at 5% on dividends in the Chinese Mainland, and
the deferred tax calculated at 5% on the intended distribution
profits from subsidiaries in the Chinese Mainland to a holding

company in Hong Kong, for both years.

No deferred tax liability has been provided for in the
consolidated financial statements in respect of the temporary
differences attributable to the undistributed retained profits
of HK$38,969,950,000 as at 31 December 2022 (2021:
HK$38,680,901,000) earned by the subsidiaries established in
the Chinese Mainland as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in the

foreseeable future.
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BiE () 12. TAXATION (Continued)
REE /A 2 AT B2 BR B AT 4R The charge for the year can be reconciled to the consolidated
R profit before taxation as follows:
—E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FET THIT
HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 A Z R Profit before taxation 2,282,444 10,291,097
L B A 1 FEFTAS A Tax at the Chinese Mainland
TR 2R 25% B FR Enterprise Income Tax rate

ETERARATBNERMEROHER
MR E

BT ERR AT TR
WA E

T B A B A R R IR
ReENRBTE

AERRG B RN G E

BB SRR RIS E R
MsEE

G ERREENRGEE

IR ERBEENRBTE

FEEAD BLARE R K R 8 A 7
M ARBEHTZE

DR B A B A R EA Y
BMGEE

DIk BERME SR E AN
s

RBEFERRERR
REZBIEF X

of 25% 570,611 2,572,774
Tax effect of expenses that

are not deductible in

determining taxable profit 12,897 21,855
Tax effect of income that is

not taxable in determining

taxable profit (119,315) (68,872)
Tax effect of tax exemptions

granted to certain Chinese

Mainland subsidiaries (22,292) (32,594)
Tax effect of tax losses not
recognized 123,252 64,947

Tax effect of utilization of tax

losses not previously

recognized (6,133) (2,272)
Tax effect of share of results

of associates (3,808) (92,881)
Tax effect of share of results

of joint ventures 17,813 (79,407)

Effect of different tax rates of

subsidiaries operating in

other jurisdictions (6,510) (14,184)
Tax effect of distributable

profits of Chinese

Mainland subsidiaries (66,093) 295,834
Tax effect of distributable

profits of Chinese

Mainland joint ventures 2,937 5,616
Overprovision in prior years (83,574) (104,364)

Taxation expense for the
year 419,785 2,566,452

TECCFFR
Annual Report 2022 213



e UBRERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EES

13.

214

ZEZFF+ZA=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

RKEFETE

BB A 2 EAKE N RE HFRK
sTEIR 2 e sl 2B st 8 (5261
NTEREE ] - REHFENRFEINE
ERBVERESERRE - fiFNE
BOAREEAFHFENBEEEN L RE
£ YRR 2EBRERTHR - B
B B EE=Z A ERDR U A LR
EASEOERK REREHK - L E
ERSENARGARWMR - _HI1ER
B3 THEERARENEELER
AEARES THESORIFA - A5H
REREEAMBHIERTESF BN -

AEEEPEANMNESEGENPEA
& B 77 R R B BT B AR IRTR
MET BB - AR B ZARRRREFRE
XN ITERE B LN ERERET
BEd ARBNZFETHE—RE
BXARERR - AEER B A
BEMERH2EAEEERETRNK
E&TE

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

13. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Employees in Hong Kong may be offered to participate in the
Group's defined contribution retirement schemes or to join
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF"). The assets
of the defined contribution retirement schemes are held
separately in independently administered funds. The amount
of contributions is based on a specified percentage of the
basic salaries of employees and is charged to the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Any
forfeited contributions in respect of unvested benefits of staff
leavers will be used to reduce the Group’s contributions.
There was no significant amount of unutilized forfeited
contributions at the end of each reporting period. The assets
under the MPF are held separately from those of the Group in
funds under the control of the trustee. The Group and each of

the employees make monthly contributions to the MPF.

The employees of the Group in the Chinese Mainland are
members of government-managed retirement benefit
schemes operated by the respective local government in the
Chinese Mainland. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of payroll cost to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the
Group with respect to these schemes is to make the specified
contributions. Employees of the Group in the Chinese
Mainland are also offered to participate in the Group's

defined contribution retirement schemes.
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14. BE

14. DIVIDENDS
—E=-C —FE—F
2022 2021
THET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
FADHEREDIRAMRE - Dividends recognized as
distribution during the
year:
R _FHRH—8R012ET 2022 Interim —
—T-—%F:8RKR02487T) HK$0.12 per share
(2021: HK$0.24 per share) 837,953 1,675,905
—E R —8K0.28BTT 2021 Final —
—EZTF - §R0.347E7T) HK$0.28 per share
(2020: HK$0.34 per share) 1,955,223 2,374,199
2,793,176 4,050,104

RBEBRE - BHE_T-_—_F+-A
=+ —HIEFERNRKRESFR0.009 7%
TEHEZZ—F+HA=1+—HLF
EER028IT) ERESEZRN -
BEREREERRBAFRE L&
% HO{EE - BEARTRAFRA
HERTROBBFENEZZARARE
4R 2B 62,846,000 JL( = F = — F:
1,955,223,000 7% 7T ) M B4R & BT IR0,
KAERAE—IBARG -

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2022 of HK$0.009
per share (HK$0.28 per share in respect of the year ended 31
December 2021) has been proposed by the Directors and is
subject to approval by the shareholders at the forthcoming
annual general meeting. The total amount of HK$62,846,000
(2021: HK$1,955,223,000) of the proposed final dividend,
calculated based on the Company’s number of shares issued
at the date of this annual report, is not recognized as a liability

in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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15. BREF 15. EARNINGS PER SHARE
ARG AEESFREREF THER The calculation of the basic earnings per share attributable to
AT EURETE A the owners of the Company is based on the following data:
—E-—F —E-—F
2022 2021
THET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
B Earnings
HERERBF M Z AR A Earnings attributable to the
BB ARLRN owners of the Company
for the purpose of basic
earnings per share 1,935,735 7,767,357
—E--F =
2022 2021
RGEE Number of shares
HERERR = K5 Weighted average number of
TS E shares for the purpose of

basic earnings per share 6,982,937,817  6,982,937,817

HRARRN BB ERRFTEES No diluted earnings per share is presented as the Company
Rt - M EZ 5 EREERA - did not have any potential ordinary shares outstanding.

216 EHAORERERD
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16. BEEE 16. FIXED ASSETS
THEREN  EERRE NRRE Aft EREIR #8
Land and Plant and Logistics Construction
buildings ~ machinery  equipment Others in progress Total

TAL TRL TAL TRL TAL TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

BA& CcosT
RZZ-—£-F—-8  AtlJanuary 2021 1433386 27,299,401 2232614 1,755,029 2184486 47807916
NE Additions 44,142 217,266 98,367 56,308 1,321,795 1,737,878
KB AR Acquisition of subsidiaries 360,361 207,363 1,521 5,303 1274 575,822
ERIRRIGER Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 410,398 530,509 - 40,448 (981,355) -
HE /e Disposals/written off (47,436) (263,893) (133,946) (27,074) (2.957) (475,306)
[EHA% Exchange adjustments 419,785 804,402 64,435 50,771 64,258 1,403,651
RZE--F At 31 December 2021
+-A=t+-H 15523636 28,795,048 2,262,991 1,880,785 2587501 51,049,961
NE Additions 9,532 397,283 37,668 187,247 4,742,316 5,374,046
NG Acquisition of subsidiaries 1,396,188 883,673 41515 8,613 114,635 2,444,624
FRIRAT AR Transfer upon completion of
construction in progress 1,148,816 1,157,028 - 35,709 (2,341,553) -
NE/ Wi Disposals/written off (37,743) (319,784) (87,419) (45,639) (6,074) (496,659)
LERBAR Disposal of subsidiaries (1,340,458) (954,628) (62,310) (13,021) (14,669 (2,385,086)
R R Exchange adjustments (1,239,689) (2,382,647) (183,458) (155,763) (218,312 (4,179,869)
R-E-—F At 31 December 2022
+-A=+-H 15,460,282 27,575973 2,008,987 1,897,931 4863844 51,807,017
ZAEERE ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION
AND IMPAIRMENT
RZZ-—E-F—F  At1January 2021 3,554,471 13473676 1,141,354 910,258 U300 19,322,779
FERZ Charge for the year 432,197 1,367,135 96,569 91,629 = 1,987,530
HE sk Disposals/written off (34,111) (216,789) (124,430) (22,49) (2424) (400,249)
EX AT Exchange adjustments 107,220 410473 31,998 27,010 7,108 583,809
RZEZ—F At 31 December 2021
+-A=1+-H 405,777 1503449 1,145,491 1,006,401 7704 21,493,869
EFRT Charge for the year 492793 1,396,042 75,082 85,921 = 2,049,838
ME/ W Disposals/written off (33,455) (307,800) (76,498) (40,218) (6,074) (464,045)
LERBAR Disposal of subsidiaries (358,853) (549,272) 41,720 (11,168) = (961,013)
Rk Exchange adjustments (319.859) (1,264,602 (90,122) (84217) (20762 (1,779,562
RZE-ZF At 31 December 2022
+-A=t+-H 3840403 14,308,864 1012233 956,719 220868 20,339,087
REE CARRYING VALUE
T S At 31 December 2022
+-A=t+-H 11619879 13,267,109 996,754 941,212 4642976 31,467930
R_E-—F At 31 December 2021
+-A=t+-H 11463859 13,760,552 1,117,500 874,384 239797 29,556,092
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16. BIEEE®) 16.
HthEERERAGMRBERASE

ERE -

FIXED ASSETS (Continued)

Others mainly comprise office furniture and equipment and

leasehold improvements.

T BEE--_ER_FE-_—F+-A=1+— note: During the year ended 31 December 2022 and 2021, the Directors
HIEFER  EFHASENEELEEE
TEZ EEVEME THEBEARNEER
RO EREE -

conducted a review of the Group's production assets and determined
that no impairment loss has been recognized in respect of the assets of

certain subsidiaries.

R_TE-_—F+-_A=1+—Hit A\E&
TiRMERN B A72,857,00078 T (=
T~ —4F 1 1,276,000/7T) °

Included in construction in progress at 31 December 2022 was
interest capitalized of HK$72,857,000 (2021: HK$1,276,000).

17. EREEE HEAE 17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES
(a) FEHEEE (@) Right-of-use assets
AREEFEREEENERAAEARFEAN The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets
BEINT - and the movements during the year are as follows:
T it BEY et
Land Buildings Total
FATT FH&T FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RZZE-—F—H—H Asat1January 2021 3,285,249 124,890 3,410,139
NE Additions 661,064 87,953 749,017
Uk BE BT BB A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 319,180 = 319,180
He Disposals (68,200) — (68,200)
AR EUBE A EIE A Revision of a lease term arising
EEhE AL MTERBET from a change in the non-
cancellable period of a lease (20,378) (128) (20,506)
FERZ Charge for the year (120,952) (46,832) (167,784)
b 5, A& Exchange adjustments 98,753 4,730 103,483
N_ZT=—F As at 31 December 2021
+=—A=+—H 4,154,716 170,613 4,325,329
NE Additions 660,079 344,235 1,004,314
Uk BE B B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 554,239 2,205 556,444
He Disposals (5,536) = (5,536)
HERB AT Disposal of subsidiaries (172,567) = (172,567)
NATBUATE R HARE &Y Revision of a lease term arising
BB EENHEREET from a change in the non-
cancellable period of a lease = (3,039) (3,039)
FERZ Charge for the year (163,441) (61,364) (224,805)
bE 5 R Exchange adjustments (339,839) (11,591) (351,430)
i S As at 31 December 2022
+=—A=+—H 4,687,651 441,059 5,128,710
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17. EREEE HEEG®) 17.

(b)

HERE

HBE R ENREE(GTAHERN
A R Bt R BB S OB RF A
BENINT -

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASE LIABILITIES
(Continued)

(b) Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under
other payables and other long term payables) and the

movements during the year are as follows:

—=2—_ —E-—F
2022 2021
THET FHBT
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEEER Balance at beginning of the year 223,322 220,248
RN Additions 123,880 260,137
Uk BE B BB A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 5,227 16,362
F B Interest expense 11,016 11,762
INEN Payments (90,792) (248,628)
TRIBUHTALO BRI S BEL  Revision of a lease term arising
A EAEET from a change in the non-cancellable
period of a lease (3,194) (33,578)
PE X % Exchange adjustments (15,013) (2,981)
FRELR Balance at end of the year 254,446 223,322
DR - Analyzed into:
BERER 5 (BfaE33) Current portion (Note 33) 78,132 57,876
FEBNERER S (BYaE37) Non-current portion (Note 37) 176,314 165,446
254,446 223,322

EAEENE R LATERENE
TEIRRMITE47 (D) R o

(c) The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in Note

47(b) to the financial statements.

S
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18. REYE

220

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTY

—E=E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
F&ET T
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FEEER Balance at beginning of
the year 130,000 120,000
NEEBEE Change in fair value - 10,000
FRER Balance at end of the year 130,000 130,000

AEERBEEROFTAURBESH
PrELHOEERES  NROBEARE
MERILIARENRAL -

REBRBEEREREME - R
T+ A=t+t—HERZZE=_—F
+—A=+—BHAFEENREHRE
AEEVEBENBYSEREEME
MBERITHRARNE BB BHNEE
BB -

RFEBEDRENSHEELEEETE °
AEENBEFERA 2EETTEME

=
=8 e

REAZEMENRTEER &5k
REFERNMERBREEFERNOYE -

ERKRERERAT
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All of the Group's leasehold interests in land held under
operating leases to earn rental are classified and accounted

for as investment property.

The Group held investment property in Hong Kong. The fair
value as at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 has
been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out on the
respective dates by Cushman & Wakefield Limited, an
independent qualified professional valuer not connected to

the Group.

The fair value was determined based on the market sales
comparable approach. There has been no change from the

valuation technique used in the prior year.

In estimating the fair value of the property, the highest and
best use of the property is their current use.
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18. REWF (1)

19.

R_E-_—_F+-_A=+—BER_-Z
——F+-A=+—8 AEEKEY
¥NFBREBAATEESESANERSH
FaT

F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTY (Continued)

Details of the Group's investment property and information
about the fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2021 are as follows:

ATHE
Fair value
—E-= —E—F
2022 2021
THET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
DEEEE IR EME Investment property
classified as Level 2 130,000 130,000

RER - WEBFEZRFEAREL -

There were no transfers into or out of Level 2 during the year.

Hihig& 19. OTHER INVESTMENT
—E-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FET FET
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHERKRE  BAVEE Listed equity investment,
at fair value 39,361 51,410

bR E N BEE B REE SR A
FEEFAREMEEKE  REARE
ERRRNEABHME -

The above equity investment was irrevocably designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group

considers this investment to be strategic in nature.
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222

. BREE 20. INTANGIBLE ASSETS
mE PRuERE st
Goodwill Mining rights Total
FHET FHET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
59N COST
R-ZE-_—F—H—H At 1 January 2021 1,285,867 2,354,776 3,640,643
NE Additions - 7,619,281 7,619,281
W RSB A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 109,849 2,194,147 2,303,996
HE Disposal (6,688) (35,642) (42,330)
BEE 5, & Exchange adjustments 17,786 73,312 91,098
RZEBZ—%F At 31 December 2021
+=—A=+—H 1,406,814 12,205,874 13,612,688
NE Additions - 4,099,664 4,099,664
W BE B B A 7] Acquisition of subsidiaries 1,266,992 3,769,851 5,036,843
BE—XWB AT Disposal of a subsidiary (16,694) (112,223) (128,917)
[ 5, %L Exchange adjustments (122,486) (1,177,988) (1,300,474)
RZE_— At 31 December 2022
+=—A=+—~H 2,534,626 18,785,178 21,319,804
REtBERRE ACCUMULATED AMORTIZATION
AND IMPAIRMENT
RZE——%F—H—H At 1 January 2021 82,318 855,339 937,657
FERY Charge for the year - 378,519 378,519
& Disposal - (35,517) (35,517)
PE % Exchange adjustments 2,831 30,481 33,312
R-ZE——F At 31 December 2021
+=—A=+—H 85,149 1,228,822 1,313,971
FERAY Charge for the year 264,680 264,680
BE—XKWBAF Disposal of a subsidiary (16,694) (26,322) (43,016)
[E 5, %L Exchange adjustments (8,399) (113,305) (121,704)
A S At 31 December 2022
+=—A=+—AH 60,056 1,353,875 1,413,931
fREE CARRYING VALUES
A= S At 31 December 2022
+=—A=+—H 2,474,570 17,431,303 19,905,873
RZTB_—F At 31 December 2021
+=—A=+—~H 1,321,665 10,977,052 12,298,717

REENAERFHNN0FES0FET

&

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

The useful lives of mining rights ranged from 10 to 50 years.
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BERERNR
EEETHATECMNESHENRS
ELXBMNIREFERE -

AEITRENR  BEESRERKE
LaS IR R T &L D ERAK AR
EAXBMNE - pEEER/KENERTHIR
%EE%&ZHE’JF%@HEE@%EUE
2,281,020,000%8 t( = & = — F:

1,190,205,000 3% 7T ) K 1 93,550,000 7 T
—E - —4 131,460,000 7T) ©

KRR E TIRESEEBEMAN TG
CHEEREEEEET - Z-TEHKA
REEEEHENVKRERAINES
MEATEEI13%(ZF=Z—F : 13%)
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F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL

Management regularly determines if there is impairment of

any of its CGUs containing goodwill.

For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill has been
allocated to the groups of CGUs comprising the cement
operating segment and concrete operating segment. The
carrying amounts of goodwill allocated to the groups of CGUs
of cement and concrete operations are HK$2,281,020,000
(2021: HK$1,190,205,000) and HK$193,550,000 (2021:
HK$131,460,000), respectively.

The recoverable amounts of the groups of CGUs of cement
and concrete operations have been determined based on the
value in use calculation. That calculation uses cash flow
projections based on financial budgets approved by
management with a discount rate of 13% (2021: 13%). The
cash flows beyond the five year period are extrapolated using
zero growth rate. This growth rate is based on the industry
growth forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term
growth rate for the relevant industry. The key assumption for
the value in use calculation is the budgeted gross margin,
which is determined based on the unit's past performance

and management's expectations for the market development.

Management believes that any reasonably possible change in
any of these assumptions would not cause the aggregate
carrying amount of cement and concrete operating segments
to exceed the aggregate recoverable amount of cement and

concrete operating segments.

REE QBRI 22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—E=-= == —kE
2022 2021
THET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
LT - AR Unlisted shares, at cost 6,983,916 6,696,188
DEE 34, 8 Exchange adjustments (423,462) 92,752
BIE Impairment (537,958) (537,958)
HWEEEN RN REMEEBA - Share of post-acquisition
AR S profits and other
comprehensive income,
net of dividends 281,890 504,011
6,304,386 6,754,993
TECFFR
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22. PEFE QTR ()

I ETIRER AR B < AR FTE
A )P R 48 %8 675,805,000 (ZE = —

£ : 803,595,000 7T) °

AEEEEBERRINFBIT

22. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

arising on acquisitions of associates.

Included in the cost of unlisted investments is goodwill with a
total amount of HK$675,805,000 (2021: HK$803,595,000)

Details of the Group's principal associates are as follows:

rEERE
BEARER a1 B 32 3t HEER IMEAEEMLS ETEEE
Proportion of
nominal value of
Place of registered capital
Name of associate incorporation Registered capital held by the Group Principal activities
—E--F —T-—
2022 2021

ASASZEKERHERRE  PEAK AR 600,000,000 7T 40.6% 40.6% KERERLTEERHE
Inner Mongolia Mengxi Chinese Mainland RMB600,000,000 Manufacture and sale of

Cement Co,, Ltd. cement and concrete
BREEM (BER)EBEMLT  HEAM AR 329,411,7007C 49% 9% KERERTEERHE
Fujian Building Material Chinese Mainland RMB329,411,700 Manufacture and sale of

(Holdings) Company Limited cement and concrete
ERNEEMEEERAA hEAL AR¥1,321,220,0007C 50% 50% ARRBRTAEREE
Yunnan Cement & Building Chinese Mainland ~ RMB1,321,220,000 Manufacture and sale of

Materials Group Co., Ltd. cement and concrete
BEAM (RZ)ROHARRAF  HEAM AR¥E359,997,6107C 40% 40% NERRRAREERMT
Universal Marble & Chinese Mainland RMB359,997,610 Manufacture and

Granite (Dongguan) Co., Ltd. processing of

engineered stones
and natural stones

BRRY (HE) FEIRREMN At AR 700,000,0007T 34% 3% FEER

BRAE
Haiken Runfeng (Tunchang) Chinese Mainland RMB700,000,000 Mining of aggregates

New Environmental
Protection Building
Materials Co., Ltd.

EERA LRI OAREOHEE A
A HEERMEEEYE

HBRALE

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of the

224

B EEFENEZ AR o 85 H M
ERAINFREBNITE

E=RA ARENBE QR 2EER
HAEEMERTEAN - BEASEE
HREFHENRNEELEMEEmEA
A FHBERBNGE ZEKEE

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

year or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other associates would result in
particulars of excessive length.

In the opinion of the Directors, the associates of the Group
are all individually not material to the Group. Aggregate
financial information in respect of the Group's shares of these
associates’ results and other comprehensive income is set out
in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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23. REEQNTNES 23. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
—E=E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FHET FHT
HK$'000 HK$'000
REENRIRIELETIREKA Cost of unlisted investments
in joint ventures 1,662,509 2,193,009
PE 5 % Exchange adjustments (101,647) 7,730
IHUEE R B BARAR S Share of post-acquisition
profits net of dividends 509,233 592,407
2,070,095 2,793,146
RZBZZF+-_A=+—H &A1 As at 31 December 2022, included in the cost of investment in
AIMIREN AR BREEKEE L QR joint ventures was goodwill of HK$141,235,000 (2021:
EAEREE141,2350008 T (=T = — HK$141,235,000) arising on acquisitions of joint ventures.

£ 1 141,235,000 7T) °

SBSEER o0

Annual Report 2022



226

e MR MR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZT-__F+-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

23. REEQTINER (&)

AEFBTESERRNFBWT

23. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (Continued)

Details of the Group's principal joint ventures are as follows:

RENTER A1 AR 2 3t B B#1T r5E TEEHK
EBREE BERGEENLA
Proportion of
Nominal value nominal value
Place of of issued of shares
Name of joint venture  incorporation ordinary shares held by the Group Principal activities
—E-CF —E-—%F
2022 2021
REItAAORER AR BRE 26,290 7T 50% 50% KR RoREE T EEREE
China Century Cement ~ Bermuda US$26,290 Manufacture and sale of
Limited cement and concrete
HIEKRBRAT BB 10,0007 7T 50% 50% KEAEERHE
Squareal Cement Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Manufacture and sale of

EERA/LRIHENEAEENEZER
A HEEXEEEEFEIBNASK
BHEEFENTEZED - HIEME
ERBINFREBNITE -

ESRR AKEWFAESERBER
RTEX - BAAKEREZFAER
AMFEREMEERANG HUBE
HERGEe2E KSR -

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

cement

The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in
the opinion of the Directors, principally affected the results of
the year or form a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other joint ventures would result in

particulars of excessive length.

In the opinion of the Directors, all the joint ventures of the
Group are individually not material. Aggregate financial
information in respect of the Group's share of these joint
ventures’ results and other comprehensive income is set out

in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income.
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24, IEFERIE 24. DEFERRED TAXATION
LR ANEBMERYNEERELERE The following is the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets
(BRE)EBENRERKNEEZERNGES) recognized by the Group and movements thereof during the
year.
B CES
hEHE FHEHE  ATEE  HEER
HE LTEESER 28 KAt R @zt
Change
Fair value in fair
Accelerated  adjustments value of Tax
tax  onbusiness  investment losses ~ Withholding
depreciation combinations property  and others taxes Total

TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

W-E--%—-F—-H At 1 January 2021 (22,478) (47,229) (16,799) 375,578 (336,483) (47.411)
KEFETA (15 Credit (charge) for the year
(Wit 12) (Note 12) 788 1,553 (1,650) 142990 41,211 184,892
WEHBLR Acquisition of subsidiaries - (31,451) - 4,75 - (26,695)
R A% Exchange adjustments - (1,521) - 12,067 (10,023) 523
R=Z-—F+-A=+—H At31 December 2021 (21,690) (78,648) (18,449) 535,391 (305,295) 111,309
AEE (R)EA (Charge) credit for the year
(Wit 12) (Note 12) (69,053) 11,902 - 314,802 239,365 497,016
WEHB AR Acquisition of subsidiaries (5,336) (268,834) = 77,636 = (196,534)
BENBAA Disposal of subsidiaries - - = (7517) = (7517)
A Exchange adjustments 1,210 15,630 - (39,148) 17,261 (5,047)
MZE-—F+-F=F—H At31December 2022 (94,869) (319,950) (18,449) 881,164 (48,669) 399,227
—E=-C —E—F
2022 2021
THET FATT
HK$'000 HK$'000
RIEFRIBE B Deferred tax assets 881,164 535,391
BEHIEARE Deferred tax liabilities (481,937) (424,082)
399,227 111,309
RZZF__F+ZA=1+—8" BHEE As at 31 December 2022, no deferred tax asset has been
184,023629,0007%8 (= F = — F recognized in respect of the tax losses of HK$4,023,629,000
3,501,293,000 78 7T ) B B 7 SR 28 | SRR A (2021: HK$3,501,293,000) due to the unpredictability of future
RTER - R EERIERE - profit streams. Included in unrecognized tax losses are losses
AT AR e R B IH 85 8 1 5 18 451,228,000 of HK$451,228,000 (2021: HK$83,810,000) which will expire
ATL(=F = —% :83810,0007 7T ) #§ within 5 years from the year of origination. Other losses may
REEXFEERAFAIE - KB be carried forward indefinitely.

Al RE R H A o

S
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25.

26.

27.
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FEERANER 25. LOANS TO JOINT VENTURES
FEENTINERAEIET - ZE T F The loans to joint ventures are unsecured, bear interest at
R BN EEREMT fixed rates and repayable as follows:
—E-—F —E-—F
2022 2021
FHET FBT
HK$'000 HK$'000
k2 Current 211,134 -
IERE Non-current - 1,115,457
211,134 1,115,457
REEWKIE 26. LONG TERM RECEIVABLES
ZHREETERARERNAEBEE T i The amount mainly represented advances paid to the local
NFPEAMBAFNRR NG EERE governments in the Chinese Mainland for facilitating the
EfERBEEENNES - R—FR transfer of land to the Group and deposits paid for
FEW H FIBE 5T A B A EUGRIE © environmental restoration in relation to the construction of
production lines. The amount due within one year was
included in other receivables.
7E 27. INVENTORIES
—E=E-— —E—F
2022 2021
THET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
[EM L K E FE dh Raw materials and consumables 1,333,368 1,489,262
RS Work in progress 754,208 654,148
UK mn Finished goods 644,621 797,780
2,732,197 2,941,190

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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28. TRADE RECEIVABLES

—E=E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FET T
HK$’'000 HK$'000
JEWE=FHE FERR Trade receivables from
third parties 2,806,745 4,713,814
JEUL EARS T HYE S BRI Trade receivables from
related parties 93,915 79,623
2,900,660 4,793,437

AEBAGRTEEFARLEZANRE
FHOZE 60 BN FHEEMNBR

UTAREHRERRBRBEHZAHIIR
M FE U B 5 R X (N BR RIBFR B ) O R
BT ©

The Group has a policy of allowing an average credit period
of 0 to 60 days from the date of issuance of invoices to its

customers.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables (net of
allowance for doubtful debts) presented based on the invoice

date at the end of each reporting period.

—E=-= —E-—4F
2022 2021
FET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
0£9H 0 to 90 days 1,371,303 3,181,817
912180 H 91 to 180 days 425,260 695,582
181 £ 365H 181 to 365 days 582,207 651,396
@365 H Over 365 days 521,890 264,642
2,900,660 4,793,437
RERBERNEE Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts
—E__F —=E=—
2022 2021
FET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHRER Balance at beginning of the
year 467,579 324,673
RIZIREIR Allowance for doubtful debts 281,220 134,329
i EH S AT Uk B 58 Amount written off as
uncollectible (5,412) (4,396)
bE H FEEE Exchange adjustments (52,951) 12,973
FRE Balance at end of the year 690,436 467,579
“EFFR
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ZEZHFTZA=1T—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

B E 5 R (@)
REMRBIROEE (F)

RZZEZ—_F+=ZH=1+—H0" ' KEH
BIRBERKAT ENERE SEREBE
m {E /4138318000 Jjt@ H &
103,947,000 T A—F A - BEEEE
BEN F3%ZE6% ' 134,371,000 7T
B—FULE  BEEEBEER100% -
R-ZE-_—_F+-_A=+—H"  BEL
DEPREHEKN AT ENERE B RN E
Bk ™ {E /53,001,693,000% T H &
1,901,184,0008 A —F N BHEE
518 K N F3%ZE4.5%  1,100,509,000
BrLA—FNE BHEEBBENT
41% % 100% ©

R-_ZE-——F+_A=+—8 " KEHD
IR R AT E R B E 5 REREAER
m {E 4/145657,0000 Tt H &
94,037,000/ L A—F A HHEES
BENF5%E9% * M51,620,000% T
B—F L EHREEBEXA100% -
W—Z-_—F+-_A=+—H  ERt
DEIRE R AT ENENE Z KB
BR M fE /53,626,587,0008 L0 H A
3,045,713,000%8 T & —F N - HEEE
&5 18 R N\ T 2.5% = 4% © 580,874,00075
TAE—FNE BHEEBBRENT
45% Z= 100% °

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

28.

TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Movements in the allowance for doubtful debts
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2022, the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables measured at amortized cost for the cement
segment was HK$138,318,000, of which HK$103,947,000 was
within one year with an expected credit loss rate ranging from
3% to 6% and HK$34,371,000 was over one year with an
expected credit loss rate of 100%. As at 31 December 2022,
the gross carrying amount of trade receivables measured at
amortized cost for concrete segment was HK$3,001,693,000,
of which HK$1,901,184,000 was within one year with an
expected credit loss rate ranging from 3% to 4.5%,
HK$1,100,509,000 was over one year with expected credit loss
rate from 41% to 100%.

As at 31 December 2021, the gross carrying amount of trade
receivables measured at amortized cost for the cement
segment was HK$145,657,000, of which HK$94,037,000 was
within one year with an expected credit loss rate ranging from
5% to 9% and HK$51,620,000 was over one year with an
expected credit loss rate of 100%. As at 31 December 2021,
the gross carrying amount of trade receivables measured at
amortized cost for concrete segment was HK$3,626,587,000,
of which HK$3,045,713,000 was within one year with an
expected credit loss rate ranging from 2.5% to 4%,
HK$580,874,000 was over one year with an expected credit
loss rate from 45% to 100%.
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29. HAFEWRKIE

29. OTHER RECEIVABLES

—E=E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
THET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
BNRF KR ® Prepayment and deposits 85,328 36,410
EREMEHEENETE Deposits paid to suppliers of
raw materials 398,086 480,136
HE(E R N EAth A] Uk B F 0B Value-added tax and other
tax recoverables 236,924 244,550
£ BA W R IE H) BN R R 7 Current portion of long term
receivables 154,200 169,615
P LAt AR (T a) Amounts due from
associates (note a) 156,150 323,163
FEUW & &N RIFIE(Fb) Amounts due from joint
ventures (note b) 177,962 63,998
FEMSEYE AR AR SR k38 (7 ¢) Amounts due from
non-controlling
shareholders (note c) 131,316 =
Hitp Others 320,349 283,607
1,660,315 1,601,479
it notes:
a. FEUHE & A RIFRIR R EIK A R EESKEE - a. The amounts due from associates are unsecured and repayable on

_\El
HApt B35 A109,404,0008 T (=T = —
F+=HF=+—H : 140,649,000/ ) °

WA &
REE -

CRARIERTE R BERRES

%ﬁ

c. FEYGEIR BRI R TS - BIER K&

30. EEHRBITER

demand, of which HK$109,404,000 (31 December 2021: HK$140,649,000)

is interest-bearing.

b. The amounts due from joint ventures are interest-free, unsecured and

repayable on demand.

c. The amounts due from non-controlling shareholders are interest-free,

unsecured and repayable on demand.

30. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

—E-= —E-—F

2022 2021

FET FHTT

HK$'000 HK$'000

Vi Current 51,434 97,847
FERED Non-current 467,327 318,456
518,761 416,303

—ECCEFR
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31. BERBITER 31. CASH AND BANK BALANCES

STARSRIBTEBHUNSEEEETR Included in cash and bank balances are the following amounts
BIhaE B AN B RS SHER FIEM T denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the respective group entities.

—E-—F —E-—F

2022 2021
FHET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
BIT HK$ 329,533 253,423
T us$ 1,344 1,094
—=—= T4
2022 2021
% %
RITHERRF R R E Range of interest rates of the
bank balances (per annum) 0.01-3.85 0.01-3.85
32. BREZERM 32. TRADE PAYABLES
—EC-CF —E-—F
2022 2021
FHExT FHBT
HK$'000 HK$'000
ERE=FHNE SRR Trade payables to third
parties 3,134,309 3,746,208
JE 1~ BB 77 B0 2 5 BR K Trade payables to related
parties 107,498 40,072
3,241,807 3,786,280

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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FES B B RR (&) 32. TRADE PAYABLES (Continued)

NEEBEHEHERREI0E0HE The Group normally receives credit period of 30 to 90 days
B U TARESRESRRBIEREZRH from its suppliers. The following is an aged analysis of trade
HAZI| R 0 FERHEE S ER SR BR A D AT © payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of

each reporting period.

—E-—F —E-—F

2022 2021
THET FAT
HK$’'000 HK$'000
0ZE90H 0 to 90 days 3,037,448 3,548,450
912180 H 91 to 180 days 119,481 187,705
181 £ 365 H 181 to 365 days 74,628 34,176
838 365 B Over 365 days 10,250 15,949
3,241,807 3,786,280
H fth B KR 33. OTHER PAYABLES
=== —E-—F
2022 2021
THET THET
HK$'000 HK$'000
e s SR g SR8 R U B A RO N 3RO Payables to constructors and
for the acquisition of
assets 2,078,172 1,465,486
WHEKE AR - BE AR R Consideration payables for
BENANENKE acquisition of subsidiaries,
associates and joint
ventures 1,193,201 858,894
KREBFHE€ Deposit from customers 863,695 1,165,609
JET FEET T & RIEAL Accrued wages and bonus
payables 870,940 1,559,344
REHEFNRER Guarantee deposits from
suppliers 550,001 669,141
FE FEETiE B 5K IR Accrued transportation
payable 274,793 291,768
E SR IE Other tax payables 390,470 456,499
MERE (Fat17) Lease liabilities (Note 17) 78,132 57,876
FERIRIBIEIE SRIE (F17E37) Payables for environmental
restoration (Note 37) 7,808 =
FES FEAE AR AR 51 5038 (A aF) Amount due to non-
controlling shareholders
(note) 58,067 =
Hitp Others 909,183 740,644
7,274,462 7,265,261
7 EAFERBRERERTE - EEERE note: The amounts due to non-controlling shareholders are interest-free,
EREE - unsecured and repayable on demand.

S
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3. RE—FREEERAIATNER 34. LOANS FROM AN INTERMEDIATE HOLDING

COMPANY
ZEERBERE  WAEARNRHE The loans are unsecured and are repayable within twelve
Hest - @A NEE months from the date the loans were made.
BEBRZELZHNEZTWT « The loans were arranged at fixed and variable rates as follows:
—E-—F —E-—F
2022 2021
THET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
E RSB Fixed rate borrowings - 672,700
FEEK Variable rate borrowings - 1,000,000
- 1,672,700
FTARE — KA ZER A R & A LA Included in loans from an intermediate holding company are
ZEBERBNNEEE I EESTE the following amounts denominated in currencies other than
RIFRIALA T - the functional currencies of the respective group entities:
—E-—F —E-—F
2022 2021
THET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
BT HKS - 1,000,000

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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KEFERBRROHERK 35. LOANS FROM NON-CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS
AR THEHEERE/NK B IEIZERRERN Loans from non-controlling shareholders are repayable as
B follows:
—ZET__ —E - —
2022 2021
THET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
—FAFFARBEE Within one year included in
current liabilities 462,888 42,366
—FRERFEA After one year but within two
years 133,790 -
MEFEREB=FA After two years but within
three years - 139,288
596,678 181,654
KB R R A &R EIER RIRTE The loans from non-controlling shareholders are unsecured
BEtR e and bear interest at fixed rate.
IRITEX 36. BANK LOANS
—=—_— —EF—F
2022 2021
THET FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000
AR TYIERREENRITER - Bank loans are repayable
as follows:
—&ER Within one year 4,085,229 7,336,197
—FREMERN After one year but within
two years 902,657 -
MERE=FA After two years but within
three years 7,835,750 1,223,090
=FREINFA After three years but within
four years 562,045 -
PUERERFE A After four years but within
five years 531,415 -
AF% After five years 1,919,489 =
15,836,585 8,559,287
B EFARBBER —F AR HRRIE Less: Amount due within
one year
included in current
liabilities (4,085,229) (7,336,197)
—F & EIHARFRE Amount due after one year 11,751,356 1,223,090
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36. RITERAE) 36. BANK LOANS (Continued)
BEBNMZELZHNRITERNAT ¢ Bank loans were arranged at fixed and variable rates as
follows:
—E-—F —E-—F
2022 2021
FET FHTT
HK$'000 HK$'000
TEEER Fixed rate borrowings 4,768,705 5,259,287
FEMER Variable rate borrowings 11,067,880 3,300,000
15,836,585 8,559,287
HE2—_ET_-_—_F+-_B=+—HIF The effective interest rates of the Group's bank loans ranged
B AEENRITERNERFERNEN from 1.0% to 8.0% per annum for the year ended 31
F10%E80%( —ZF = — F : 09% & December 2022 (2021: 0.9% to 3.6%).
3.6%) °
SFABRTERNUSEEEENINGEE Included in bank loans are the following amounts
SN EREFHERIFIBAT denominated in currencies other than the functional

currencies of the respective group entities:

—E-—F —E-—F

2022 2021

THET T

HK$'000 HK$'000

BT HK$ 2,300,000 3,300,000
AEBHFERITEFEREERR All of the Group's bank loans were unsecured.

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

236



e UBRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHEZZT-__F+-_A=1—HILFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2022

37. HittRHAENRRIE 37. OTHER LONG TERM PAYABLES
—E=E=-= —E-—F
2022 2021
FET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
% HEBE (Mt 17) Lease liabilities (Note 17) 176,314 165,446
RIF(IS1E B Provision for environmental
restoration 582,163 512,027
Y hs & E RN 5RIE Payable for acquisition of
assets 1,269,003 -
HAh Others 72,119 31,500
2,099,599 708,973
RREBERBENED Movements in the provision for environmental

restoration

—E-—F —E-—F

2022 2021
FHExT FHET
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAEEER Balance at beginning of the
year 512,027 350,788
0 Additions 81,683 105,893
U BE B B A A Acquisition of subsidiaries 37,062 33,411
BEEMBAA Disposal of subsidiaries (12,605) -
BRI (HEE8) Interest expenses (Note 8) 28,539 20,902
R Payments (12,470) (9,454)
I 0, 3 #E Exchange adjustments (44,265) 10,487
FREH Balance at end of the year 589,971 512,027
PR Analyzed into:
e (K1 33) Current (Note 33) 7,808 -
SEE Non-current 582,163 512,027
589,971 512,027
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38. BRA&
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38. SHARE CAPITAL
BB E k|
Number
of shares Amounts
T
HK$'000
FRMEEQC.10E T E BTN Ordinary shares of HK$0.10 each
VERE Authorized:
R-ZBE-_—F—H—H —ZT-—% At 1 January 2021,
E—ZE-_—_F#+=-HA=+—H 31 December 2021 and 2022  10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BEETMRER Issued and fully paid:
R-ZBE-_—F—H—H —ZT-—% At 1 January 2021,
E—ZE-_—F#+=-RA=+—H 31 December 2021 and 2022 6,982,937,817 698,294
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39. WEEMBLR

BE
FRE

(a)

—E-__f+ZHA=+—-HL

KEEMWEEREREFRAL A
(TEMEEZ])

FRN - AEERBLE=FKREE
M B E8SN B B R E A
1,044,809,00078 7T - EMBEEEE
WEABEBREERMT -

RGPHRBENEEFEEREN
-

F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 31 December 2022

(a)

Acquisition of Hezhou Xubao Mining Investment
Co., Ltd. ("Hezhou Xubao”)

During the year, the Group acquired 85% equity
interests of Hezhou Xubao from independent third
parties, for a total consideration of HK$1,044,809,000.
Hezhou Xubao principally engaged in manufacture and

processing of engineered stones.

The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction

were as follows:

WU S

RS B 5

HATEE

Acquirees’

fair value at

acquisition

date

FAT

HK$'000

B A EFE Net assets acquired:

EE&E Fixed assets 123,303
EREEE Right-of-use assets 62,953
B EE Intangible assets 1,288,063
K HpE W GA Long term receivables 3,929
e Inventories 850

H th fE W I8 Other receivables 11,361
e MIRTTH R Cash and bank balances 4,320
JEE F IR Trade payables (9,684)
Hoth fE T FRIR Other payables (104,871)
IRITER Bank loans (145,076)
Hih RHpE FR0E Other long term payables (5,961)
BWEEEFE Net assets acquired 1,229,187
IR A Non-controlling interests (184,378)
BRE - Re Total consideration, satisfied by cash 1,044,809
—g-—fEH
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39. KWEBKIB A (@)

BE-F-_-_F+t-A=+—-HL
FEE)

240

(a)

UEEMNEEREREERAA
(TEMBEE ) (&)

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

Acquisition of Hezhou Xubao Mining Investment
Co., Ltd. (“Hezhou Xubao”) (Continued)

W E IR & FEE Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
THBT
HK$'000
WEREB Cash consideration (1,044,809)
BUEEIR € MIRTTEERR Cash and bank balances acquired 4,320
(1,040,489)

EER5 ERNFTKRBREENDR
FEEBAHD %$W£LT%%
BE  ARBESEBEEMEEA
RYBEE - At - E%&%%IEE
WEFTE AE BUIBHIE D FER
BENAE MIFEVBHREE
AIE 3R (1E7]) [RBFAH ] AER
B ETEAGF

RULEE B BIRE R R ST i 2 Ty 3%
FEIE AR RE RS L ) D A U 7 0
AHREEFENCERS AT

=
==R

HE—_T-_—F+-_A=+—HIt
FE - BMNBERNKEARRE
T+ _A=+—BHIEFEL
REAEENEXEBIELER - I
77N & B K & F) 75 5K 9,994,000 7
TTHEE - HEMNEE 2 WEE R
ZEF—A—HRK " AIEA
EEBE_T_—_F+—-_A=+—
HIEFEMEEBRARNRERA
FEIEBAH RN

ERKRERERAT
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In the opinion of the Directors, given substantially all of
the fair value of the gross assets acquired is
concentrated in the above identifiable assets, the
acquisition of Hezhou Xubao has been accounted for by
the Group as acquisition of assets. Therefore, the
transactions were determined by the Directors to be the
acquisition of assets and liabilities through acquisition
of subsidiaries rather than a business combination as
defined in HKFRS 3 (Revised) business combinations.

The non-controlling interests recognized at the
acquisition date was measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognized

amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

During the year ended 31 December 2022, Hezhou
Xubao did not contribute to the Group’s turnover and
contributed loss of HK$9,994,000 to the Group's profit
for the year from the date of acquisition to 31 December
2022. If the acquisition of Hezhou Xubao had been
completed on 1 January 2022, there would be
insignificant effect of the Group's turnover and profit
attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2022.
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39. WHBME A R ()

BE

B+ ZHA=+—-HL

FEE)

(b)

WHEEEBEAESER A A
([EEBHE])
RZEZ—F+—HA=+—H =&
EEIBHEEERSCRIRD  EE
HRLAEREAEEZ —REE
DA -

FA ANEEE-FZBIE=TE]
SN — R HEE o AREEE AR
#R44% Bt - #BR(E /715,623,000
B  EEHARTERERRE
e

BE_Z-_—_F+-_A=+—HI
FE  AEBERBEERBRRN
815U 2549 18,158,000 7T © £%18
2 ARG EGE, BEFE
ERHRRERE 2 AT EEMS
U 2S o

RHPKRENEEFEBERN
TS @

F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

(b)

Acquisition of Zhaoging Runsheng Quarry Co., Ltd.
(“Zhaoging Runsheng”)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group held 56% equity
interests in Zhaoging Runsheng, which were previously

recognized as a joint venture to the Group.

During the year, the Group entered a series of
agreements with an independent third party to acquire
the remaining 44% equity interests in Zhaoging
Runsheng, for a total consideration of HK$715,623,000.
Zhaoging Runsheng principally engaged in mining of
aggregates.

For the year ended 31 December 2022, the Group
recorded a gain of approximately HK$18,158,000 for the
acquisitions of the equity interests in Zhaoqing
Runsheng, which is the gain on remeasurement of the
fair value of pre-existing interests in Zhaoging Runsheng

as at the date of obtaining control.

The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction

were as follows:
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39. WEEHME LR (40) 39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BE-—E-_—_F#+=-—B=+—H1: For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)
FEE)

b) UWEEZEEBEAESERAIA (b) Acquisition of Zhaoqing Runsheng Quarry Co., Ltd.
([EEBE])(E) (“Zhaoging Runsheng”) (Continued)
wWES
RUiE B 8
HWRAEEE
Acquirees’
fair value at
acquisition
date
T
HK$'000
B S EFE Net assets acquired:
BEEEE Fixed assets 20,815
FRESE Right-of-use assets 79,331
EEEE Intangible assets 1,998,173
BEEER® Deposits for acquisition of assets 30,095
EEFIRE B Deferred tax assets 14,881
H fh U RIR Other receivables 13,059
W& MIRITHEER Cash and bank balances 14,127
HoAth FE T FRIR Other payables (994,881)
E R AR FUR Other long term payables (127,380)
BB EEFE Net assets acquired 1,048,220
R T AN R B A AR B RS SRTE Amount due by shareholders assigned
to the group 254,407
LA —REE A=A TEE Fair value of pre-existing interests in a
joint venture (587,004)
BRE Rexf Total consideration, satisfied by cash 715,623
WEBEANR ML HE - Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
FET
HK$'000
ReERE Cash consideration (715,623)
ST AR M N KI5 Amount included in other payables 132,466
B & RRITAEER Cash and bank balances acquired 14,127
(569,030)
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39. WHBME A R ()

BE

B+ ZHA=+—-HL

FEE)

(b)

WEEEBERSERAA
(TEE=ERE ) (&)

EER5 ERNFKBREENDR
FEERAMY SRR LR A ER
BE  AREBEBEEERRAR
REBEE - Atk - 2R B FHED
WEETE RE BUIBHIE D FER
BENAE MIFEVBHREE
AIE 3 (1E7]) [RBFAH ] AER
HERE G

ERERRKEEREE T -
F+_A=+—BHILFEIRHEA
SEMEEBELER  WALSE
& #) 2 F %5 5k 8,528,000 7 7T &Y &5
B-WEEBRRZKWBENR-Z
—ZF—A—HZ=EK " AEAEE
HE-Z-_—F+=-A=+—HI
FEMNEXBRARNRES ARMN
BRI EEN -

F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

(b) Acquisition of Zhaoqing Runsheng Quarry Co., Ltd.

(“Zhaoqing Runsheng”) (Continued)

In the opinion of the Directors, given substantially all of
the fair value of the gross assets acquired is
concentrated in the above identifiable assets, the
acquisition of Zhaoging Runsheng has been accounted
for by the Group as acquisition of assets. Therefore, the
transactions were determined by the Directors to be the
acquisition of assets and liabilities through acquisition
of subsidiaries rather than a business combination as
defined in HKFRS 3 (Revised) Business Combinations.

Zhaoging Runsheng did not contribute to the Group's
turnover and contributed loss of HK$8,528,000 to the
Group's profit for the year from the date of acquisition
to 31 December 2022. If the acquisition of Zhaoging
Runsheng had been completed on 1 January 2022,
there would be insignificant effect on the Group's
turnover and profit attributable to owners of the

Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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39. WHBHE A R ()
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BZz-_Z-_—_#+=-HA=+—H1Lt
FE(E)

) WHEHAERHAKEERAF
(R AET)

FR - ANEBRBILE=FUWEER
MR HN%K 0 &R E A
530,833,000/ 7T ° Mim R HEZER
EHEREEKEER - ZWEES
ERAEFTREEAL -

RZHARERNEEFERENAR

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

(c)

Acquisition of Hunan Liangtian Cement Co., Ltd.
(“Hunan Liangtian”)

During the year, the Group acquired 51% equity
interests of Hunan Liangtian from independent third
parties, for a total consideration of HK$530,833,000.
Hunan Liangtian principally engaged in manufacture
and sale of cement products. The acquisition has been

accounted for using acquisition method of accounting.

The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction

WESEEREENT and the goodwill arising on the acquisition were as
follows:
wWES
RS B &
WA FEE
Acquirees’
fair value at
acquisition
date
FHTT
HK$'000
BREEEFE - Net assets acquired:
EEEE Fixed assets 97,917
FRAEEE Right-of-use assets 24,099
B EAE Intangible assets 25,218
EERRITER Pledged bank deposits 58,117
R MIRTTHE R Cash and bank balances 7,047
H fth B 3B Other payables (50,801)
JER I Taxation payable (30,775)
H b = BAFE T 50IB Other long term payables (8,806)
BEERIEBE Deferred tax liabilities (14,166)
BB EEFAE Net assets acquired 107,850
W RS PEE VP Goodwill arising on acquisition:
HERE Consideration transferred 530,833
0 - IEERR RS Add: Non-controlling interests 52,847
JB T EEm B = FE Less: Net assets acquired (107,850)
WP A P 2 Goodwill arising on acquisition 475,830
BWRE  Bexft Total consideration, satisfied by cash 530,833
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F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

B8FZ-—EZ-_—_f+=-A=+—H1 For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

FE(E)

(c) WEBIHERHEKEERLF (c) Acquisition of Hunan Liangtian Cement Co., Ltd.
([rRE] (&) (“Hunan Liangtian”) (Continued)
WEBEANIRS ML HE - Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

FHBT
HK$'000
WEREB Cash consideration (530,833)
STAH MM FRIER &5 Amount included in other payables 49,558
B UWHEIR & MIRTT4E AR Cash and bank balances acquired 7,047
(474,228)
WHE R BEEN R BIEEAS The goodwill on acquisition of Hunan Liangtian
5] P 2 AR B 18 [ R R AN SR I T 3 represented value obtainable from synergies with the
REZEZAZFARNERBRED Group and opportunities for the Group to bring its
I A 3 b S HY 7 A AT A XA (B expertise to the proposition and access to the region of
= the Chinese Mainland that were provided by Hunan
Liangtian.
HERERNEEANREE—_T - Hunan Liangtian has contributed HK$436,886,000 to the
FH+_A=+—HIEFEALEH Group's turnover and contributed loss of HK$21,742,000
) & 2 58 5 81 436,886,000 % 7T to the Group's profit for the year from the date of
I 4375 5= B B9 & A 75 5K 21,742,000 acquisition to 31 December 2022. If the acquisition had
BITHEE - B ER T = completed on 1 January 2022, there would be
F-—A—HBxK  MEAEEEE insignificant effect of the Group's turnover and profit
TR+ RA=+—HIEFE attributable to owners of the Company for the year
MEEBERRNBHE AELRET ended 31 December 2022.
E;?ﬁBE/E‘ o
V&=
(d WERLBEFTEREXERAA (d) Acquisition of Wushan Zhongsheng Mining Co., Ltd.

(R A ) R AR L B
BREHWHBERL & ([B L EEZE
)

FN - ANEBRBILE = RER
AR B R AR L AR B R R = B 65% A%
3 48K (B & 749,445,000 JT °
R AR s R AR L R s = E N E
AHRBEHEERES - ZFWED
FRAEFTREEAL -

(“Wushan Zhongsheng”) and Wushan Zhongrun
Desheng Building Materials Co., Ltd. (“Wushan
Zhongrun Desheng”)

During the year, the Group acquired 65% equity
interests of each of Wushan Zhongsheng and Wushan
Zhongrun Desheng from independent third parties, for
a total consideration of HK$749,445,000. Wushan
Zhongsheng and Wushan Zhongrun Desheng principally
engaged in mining of aggregates and trading of
aggregates. The acquisitions have been accounted for

using acquisition method of accounting.
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39. WEEHME LR (40) 39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
BE-—E-_—_F#+=-—B=+—H1: For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)
FE(H)

(d) WERLEFEEEXSRLE (d) Acquisition of Wushan Zhongsheng Mining Co., Ltd.
([R5 ) R AL 5B (“Wushan Zhongsheng”) and Wushan Zhongrun
BENPERA T ([ A EEZE Desheng Building Materials Co., Ltd. (“Wushan
B (&) Zhongrun Desheng”) (Continued)

RN IER & 2= FHE RN X The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction
W EEREENT and the goodwill arising on the acquisition were as
follows:
WEE S
RS B 5
HAFEE
Acquirees’
fair value at
acquisition
date
FAT
HK$'000
A EFE - Net assets acquired:
BEE&E Fixed assets 616,298
EREEE Right-of-use assets 7,703
EmAE Intangible assets 376,903
BEEER® Deposits for acquisition of assets 3,503
EER IR E B Deferred tax assets 20,468
FE Inventories 1,026
FEUWE 5 AR K Trade receivables 176,893
H fth fE U FRIB Other receivables 209,381
RE RIRTTHER Cash and bank balances 717
JESE SRR Trade payables (105,676)
Hfth fET /I Other payables (424,477)
IRITER R EMIER Bank loans and other borrowings (338,0006)
Efh R AR FUR Other long term payables (127,750)
BEERIEB & Deferred tax liabilities (64,921)
BB EEFAE Net assets acquired 352,062
W RS PEE VP Goodwill arising on acquisition:
HERE Consideration transferred 749,445
0 - IEERR R Add: Non-controlling interests 123,221
JB  FTEEm B = FE Less: Net assets acquired (352,062)
W PR A P 2 Goodwill arising on acquisition 520,604
BRE BeX(GE) Total consideration, satisfied
by cash (note) 749,445
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39. WHBME A R ()

Bz-_Z2-_—_#+=-A=+—H1L
FE (B
(d) WERILGHEEEZERAF

([ XL s ) R AL 5

BENPERAL & ([P EE

B (&)

iZ: BEREEHSE  ERENEKRE
$EE# 124,000,000 87T © BURNEE
J5 1 W R 15 R BB R LA T A E 1
4+ 1) B3R5 1 B IS A A S BT
EENRARAEAEE IR ENER
2) LA TE B BAR 1S — HRmE L o

WIS EA IR SR FER

F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

(d)  Acquisition of Wushan Zhongsheng Mining Co., Ltd.

(“Wushan Zhongsheng”) and Wushan Zhongrun
Desheng Building Materials Co., Ltd. (“Wushan
Zhongrun Desheng”) (Continued)

note: According to the sale and purchase agreement, the final amount
of the contingent consideration in the form of cash is
approximately HK $124 million which is depended on whether
the transferor can meet the following two conditions after the
acquisition: 1) the transferor assists the acquired company in
adjusting the mining scale of the mining warrant to agreed
capacities and 2) to receive the second phase mine at the agreed

price.

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:

FABT

HK$'000

HERE Cash consideration (749,445)
FTABM BN RIBR & FE Amount included in other payables 300,219
DUWEIR & RIRITA SR Cash and bank balances acquired 717
(448,509)

WORB AR LU R B e BRI R BB RS EE A
B PR B B SR B P E A 1O 175 [R) K
S RAKEREREERAEFRG
ML s R AR L BB R R
It i [E B P M PN AV (B (B o

AR AP B R AR L R B R W B B
HRE-_T-_—_F+=A=1+—H
IEFEWARAREBREEEIELD
TRt WAREERNFERFER
21,356,000/ 7T B B F o fif 5% F WK
BEOR-—_ZT-—_F—F—H=xK "
A AEEBEE—_T-_—F+_A
=+ BLEFENEEERAAR
BEABRGERBANNZEEMY -

The goodwill on acquisition of Wushan Zhongsheng
and Wushan Zhongrun Desheng represented value
obtainable from synergies with the Group and
opportunities for the Group to bring its expertise to the
proposition and access to the region of the Chinese
Mainland that were provided by Wushan Zhongsheng
and Wushan Zhongrun Desheng.

Wushan Zhongsheng and Wushan Zhongrun Desheng
did not contribute to the Group's turnover and
contributed profit of HK$21,356,000 to the Group's
profit for the year from the date of acquisition to 31
December 2022. If the acquisitions had completed on 1
January 2022, there would be insignificant effect of the
Group's turnover and profit attributable to owners of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.
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39. WEEKHIB AR (&)
BZz-_Z-_—_#+=-HA=+—H1Lt
FE(E)
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(e)

WEEET ZHKEFERAA
(TEEZE )

FRN - AEBRBLE=FREE
B mHEeS%lRm BREHA
614,833,000 7T - EESHMEER
EHEERBEKRER - ZWHED
EFAEET R EARR -

RZHARERNEEFERENAR

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

(e)

Acquisition of Zhaoging Jingang Cement Co., Ltd.
(“Zhaoqing Jingang”)

During the year, the Group acquired 85% equity
interests of Zhaoging Jingang from an independent
third party, for a total consideration of approximately
HK$614,833,000. Zhaoging Jingang principally engaged
in manufacture and sale of cement products. The
acquisition has been accounted for using acquisition
method of accounting.

The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction

WHEE A HREINT and the goodwill arising on the acquisition were as
follows:
B 5
RUEE B
HAFEE
Acquirees’
fair value at
acquisition
date
FABT
HK$'000
BB EEFEE Net assets acquired:
BE&E Fixed assets 237,317
FRESE Right-of-use assets 166,706
BEEER® Deposits for acquisition of assets 759
IRIEF IR B B Deferred tax assets 11,358
78 Inventories 101,299
FEUWE 5 Rk Trade receivables 29,906
H fth EURRIB Other receivables 205,261
e MIRITHH Cash and bank balances 1,587
FERTE SRR Trade payables (134,425)
H fth e /I Other payables (23,388)
Hfth & BAE N 5RIE Other long term payables (10,669)
EERRRE Deferred tax liabilities (72,918)
BB EEFE Net assets acquired 512,793
WES PEE YR Goodwill arising on acquisition:
HEIRRE Consideration transferred 614,833
o0 FEFERRRE AR Add: Non-controlling interests 76,919
Ji TR EEFE Less: Net assets acquired (512,793)
B FTE A RSB Goodwill arising on acquisition 178,959
BRE - R8T (7F) Total consideration, satisfied
by cash (note) 614,833
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39. WEBKMIB AR (&)
Bz-_Z2-_—_#+=-A=+—H1L

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

FE(H)
(e) WEEZEETLEHKEBRLA (e) Acquisition of Zhaoging Jingang Cement Co., Ltd.
(TEELH ) (&) (“Zhaogqing Jingang”) (Continued)

i REBEEERS  REAAREERH
HRE AR ENRZHEELENE
EFEEHKBEARERE - ARK
FEZME R AL - WHKBEKE
ERFTENTRBEHNBALD
27,000,000 % 7T ©

note: According to the sale and purchase agreement, the changes of
net assets occurring during the transition period between the
consolidated base date and the closing date will trigger
adjustments in the consideration. As the closing audit report has
not been issued, the amount of impact on the acquisition

consideration is expected to be approximately HK $27 million.

WEEEENIRS ML FE - Net cash outflow arising on acquisition:
FAT
HK$'000
HeRE Cash consideration (614,833)
STAHMENKIEN SR Amount included in other payables 140,775
BN RIRTER Cash and bank balances acquired 1,587
(472,471)

WHREESHELNBEREES
foe) B 7K €% [8 BT = AE B 1 [R) 2 2 B X
KSENEREEXAMANEES
R HiE 5L A FP B0 P 3t i [ ) P AT 2
B (E(E

EESENKBERBRE_T—_—
F+-_A=Zt+—BHIFEARER
A& 3 %5 B B 171,339,000 7% T
WAAEENFERFH R
35,095,000 STTH E5 18 - WK E
RZBEZ—F—F—HFEK B
AEBHE-_ZT-_—_F+_-A8
=+ —HLEFENEEERAAR
BEARGRANNZEEN -

The goodwill on acquisition of Zhaoging Jingang
represented value obtainable from synergies with the
Group and opportunities for the Group to bring its
expertise to the proposition and access to the region of
the Chinese Mainland that were provided by Zhaoging
Jingang.

Zhaoging Jingang has contributed HK$171,339,000 to
the Group's turnover and contributed loss of
HK$35,095,000 to the Group's profit for the year from
the date of acquisition to 31 December 2022. If the
acquisition had completed on 1 January 2022, there
would be insignificant effect of the Group's turnover
and profit attributable to owners of the Company for
the year ended 31 December 2022.
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FE )

f KEBEAHBIZXAFERAE
(THEIZ)REAEBRER
RA & ([EFERE])

RAFE  AEEBBAIZEEER
48,601,000 T A R - HE HIE
LL51%[Mn  WE —BBILE=
F U B TR 51% 01D - AR(E
BOBIT e FIRIBHB AR EER
EREER o

RSP ENEEFEEREN
T

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

(f)

Acquisition of Guangxi Tianyang Jiang‘an Stone
Co., Ltd. (“Tianyang Jiang’an”) and Guangxi Boyao
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Guangxi Boyao”)

During the year, the Group invested in 51% equity interests
of Tianyang Jiang'an through subscription of increased
registered capital of HK$48,601,000 and acquired 51%
equity interests of Guangxi Boyao from an independent

third party, for a total consideration of HK$0. The acquired

subsidiaries were principally engaged in mining of

aggregates.

The aggregate net assets acquired in the transaction

were as follows:

B 5

RS B 5

HAFEE

Acquirees’

fair value at

acquisition

date

FHTT

HK$'000

B E EFE Net assets acquired:

EEEE Fixed assets 15,355
FREEE Right-of-use assets 114
EREE Intangible assets 81,494
BEEER® Deposits for acquisition of assets 35,350
EIERIBE &= Deferred tax assets 789
RHEAREYRIA Long term receivables 1,178
Eofth pE IR Other receivables 41
ALRTIA Tax recoverable 2
e RIRITAEER Cash and bank balances 21
FERTE 5 BRFK Trade payables 43)
H fh B 50IB Other payables (82,649)
IRITER Bank loans (3,417)
H fth &= BAE N 5RIE Other long term payables (1,540)
B EEFE Net assets acquired 46,695
BARHE Capital contribution 48,601
95,296
IS AR A Non-controlling interests (46,695)
BARHE Capital contribution 48,601

ERKRERERAT
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FE(E)

(f)

WEEFAHRIZAXERAE
(THEIZ])REAERRER
RA A ([EAER]) (&)

WHREE MR EIRAFH -

F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

Acquisition of Guangxi Tianyang Jiang’an Stone
Co., Ltd. (“Tianyang Jiang’an”) and Guangxi Boyao
Investment Co., Ltd. (“Guangxi Boyao”) (Continued)

Net cash inflow arising on acquisition:

TAT
HK$'000

BB MIRTTAR

EERR ENRBREENR
FEERABY EFR LA @R
BE AEBEHEBABIZLE
ABRARSUBEEE - FIt © &
ERXRFGEHCWRESTER/EBYE
MEAREREENARE  MEE
BB mEEREIRUEET) [%
Batt] REBHNEBEH -

RS B IR R JRE AR s TH IR
TRV R 2 £ 1 015 RO TR LR O Y
AHEREEFEND ERDE

=
EZ©

M 50T 22 & B Pa IR A U S B HA 8
ET - F+ZA=1+—HIH
MY REREENEEBEIELE
B XAEAEBMHAFE R
5,846,000 8 TTHIE1E o =18
ER=ZZE=__F—HF—H%K " 8l
HAEEHBZE-_T-_—_F+=H
=T —RIEFENEEERAAA
BEARGRANNZEEN -

Cash and bank balances acquired 21

In the opinion of the Directors, given substantially all of
the fair value of the gross assets acquired is
concentrated in the above identifiable assets, the
acquisition of Tianyang Jiang’an and Guangxi Boyao
have been accounted for by the Group as acquisition of
assets. Therefore, the transactions were determined by
the Directors to be the acquisition of assets and
liabilities through acquisition of subsidiaries rather than
a business combination as defined in HKFRS 3 (Revised)
Business Combinations.

The non-controlling interests recognized at the
acquisition dates were measured at the non-controlling
interests’ proportionate share of the recognized

amounts of the acquirees’ identifiable net assets.

Tianyang Jiang’an and Guangxi Boyao did not
contribute to the Group'’s turnover and contributed loss
of HK$5,846,000 to the Group's profit for the period
from the date of acquisition to 31 December 2022. If the
acquisition had been completed on 1 January 2022,
there would be insignificant effect on the Group's
turnover and profit attributable to owners of the

Company for the period ended 31 December 2022.
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BE-—E-—_—f#+=-H=+—H1
FEE)
(9 WEEMKEBALAE

FR - ANEBRBIE=HRES
TFHIE AR - BRAE A 542,854,000
S Tl 1 A %A% 198,333,000 7T
WRBHB AR EENREABERE
ERNIREMES  ZSWEDE
EFAEET R EARR -

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

(g) Acquisition of other subsidiaries

During the year, the Group acquired several subsidiaries
from independent third parties for a total consideration
of HK$542,854,000 and through subscription of
increased registered capital of HK$198,333,000. The
acquired subsidiaries were principally engaged in
manufacture and processing of engineered stones and
trading of construction materials. These acquisitions

had been accounted for using acquisition method of

accounting.
I EERE S
Percentage of
WULEE A B &8 Name of the acquired companies interests acquired
i) BRI BRI BR AR i) Guangdong Borrego New 75%
Material Technology Co., Ltd.
i) R (B FEM AR QA i) Runhe (Feixian) New Material 67%
Co., Ltd.
i) EM(BERE) SR MR AR A A i) Runhe (Lanling) New Material 67%
Co., Ltd.
iv)  UEREETELM B R A R iv)  Shandong Runhe New Material 67%
Co., Ltd.
V) KEMBEHRAERAF v)  Everbest Logistics Company 70%
Limited

ZER SR KERNEE R EERE
ARWEEENEEKEEHEN
TS @

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

The aggregate net assets acquired in these transactions
and the goodwill and negative goodwill arising on the

acquisition are as follows:
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39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

(g) Acquisition of other subsidiaries (Continued)

WUEE TS
HRUREE HHA
HATEE
Acquirees’
fair value at
acquisition
date
FHET
HK$'000
A EFE Net assets acquired:

Eha=y3 Fixed assets 1,333,619
EREEE Right-of-use assets 215,538
R—REE QT 2w Interest in an associate 186
INENYNCI R E: Interest in joint ventures 7,972
BEEER® Deposits for acquisition of assets 22,525
IRIEFIBE B Deferred tax assets 30,140
FE Inventories 280,362
FEUWE 5 BR 5k Trade receivables 132,987
o fEUCRIR Other receivables 54,987
AR TIE Tax recoverable 882
R MIBIT4E Cash and bank balances 40,686
JESE SRR Trade payables (353,466)
E (S FRIR Other payables (156,932)
FERTFRIR Taxation payable (39
IRITER R EMIER Bank loans and other borrowings (734,559)
Hfth R BAME A /I8 Other long term payables (661)
EIERIAAE Deferred tax liabilities (122,165)
752,062
BARHE Capital contribution 198,333
BB EETFE Net assets acquired 950,395

W RE P EE A P A Goodwill arising on acquisition:
HERE Consideration transferred 542,854
BARNE Capital contribution 198,333
I FEER R RS Add: Non-controlling interests 284,589
JB T A = FE Less: Net assets acquired (950,395)
WIS FTE AR Goodwill arising on acquisition 91,599
WHEFFEAMAamE Negative goodwill arising on acquisition (16,218)
BEAHE Capital contribution 198,333
BRE - ReEf Total consideration, satisfied by cash 542,854
—g-—fEH
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BZz-_Z-_—_#+=-HA=+—H1Lt
FEE)

(9) WHERMKE LA (E)
WRBEE A RYIR &0 TR

39. ACQUISITION OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
For the year ended 31 December 2022 (Continued)

(g) Acquisition of other subsidiaries (Continued)

Net cash outflow arising on acquisitions:

FAT

HK$'000

ReRE Cash consideration (542,854)
FTAE A BN RIBR & FE Amounts included in other payables 199,630
BUHEIR & RIRTTAEER Cash and bank balances acquired 40,686
(302,538)

WEETHERAREEANMERE L
L 3 UK B B B BB R B AR SR Py
BT R ek R AR B R E A
EXRAEFABTEA R EEHR
MR PR E(E -

ZEETHBARNKEB R
T FTZA=T—HILEE
WARHAEER S EFIEL TR -
WAAEENFERFF KR
4,721,000 3 TR B A o (WU EZE
HETHBRARER_ZE==_F—H
—HEK - AHAEEHEE=-ZF
- A=Z+—HLFERE
ELERANEHEE AREBANE
SEM -

FiiEZEREMRTARL - M IEM
WEER -_ZE-_—_F—HA—HxK" A
AEBERERCE TN EEERE
BRIET - INTHERRERMET -

ERKRERERAT
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The goodwill on acquisition of the several subsidiaries
represented value obtainable from synergies with the
Group and opportunities for the Group to bring its
expertise to the proposition and access to the region of
the Chinese Mainland and Hong Kong that were

provided by the above newly acquired subsidiaries.

The several subsidiaries did not contribute to the
Group's turnover and contributed profit of HK$4,721,000
to the Group's profit for the year from the date of
acquisition to 31 December 2022. If the acquisition of
the several subsidiaries had been completed on 1
January 2022, there would be insignificant effect on the
Group's turnover and profit attributable to owners of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2022.

The above proforma information is for illustrative purpose
only and is not necessarily an indication of turnover and
results of operations of the Group that actually would have
been achieved had the acquisition been completed on 1
January 2022, nor is it intended to be projection of future

results.
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40. RE—XRHEAH

RAFE - AEBBBABE A RE L
ERNRKROBMRARMEE ILAERS
BEORER AR LFAaRERE]) 72% K%
MREE BRECTENR) BARK
1,607,251,200 7T (#8351 47 1,981,253,000
B RN FEAEREE ILFAEEN K
239,072,000 7T °

FAREIIFERENEEFEABNT

40. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY

During the year, the Group sold 72

F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

% equity interests and

loans of Shanxi China Resources Fulong Cement Limited

(“Shanxi Fulong”) to Tangshan Jid

through tendering for a total con

ong Cement Co., Ltd.

sideration (excluding

interests) of RMB1,607,251,200 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,981,253,000) and the gain on disposal of Shanxi Fulong

of HK$239,072,000 was recognized du

ring the year.

The aggregate net assets of Shanxi Fulong disposed of

during the year were as follows:

T
HK$'000
REEEFHE: Net assets disposed of:
EE&EE Fixed assets 1,424,073
EREEE Right-of-use assets 172,567
B EE Intangible assets 85,901
BEEER® Deposits for acquisition of assets 55,221
FETRIEE Deferred tax assets 7,517
5 Inventories 58,323
H b B W GRIE Other receivables 3,732
EERRITFR Pledged bank deposits 6,786
He MIRTTHER Cash and bank balances 151,100
BN E S RN Trade payables (24,762)
HAth FEATR0IR Other payables (112,179)
FERT AR B /I8 Amount due to the Group (1,553,200)
HAth R HEA R /I8 Other long term payables (12,605)
REAEFE Net assets disposed of 262,474
BREWE Gain on disposal:
REEEFE Net assets disposed of 262,474
(5NN Assignment of shareholder’s loan 1,553,200
FEPE AR e o Non-controlling interests (73,493)
1,742,181
BRE W Gain on disposal 239,072
BRE  REXH Total consideration, satisfied by cash 1,981,253
BREEENRESRAFE Net cash inflow arising on disposal:
BUWEERE Cash consideration received 1,981,253
B BREIRE MIBTER Less: Cash and bank balances disposed of (151,100)
1,830,153
TECCFFR
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ZEZFF+ZA=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

BE—XKBQT (&

REBEE_ZTE-_—_F+-_A=+—HILEF
[E o ILFaEEESs AN R A AE(RALE
ERMEMIENEE TAREED

] L S L s o A
REFSRETMIERDRE -

EXABER

AEEBTEEEA  URERAEENE
BT L BERY YEBBLEBRR
ERERABNELSREABR - R
BEE - AEBMNBE KR EZTE o

AEBNEAREBREER (K eEH
AR E —HKEERERATNER
MIFE35 MR B FFER B RMER - K
B6MIRITER) KA R B A ARG
= (BREHTRARER) -

ARREREEBLEFER - REAR
BeFRILBERZN -y BEEEEE
BB AR AR e S5 RB Rl B N HE BE A R
@ ARBERRBEEENEZ B8
SASBR B~ BAEETT - BB AR A K 3
THEHRBERRBEHRFEHEERE
ES
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

40. DISPOSAL OF A SUBSIDIARY (Continued)

41.

Shanxi Fulong contributed insignificant losses to the Group's
profit attributable to owners of the Company and contributed
insignificant cash flows to the Group's operating cash flows
for the year ended 31 December 2022.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the
optimization of the debt and equity balance. The Group's

overall strategy remains unchanged for both years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
includes loans from an intermediate holding company in Note
34, loans from non-controlling shareholders in Note 35, bank
loans in Note 36 and equity attributable to owners of the

Company, comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The management of the Company reviews the capital
structure on a semi-annual basis. As part of this review,
management considers the cost of capital and the risks
associated with each class of capital. Based on
recommendations of management, the Group will balance its
overall structure through the payment of dividends, new share
issues and share buy-backs as well as the issue of new debts

or the redemption of existing debts.
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FREE 42. CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
—E-_= —E—F
2022 2021
THET FET
HK$'000 HK$'000
HBERFIREE R FERRITER Guarantees given to banks,
BB M A ERTHX BV HE AR in respect of banking
facilities granted to
associates and joint
venture
— EREH — amount guaranteed 2,361,198 1,753,106
—EPRER — amount utilized 1,522,864 1,610,163

EERA HENEHABOATFEE
YREA -

REHNEE

AEEES A

REREHR - NEBRBETATHED
REMOBERF] PIIRKRREREFIA
HIE A -

43.

In the opinion of the Directors, the fair values of the

guarantees at grant dates were not significant.

OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Group as a lessor

At the end of each reporting period, the Group has
contracted for the following future minimum lease payments

under non-cancellable operating leases:

—EC-CF T —F

2022 2021

THET FAT

HK$'000 HK$'000

—FR Within one year - 24,310
R—FBERMERN After one year but within two

years - 3,222

- 27,532

—e-—EEH
Annual Report 2022 27



e UBRERME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HEZT-__F+-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

44. BIRENE 44. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS
MEENEEEEMR SRS KRB XK Capital commitments for purchase and construction of assets
BT E AESEMT ¢ outstanding at the end of each reporting period are as
follows:

—E-—F —E-—F

2022 2021
F&ET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
EEFONER S Contracted but not provided
for 5,961,174 6,989,601
45. €T A 45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
LRI ANER Categories of financial instruments
—E-—F —E—F
2022 2021
FET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
EREE Financial assets
RBER AR 2 e REE Financial assets at
amortized cost 6,261,500 12,759,668
BAFEEAREMER Financial assets at fair
Wz &R EE value through other
comprehensive income 490,446 1,540,182
6,751,946 14,299,850
SRIAE Financial liabilities
BRI AR Amortized cost 25,077,960 17,416,764

ERKRERERAT
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45. €T AR (&) 45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

SREREENEBERBEX

AEENTIESREERRERRETA
LBRANER  BERE SRR EfE
WkE - REIEWGOR - EEMERIT
R BERRITER BERRATE
Bt ARtz EP ST ENESKRE
BN E ZRK - EBMEMNFIR - RITH
Fo KA -—RKEREERIBER - K
B FEHE AR AR 0 B R e At £ R A 5K
He 2F2 BT ANFITCRAERME
NIRE - HZEe i T ERBNER X
AADRUR 3% F R B BV BRI N3 > B
BEEEEREEZFRAR - ARERE

B 78 R SR EBGE & M FE 1 ©

T @ iz

AEERETFAERARMNER  BEEFEX
RITER  RE—REAZERARNE
FHEREIEERBENER(BREFEBR
MfsE25~ 34~ 35 2.36) i @ g A F (B E
FMERR - NEEEERAEEREX
BB R BIFENFIER o ZRE B K I £
FIRERBR - R EEESEITEF
KRR WERNEREEEREAN
=Rk

AEEEGRE@ZBFERITERRK
B XEEZERARNZBFERERD
BeneMERR(BEFSERMEM
K.36) °

AEE P T REE RSB & m A
FEBRAMERDECRREE
AL - REENRSRENERRARE
EETRAEENETHENERAE
EMEFBRITAERERB REFRIA
ARBHENERMEENTEARR
TTEERNEKE

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include loans
to joint ventures, trade receivables, other receivables, long
term receivables, pledged bank deposits, cash and bank
balances, equity investment designated at fair value through
other comprehensive income, trade payables, other payables,
bank loans, loans from an intermediate holding company,
loans from non-controlling shareholders and other long term
payables. Details of these financial instruments are disclosed
in the respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments and the policies about how to mitigate
these risks are set out below. Management manages and
monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures

are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation
to loans to joint ventures, fixed-rate bank loans, loans from an
intermediate holding company and loans from non-
controlling shareholders (see Notes 25, 34, 35 and 36 for
details). The Group aims at keeping as much of its borrowings
at variable rates as possible. The Group currently does not
have an interest rate hedging policy. However, management
monitors interest rate exposure and will consider hedging

significant interest rate exposure should the need arise.

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank loans and variable-rate loans from an
intermediate holding company (see Notes 34 and 36 for
details).

The Group's exposures to interest rate risk on financial assets
and financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk
management section of this note. The Group's cash flow
interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of
Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate arising from the Group's
Hong Kong dollar and People’s Bank of China Base Rate

arising from Renminbi denominated borrowings.

TECCFFR
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45.
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SRTA®E)
TREREENEERBEE)

T m iz (48)
HREDT

RS B R E g 0 BURE TR E R
MAREERITERNRE —REAKZER
RAMERNN R METE

fﬁl K T,/ T FESOEEE AT A HA
BERFETE  AXAEEHE_T ==
¢+_ﬂ Tt+—BLEEEARFBRE
b EAN#42,482,00058 T (— B = —4F ¢
19,603,000 7T) °

AEBFEENE BTSN ERITER
MRS REMNERBRIL TEKX - it

I 4 A BT R URRE AT ©

BE¥E

Wilﬁﬁuuuﬁfaa%ﬂ ﬁ%ﬁ\%
EBEMRITES  RITERLKRE
—%F%ﬂ RONGIEE Fﬁ?ﬁxm“ﬁ%
B (GEE RBHEE31 ~ 34 K 36) - REH
IEML?HEEWI\%H R 75 [ H FINES S S I

o AN ERERVERABING Y
&E’\Jlﬁuﬂﬁ CWHRBERZEBEHRERKR
MEBRR -
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The Group's sensitivity to interest rate risk has been
determined based on the exposure to interest rates for bank
loans and loans from an intermediate holding company
outstanding at the end of the reporting period.

If interest rate had been 50 basis points higher/lower and all
other variables were held constant, the Group's profit for the
year ended 31 December 2022 would be decreased/increased
by approximately HK$42,482,000 (2021: HK$19,603,000).

The Group's exposure to cash flow interest rate risk in relation
to variable-rate bank balances is insignificant. Accordingly, no

interest rate sensitivity analysis is prepared.

Currency risk

The Group's exposure to currency risk is attributable to the
bank balances, bank loans and loans from an intermediate
holding company which are denominated in the currencies
other than the functional currency of the entity to which they
are related (see Notes 31, 34 and 36 for details). The Group
currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy in
respect of foreign currency exposure. However, management
monitors the related foreign currency exposure closely and
will consider hedging significant currency exposure should

the need arise.
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)
Sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group's sensitivity to a 5%
exchange difference in RMB against HK$ and US$. The
sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding monetary items
denominated in a foreign currency and adjusts their
translation at year end for a 5% change in foreign currency
rates. A positive number below indicates an increase in post-
tax profit where the RMB strengthens 5% against HK$ and
US$. For a 5% weakening of RMB against HK$ and US$, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the post-tax

profit.

—E-CF —E-—F

2022 2021
FHET TET
HK$'000 HK$'000
i AR H BT AHE If RMB strengthens against
HK$ 80,295 172,518
MARBHETHE If RMB strengthens against
us$ (48) (41)
“ECCEFR
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China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the event of
the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations at the
end of each reporting period in relation to each class of
recognized financial assets is the carrying amount of those
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position, while the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk
due to financial guarantees provided by the Group is the
amount of contingent liabilities in relation to financial
guarantees issued by the Group as disclosed in Note 42. In
order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the
Group has formulated a defined credit policy and delegated
a team responsible for determination of credit limits, credit
approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that

follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.

The Group applies the simplified approach for impairment of
trade receivables measured at amortized cost. Financial
assets including loans to joint ventures, trade receivables
measured at fair value through other comprehensive income,
other receivables, long term receivables, pledged bank
deposits and cash and bank balances, are classified within

stage 1 for measurement of ECLs.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the Group's
bank balances are deposited with banks of high credit ratings.

The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk, with
exposure spread over a number of counterparties and

customers.
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F+-A=+—0  I#HAEEFEAD
i AR B FRERTTREE 4 5 13,548,662,000 75
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e RBITEL - RBARTERBE -
T ARASEENES - MBITER
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F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents deemed
adequate by management to finance the Group’s operations
and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash flows.
Management also regularly monitors the operating cash flows
of the Group to meet its liquidity requirements in short and
long term. Management monitors the utilization of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants. As
at 31 December 2022, the Group had available unutilized
banking facilities of approximately HK$13,548,662,000 (2021:
HK$18,407,505,000) to meet the Group's future expansion
and satisfy its existing liabilities. Management is also in the
process of negotiating with the banks to refinance its short
term banking facilities to long term. In addition, the Company
has an intra-group lending agreement among companies of
the China Resources Group whereby borrowings which may
be made will be guaranteed by its intermediate holding
company. Taking into account the cash and bank balances,
the unutilized banking facilities, the expected future internally
generated funds, the new banking facilities and other sources
of financing to be obtained, management is confident that
the Group will be able to meet its financial obligations when

they fall due in the foreseeable future.

The following table details the Group's remaining contractual
maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of
financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which the
Group can be required to pay. The maturity dates for other
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed

repayment dates.

S
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45. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables

—EHE MENL ANRER
4RI - {(EFEEME BFEELF BBIE RERELE HEfE
Morethan ~ More than Total
1yearbut  2years but contractual
Average Within less than lessthan ~ More than undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1 year 2 years 5 years Syears  cashflows amount
T Fin Tk Fin T Tk
% HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$000
RZEZZETZR=1-A As at 31 Decerber 2022
ENEHEHR Trade payables = 3241807 = = = 3241807 3241807
HtEAFARAMRSDENZE  Other payables and other
(RBEER) long term payables
(excluding lease liabilites) - 3,879,441 187,054 186,942 1,201,142 5454579 5,148,444
R8T Bank loans
L ES —Variable rate 25 W8 1089750 7973439 2059775 121224 11,067,880
—EEfIx — Fixedrate 24 3479644 106,855 1,364,336 - 4950835 4,768,705
REFERBE Loan from non-controlling
RER shareholders
~EEh= — Fixed rate 43 474431 139,265 - - 613696 59,678
HEEfk Lease liabilities 48 80,300 50,200 72733 104,103 307,33 254,446
12,154901 1573124 9,597,450 336500 26690495 25,077,960
RZZ--F+-A=1-H As at 31 December 2021
ERBSER Trade payables - 3786,280 = - = 3,786,280 3,786,280
A58 Other payables
(NBHEERE) (excluding lease liabilities) - 2,993,521 = - = 2993521 2993521
ROEH Bank loans
—FHE —Variable rate 10 3331804 = - - 3,331,804 3,300,000
- EEA= — Fixed rate 32 4206512 N8 1256404 - 5SS 52987
RE—RERERA A Loans from an intermediate
B3R holding company
—FHfE —Variable rate 08 1,004,338 = - = 1,004,338 1,000,000
—FlE — Fixed rate 32 685,99 = - = 6859% 672,700
REFEERRR Loan from non-controlling
MER shareholders
—BlE — Fixed rate 45 48,955 6,059 143,610 = 198,624 181,654
HEEE Lease liabilities 48 59,200 46,380 52828 122,956 281,364 23322
16,116,606 92,047 1,452,842 122,956 17,784,451 17,416,764

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited




46.

e MR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HE—_ZT——

TRHEENRSREENAFEE

BERBAFEE AL M EEKER
BHEFEBRENR -_ZE-_—-F+-A8
=T —RIARFEEERPE A&
MEKZEZERN _ZE-—F+_ A
—t+t—HBE=ZE=_—4F+=ZHA=+—H
AR EAEATEBEF ALME2EKE
LEBEE  HIWAATEEBESATE
iy

ARESHEERSMEENATHEE
THEERTRRSREH NN AREE
BATERE -

EERR WEHRAI NGRS MR
KTNEMEERSRARNKRER
HRFEERS -

F+ZA=1+T—HILFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

46. FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Equity investment designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income as at 31 December 2022 are included
in Level 1 in the fair value hierarchy, whereas trade receivables
classified as financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income as at 31 December 2022 and 31
December 2021 are included in Level 2 in the fair value

hierarchy.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities of the
Group are determined in accordance with generally accepted

pricing models based on discounted cash flow analysis.

The Directors consider that the carrying amounts of financial
assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortized cost in
the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair

values.
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. RERSREBRHTE 47.
(a) TERFIAKERELTBDHELNE (@)
2 (BRASKIFRATED) B

N-MELTDHELNHAGERERS
MEBBRAKRERERNAEE
mERERERTHERMERY
EENRERENEE -

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS

The table below details changes in the Group's liabilities

arising from financing activities, including both cash and

non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing

activities are those for which cash flows were, or future

cash flows will be, classified in the Group's consolidated

statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing

activities.
RE-%
BEER  REFER bt
HEERE DANER RRWER 08X Gl &5t
Loans froman  Loans from
intermediate non- Unsecured
Lease holding controlling medium
liabilities company  shareholders  Bankloans term notes Total
Fhn Fhn Thn Fh Fhn Thr
HK$000 HKS'000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$000
(ar7) (Wit (W) (W%
(Note 17) (Note 34) (Note 39) (Note 36)
RZF=-F-8-R At 1 January 2021 220,248 - - 3,300,000 3,964,480 7,084,728
BERSTE Financing cash flows (248,628) 1,672,700 135,491 5,175,583 (3,611,400 3123746
AU Acquisition of subsidiaries 16,362 = 4236 83704 = 142432
5 Additions 260,137 - - - - 260,137
LR Interest expense 11,762 = 1737 = = 13499
MIERA SRS HE R Revision of a lease term arising from a
ik change in the non-cancellable period
of a lease (33,578) = = = = (33,578)
ExipE Foreign exchange translation (2981) = 2060 = 46,920 45999
RZF=-5+ZA=1-H At 31 December 2021 2332 1,672,700 181,654 8,559,287 - 10,636,963
HERENE Financing cash flows (90.792) (1640222) (28,204) 6,933,961 - 5174743
WEREBAT Acquisition of subsidiaries 522 - 410,566 810,492 - 1,226,285
#m Additions 123,880 - - - - 123,880
FERR Interest expense 11,016 = 11,262 = = 2,778
A THERRRARE Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders - - 63836 - - 6383
AR ERASROEHELR Revision of a lease term arising from a
BT change in the non-cancellable period
of alease (3.194) - - - - (3.194)
ERpE Foreign exchange translation (15013) (32.478) (42.436) (467,155) = (557,082)
RZE-—5+-f=+-H At 31 December 2022 254,446 - 596,678 15,836,585 - 16,687,709

KRR ERA A
266 ERKR A

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited




nv

e ISR R MR

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BE—

TRERMHE @

HMER SR H AR

AAAGERERERNEERER
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47. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT
OF CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

HAaZEmT - consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows:
—ZE-_= —E-—F
2022 2021
FET T
HK$'000 HK$'000
KEEHA Within operating activities 537,801 701,336
MERHNA Within financing activities 90,792 248,628
628,593 949,964

48. BBAER S

(a)

48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

MRz E4r A BT R Bl P it 55 62 (@) Apart from the transactions and the balances with
REE T IR 5 RAEERFIEIN - & related parties disclosed elsewhere in these

BNAFEIC ERERB T ETAT

consolidated financial statements, the Group also
entered into the following significant transactions with

related parties during the year:

—E-—F —E-—F

2022 2021
FTExT FAT
HK$'000 HK$'000

mE THEQAREES M Sales of goods to certain
associates 95,259 159,228

mETAELEARHEE R Sales of goods to certain
joint ventures 674,918 886,911

MEFTRZEZMBATISNES R Sales of goods to certain
fellow subsidiaries 78,646 63,856

mETRRMEBARREE R Purchases of goods from
certain fellow subsidiaries 46,291 44,189

mETRRMEABREE N Purchases of electricity from

certain fellow subsidiaries 1,356,181 1,354,139

M TR RHTE A B ERE RS Purchases of service from
certain fellow subsidiaries 31,592 34,994

mETHS AR RES D Purchases of goods from
certain associates 184,908 250,836

mETELEARERES R Purchases of goods from
certain joint ventures 1,636,750 2,469,508
TECFFR
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(b)

RZBEZZTF+—A+H KA7A
BIKGERRITROBRAE ([
BIRTT D AT B A e - B
Ut FEERITERASERE &
RITRE (RREER R A S B8R
%)  BEEEEREMNERE =F
——HF—A—HBEHE_ZT_=F
F+TZA=t+—RBRLERH=F K=
T —F+-A=+—H K£E
REBBRITHERERLBLER
248,456,000 7L( — & = — & :
1,261,799,00036 7T )

RZEBE-_—F+A=-+HH AR
AEEEEERE(KE)ERAT
(MEBRED (AR ESERE
(R2)BRAR)FILEBAIER
B EEREZRAASEERE
HREERERE(2EFRER
BEREMESEARTS) - BEEE EW
ENHRE S —F1+HA=+Hh
Bt E—ZE-_=F+=-H=+—
BIERB=F R _=F+=
A=+—8  KNEEEEFRPEE
TR 5 4% 53,515,000%8 0 (=
T —4 1 29,599,000/8T) °

RZT_—F+—A+N\A K&
ERERRMNBAREHEEESE
BRAR(EREE ) B AAE
B EREREEAAEEMNEGE
B EpeZ st R AR A A ([
JIEER ) 2 BT M E iR
R o WRIEZ KM - —BR)IGERE
ER - WERIBEE AR
730 & (B 1% T = 7 610,000,000 %5
7T+ BIARE B TABE 2 3R
Z-RER ZERCEZHEE
KZAGEE R -

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

FH+ZA=1+—HIEFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(b)

On 10 November 2020, the Company entered into a
strategic cooperation agreement with China Resources
Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank"), pursuant to which,
CR Bank shall provide general banking services
including deposit and other financial services to the
Group. The term of the strategic cooperation
agreement was three years from 1 January 2021 to 31
December 2023. As at 31 December 2022, the Group
had an aggregate balance of deposits of
HK$248,456,000 (2021: HK$1,261,799,000) with CR Bank.

On 25 October 2021, the Company entered into a
strategic cooperation agreement with China Resources
Commercial Factoring (Tianjin) Co., Ltd. ("CR
Factoring”) (formerly known as RUNXIN Commercial
Factoring Co., Ltd.), pursuant to which, CR Factoring
shall provide general commercial factoring services
including factoring financing and other financial services
to the Group. The term of the strategic cooperation
agreement was three years from 25 October 2021 to 31
December 2023. As at 31 December 2022, the Group
had an aggregate transaction amount of HK$3,515,000
(2021: HK$29,599,000) with CR Factoring.

On 18 November 2021, the Group issued an
undertaking letter to its fellow subsidiary China
Resources Asset Management Co., Ltd (“CR Asset”), as
a security of the loan agreement between CR Asset and
the Group's joint venture partner Tongchuan
Huinengxin Energy Co., Ltd. (“Tongchuan Energy”).
Pursuant to the letter, once Tongchuan Energy defaults
on the loan, the Group shall participate in the bidding
irrevocably if the auction price of the collateral under
the loan agreement is no more than HK$610,000,000.
During the year, the loan had been fully repaid and the
undertaking had been released.
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48. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(e)

The key management personnel includes solely the
Directors and the compensation to them is disclosed in
Note 10.

Apart from the aforementioned transactions, no other
significant transactions, arrangements and contracts to
which the Company was a party and in which a director
of the Company had, directly or indirectly, a material

interest at any time during the year.

Transactions/balances with other state-controlled
entities

The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies
under China Resources Company Limited, which is
controlled by the government of the Chinese Mainland.
Apart from the transactions with the parent company
and its subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other
notes to the consolidated financial statements, the
Group also conducts businesses with entities directly or
indirectly owned or controlled, jointly controlled or
significantly influenced by the Chinese Mainland
government (“stated-controlled entities”) in the ordinary
course of business. The Directors consider those entities
other than the China Resources Company Limited
group are independent third parties as far as the
Group's business transactions with them are concerned.
In establishing its pricing strategies and approval
process for transactions with other state-controlled
entities, the Group does not differentiate whether the
counterparty is state-controlled entity or not. The Group
is of the opinion that it has provided, to the best of its
knowledge, adequate and appropriate disclosure of
related party transactions in the consolidated financial

statements.

The Group has bank balances deposited in and entered
into various transactions, including sales, purchases,
borrowings and other operating expenses, with other
state-controlled entities during the year in which the
Directors are of the opinion that it is impracticable to
ascertain the identity of the controlling parties of these
counterparties and accordingly whether the

counterparties are state-controlled entities.

TECCFFR
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49. FEHBAT
ARRRZEBE_—_FK

= =—kEgr=

A=+—BHEBHBARMFENT :

49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31

December 2022 and 2021 are as follows:

HAMELR BREARERRA/ RAABERAR
il PEEL EBfELE &R BHNLA TTER
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
—ECCE -
2022 20
E# B Ef 53
Directly  Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
BERARIARERRAF" REIR ARH90,000,0007T - 100% - 100% BERMEERNE
Baise Runhe Prefabricated Construction ~ Chinese Mainland RMB90,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Company Limited” of prefabricated
construction materials
EHKR(RIE)BRARY BB, AR 485,000,000 70 - 100% - 100% KEAEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMBA465,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Anshun) Limited® cement
EHKE(BT)ERAA" REIR ARES20,750000 7 - 98.4% = 9%B4% KELERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB520,750,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Changjiang) Limited® cement
EEKE(RR)ERRA® REIR AR 280,000,000 - 72% - % KREERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Changzhi) Ltd cement
EEKR () BRAFY REIA 15,000,000/ - 100% - 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$15,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited” cement
EEKE(RIL)ERAFR REIR AR 280,000,000 - 2% = 0% KEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangshan) Limited?® cement
EEKE(HR)ERRA" REIR ARE 45132031 0 - 100% - 100% KEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB1 451,322,031 Manufacture and sale of
(Fengkai) Limited” cement
ERKE(E)BRARD BB, 21,848 000 T - 100% - 100% KEAEEEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$261,848,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fuchuan) Limited" cement
EEKE(RR)BRAFN REIR 55104000 - 100% = 100% KEEERSEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 15$55,104,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guigang) Limited"” cement
EEKE(AR)BRAF" REIH AR 350,000,000 - 100% - 100% KEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB350,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Hepu) Limited" cement

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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49. FEMBAT (&) 49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

HAMEALR BRARMRRA/ RAARERAR
il kL ERfELY &R BRMLA ITEE
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
- Smbet:3 “E-
2022 2022
E# 4 B% 3
Directly Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
EHKE(BRE)ERAAY hER AR 230000000 - 100% - 100% KEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Heqing) Limited? cement
EEKE(EM)BRAF" REIR 70500000 - 100% - 100% KEEERSHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 15$70,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Huizhou) Limited™ cement
ERKE(IMN)BRAF" hEIRH 55,000,000 %70 - 100% - 100% KEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$55,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jiangmen) Limited” cement
EEKE(EY)ERAFN RER B3T50000£ - 100% - 100% KEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 1S$43,750,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jinsha) Limited" cement
EPKEET)ERAA" REIR ABRES1,00000070 - 100% = 100% KEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB51,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang) Limited” cement
RIHEHKERRAR0 REIA ARE 4700000007 - 100% - 100% KEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB470,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang Fengcheng) Limited” cement
EEKE(RE)BRAFN RER 332800000 - 100% - 100% KEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 5$33,280,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan) Limited” cement
ERKE(EREE)ARAA0 REIR 480,000,007 - 100% - 100% KEEERSHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$480,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan Caoxi) Limited” cement
ERKE(EaRR)BRAA0 REIA 3304000057 - 100% - 100% KEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$33,040,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Longyan Yanshi) Limited” cement
EEKE(E)ERAF" RER AR 244,190,000 - 100% - 100% KEEERHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB244,190,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luchuan) Limited" cement
EEKE(RE)ERAA" REIR 280000000357 - 100% - 100% KEEERSHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$280,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luoding) Limited" cement
“EFFR
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49. FEMBAT (&) 49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

HMELR BREARERRA/ IRRAFEMERE
KEAREH ERHELY Fiaiy-e8 Bl ITXH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
—E-CE “E--F
2022 202
ER B R i
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
EEKE(BE)ERAAY REIR AR 2300000007 - 100% - 100% KEEERSEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB230,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Midu) Limited? cement
EHKR(BE)BRAA" REIR 55200000570 - 100% - 100% KEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 1S$55,200,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning) Limited"” cement
EEKE(TH)ERAF" RER ABRH1,080,78000070 - 100% - 100% KEEEESEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB1,080,780,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Pingnan) Limited" cement
EEKE(EM)BRAFN REIR 328000057 - 100% - 100% KEEERSEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 15$3,280,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Quanzhou) Limited" cement
ERKE(LR)ERAA" REIR AR 565450000 T - 100% - 100% KEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB565,450,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shangsi) Limited” cement
EHKRCIE) BRARY BB, AR 2100000007 - 100% - 100% KEAEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB210,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Shantou) Limited cement
EEKE (AR BRAF" REIR AR 356,984,362 0 - 100% - 100% KEEERSHE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB356,984,362 Manufacture and sale of
(Tianyang) Limited” cement
EEKE(RE)ERAA" REIR M4 25600057 - 100% - 100% KEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$414,254,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuxuan) Limited” cement
ERKE(LEL)ERATO REIR AR 25,000,000 - 100% - 100% KEEEESEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuzhishan) Limited” cement
EEKE(BE)ERAA" REIR 35000000037 - 100% - 100% KEEERSEE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$350,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yangchun) Limited™ cement
FHKR(KE) BRAA" REIH 3500000057 - 100% - 100% KEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland 1S$35,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yongding) Limited” cement

ERKRERERAT
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49. FEMBAT (&) 49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ALK BEARARRA/ RAARRERAE
WEARER ERHESY &R ERMLA ITER
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
—ECCE —EC-F
2022 202
B# 3 L i
Directly ~Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
SEKECET)ERAFY REIA 20000007 - 100% - 100% KEEEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland HK$22,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang) Limited” cement
EHKE(ET)BRAF" hEIA ARE 1336000007 - 100% - 100% KREEREE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland RMB133,600,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhangping) Limited” cement
EEKRAR (R ARAA B 10000570 100% - 100% - BEHBATRE
China Resources Cement Holdings Hong Kong HK$10,000 Holding investments in
(Hong Kong) Limited subsidlaries
ERKERERRAR. REIA 1,066,770300% - 100% = 0% HEMBLITRE
China Resources Cement Chinese Mainland US$1,066,770,300 Holding investments in
Investments Limited"! subsidiaries
EHRRL(EB)ERAAY REA 2000000047 - 100% - 100% FHLEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Baise) Limited" concrete
EFRAL(LR)ERATY REM 32,000000% T - 100% - 100% BRIEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$32,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Beihai) Limited" concrete
FEEERRL(BLE)BRAD  FEA 20000000747 - 100% = 100% FHTEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Beihai Tieshangang) Limited” concrete
ERRRL (LR ERAFY mER, AR 250000007 - 100% - 100% BRIEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Beiliu) Limited” concrete
FHRRL(BR)ERAA hERD AR 2500000070 - 100% - 100% FHLEEEHE
(NEERERBERRELAR
EEAF)0
China Resources Concrete (Binyang) Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Limited (formerly known as concrete
Guangxi Binyang Kunan Concrete
Limited)(!
EERRL(BESL)ERAA" HEIA 240000007 - 100% - 100% FRTEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Chengmai Jinjiang) Limited” concrete
“EFFR
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49. EEMB AT (&) 49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
AR BRARARRE/ AAARRNAR
HEARAH FRAENE ifEs el IEEH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
—ECCE “5--fF
2022 202

BR 53 ER i
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly

ERRRT (BEZH)ARAA" HEM AEE10000,00070 - 100% - 100% ERtEEEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Chengmai Laocheng) Limited"” concrete
EERRL(AB)ARARO REIH 30,000,000 %7 - 100% = 100% FHRTEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$30,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Dali) Limited" concrete
ZRRRL(TR)ERAFY mER, AR 250000007 - 100% - 100% ERtEESEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Dingan) Limited" concrete
REERYPRRTERAFY hEIA AR 1983980070 - 51% - S1% BRTEESEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB19,839,800 Manufacture and sale of
(Dongguan Fengcheng) Limited” concrete
ERRRL (A BRAA0 REIR 2500000047 - 100% = 100% FRTEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fangchenggang) Limited” concrete
EHRRL IR BRAA0 REIA AR 2000000070 - 100% - 100% RRTEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fengkai) Limited” concrete
EERRL (RLIEE)BRAA HEIRH 350000057 - 100% = 100% FHLEEEHE
(MEBLERERRRLARDR)"
China Resources Concrete (Foshan Chinese Mainland 15$3,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
Shunde) Limited (formerly known as concrete
Foshan China Resources Shunan
Concrete Limited)"
EFRRL(B))ERAFO BB, ARHE10000,00070 - 100% - 100% BRIEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Fuchuan) Limited" concrete
ERRL(RE)ERARO REIR AR 27 61420070 - 100% = 100% FRTEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB27,614,200 Manufacture and sale of
(Gaoyao) Limited” concrete
ERIRL(ER) GRARO REIA 3400000057 - 100% - 100% FRLEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$34,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Guangsi Limited" concrete

ERKRERERAT
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49. FEMBAT (&) 49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

ALK BREARARRA/ RAABERER
il PEEL] ERFEEE &R REMLA TTER
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
—ECCE -
2022 202
E# ;3 Ef i
Directly  Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
ERTRL(BL)ERARO hEIA AR 25,000,000 - 100% - 100% FHRLEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Heshan) Limited" concrete
EERRT (BN ARARO hEIA 2500000047 - 100% - 100% FELEESRE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Hezhou) Limited"” concrete
ZERRL (M) ERAAY REIA 700000057 - 100% - 100% FRTEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland US$7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Huizhou) Limited™ concrete
EHRRLOIM)ERAR0 hEIA 28000000747 - 100% - 100% FRTEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$28,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jiangmen) Limited” concrete
ERRRT(BR)ARARY mERL 24,000,000 - 100% = 100% ERtEESEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Jingxi) Limited” concrete
ERERL(RE)ERARO REIA 200000007 - 100% - 100% FRTEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Laibin) Limited"” concrete
EHRRL R ERRA0 hEIA 24000000570 - 100% - 100% FRLEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Ledong) Limited” concrete
EERRT(RT)ARARO hEIA AR 2000000070 - 100% - 100% FHLEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lianjiang) Limited” concrete
ERIRL ) FRATO REIR 200000007 - 100% - 100% FRTEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Liuzhou) Limited” concrete
R (R BRAFY REIH AR 3000000070 - 72% - % RELEERNE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB30,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Lucheng) Limited? concrete
EERRT(E))ERARO hEIA AR 25,000,000 - 100% - 100% FHLEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luchuan) Limited" concrete
“EFFR
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ERKRERERAT
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49. FEWMBE AT (&) 49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
AMEALR BRARMRRA/ RAABERAR
il kL EBfELY &R BRMLA ITEE
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
—E-CE “E-F
2022 20
E# B B% 3
Directly  Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
ERRHT(BE)ERAAY REIR 240000007 - 100% - 100% FHLEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Luoding) Limited” concrete
ERERL(RE)ERATO hEIR 240000007 - 100% = 100% RRTEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Maoming) Limited” concrete
ERIRT(BE)ERARO REIA 2000000047 - 100% - 100% FRLEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning) Limited"” concrete
HEZERARERIERARY BB, 20,000000% T - 100% - 100% BRIEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Nanning Xixiangtang) Limited" concrete
EERRT(ZR)ARARO REIR 720000057 - 100% = 100% RRTEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland US$7,200,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Ningbo) Limited” concrete
ERRRL(TH)ERARO REIA AR 2000000070 - 100% - 100% FRLEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Pingqui) Limited” concrete
EERRT () BRARO REIA 200000007 - 100% - 100% FHLEEEHE
Chma Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Qinzhou) Limited" concrete
FNEESERRLERAFD REIR 200000007 - 100% = 100% RRTEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Qinzhou Legou) Limited” concrete
ERRRT (AR ERARO REIA AR 25,000,000 - 100% - 100% FRLEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Rongxian) Limited"” concrete
ERRRT(HZ) BRARY mERL AR 250000007 - 100% = 100% ERtEESEEE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Suixi) Limited" concrete
ERIRL(BG) ERARO REIR AR 25,000,000 - 80% = 0% RRTEERNE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland RMB25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Tianyang) Limited® concrete
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BHEZZT-__F+-_A=1—HILFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2022
49. FTEMWMBE AT (&) 49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
ALK BEARARRA/ RAARRERAE
WEARER ERHESY &R ERMLA ITER
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
—E-cE “E--F
2022 20
B# 3 L i
Directly ~Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
FHRRL(BE)BRAA" REIR 240000007 - 100% - 100% FRTEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wanning) Limited” concrete
ERRRL (BN ERAFY HEIA 24000000787 - 100% - 100% RELEERKE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Wuzhou) Limited" concrete
2ERRL (B ERAD RER 11,500,000%7 - 100% - 100% BELEEERE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$11,500,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yangjiang) Limited” concrete
ZERRL () ERRAY REIR 240000007 - 100% - 100% FRTEERHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Yulin) Limited concrete
ERRRL (BT ERAFY HEIA 20000000747 - 100% - 100% RELEERKE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhanjiang) Limited” concrete
EERRT (TR BRAA RER 2400000087 - 100% - 100% BELEEERE
(MREIZERRZRLARAF)"
China Resources Concrete (Zhanjiang ~ Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Potou) Limited (formerly known as concrete
Zhanjiang China Resources Concrete
Pengyuan Limited)”
EHRRL(ER)ERAA0 hEIA 2000000047 - 100% - 100% FHLEEEHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhaoging) Limited” concrete
EFRRL (K8 ARAFY REM 3300000047 - 100% - 100% BRIEESHE
China Resources Concrete Chinese Mainland HK$33,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
(Zhuhai) Limited" concrete
EEREKRRERERAA B 15000000047 - 100% - 100% KBS
China Resources Dongguan Cement Hong Kong HK$150,000,000 Trading of cement
Manufactory Holdings Limited
RREBRELARDAY REIA 25000000747 - 100% - 100% FHLEEEHE
China Resources Dongguan Chinese Mainland HK$25,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Co., Limited" concrete
“EFFR
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49. TEMEEDF (&)
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49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

HREIR BRARMERE/ AAARRNAR
HEARAH FRAENE iftEs BRI TREH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
. e 3 “E-F
2022 2021
BE 53 Bk i
Directly  Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly

EERRIE(RE)ARAGY RERL AR 500000007 - 100% - 100% RERELE

China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Environmental protection
Protection Engineering engineering
(Baise) Limited"

EERRIE(ER)RRAR" RER ARH500000007 - 100% - 100% RAERETE

China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Environmental protection
Protection Engineering (Binyang) engineering
Limited"

EERRLE(BR)ARAA" RER ARH500000007 - 100% - 100% RAERETE

China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB50,000,000 Environmental protection
Protection Engineering (Midu) engineering
Limited"

EERRIE(RE)RRAR" RER AR 100000007 - 100% - 100% RERELR

China Resources Environmental Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Environment protection
Protection Engineering engineering
(Nanning) Limited”

EREEHR(RR)ARA PEIR AR 13609700070 - 100% - 0% BRRMLESEE
(H‘ REZBEEZ ;'Eﬁ RAR)0

China Resources Intelligent Building Chinese Mainland RMB136,097,000 Manufacture and sale of
Technology (Ding'an) Limited prefabricated
(formerly known as Ding'an Runfeng construction materials
Intelligent Building Co., Ltd.)"

ERREHR(RA)AROA RER ARE112,017.2007 - 100% - 0% BRENEEREE
(REERaREARERRAR)"

China Resources Intelligent Building Chinese Mainland RMB112,017,240 Manufacture and sale of
Technology (Guigang) Limited prefabricated
(formerly known as Guigang Runhe construction materials
Prefabricated Construction Company
Limited)”

ERRAHNERARRAA REIA ARE3691,7000007T - 100% - 0% HEZZNBARDRE
(H‘ REREEEHERARRAA)"
China Resources Intelligent Building Chinese Mainland RMB3,691,700,000 Holding investments in

Technology Investment Limited
(formerly known as Guangdong
Runfeng Technology Investment
Limited)"

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited

subsidiaries



e UBRRME
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

BHEZZT-__F+-_A=1—HILFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2022

49. EEWMB AT (&) 49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)
LR BRARARRE/ FATARERER
HEATER RHAELE &R RENLA TEEH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
b3 I S
2022 2021
BE 53 Bi &
Directly  Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
EERERH (I ARAT HERH ARE 1500000007 - 100% 0% RERMEEEHE
(H‘ RIMHESRAEERE
BRAF)O

China Resources Intelligent Building Chinese Mainland RMB150,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Technology (Jiangmen) Limited of prefabricated
(formerly known as Jiangmen Runfeng construction materials
United Intelligence Manufacturing
Construction Limited)"!

EERENR(FE)ARA RER AR 180,000,007 - 100% 100% BERMLESEE
(H‘ RERZARL RS ﬁ RAa)"

China Resources Intelligent Building Chinese Mainland RMB180,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Technology (Nanning) Limited of prefabricated
(formerly known as Guangxi China construction materials
Resources Prefabricated Construction
Limited)"

ERRANR(ED ARAT hEIR AERH 10000000072 - 100% 0% FERRIMEEEHE
(FIBEIHARRAEEERAR)"

China Resources Intelligent Building Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Technology (Zhanjiang) Limited prefabricated
(formerly known as ZhanJiang RunYang construction materials
United Intelligent Manufacturing
Company Limited)”

ERERAREMHARLAY hEIRH ARE 140000001 T - 70% 0% KREEREE

Deging Yingqj Building Materials Chinese Mainland RMB140,000,001 Manufacture and sale of
Co, Ltd® cement

RERKRRRRAT" e 199,000,000787C - 100% 100% KELERHE

Dongguan Huarun Cement Chinese Mainland HK$199,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Manufactory Co. Ltd " cement

R HARAR" e 52000000%7T - T53% 153% AEBRARREERMT

DongGuan Universal Classical Chinese Mainland 5$52,000,000 Manufacture and
Material Ltd processing of

engineered stones
and natural stones

ERRERFARAR" e ARH600,00000070 - 100% 100% FREH

Ding'an Runfeng Quarry Limited” Chinese Mainland RMB600,000,000 Mining of aggregates

“ECCEFR
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49. FEMBAT (&) 49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AR R BRAIRARRE/ AATARERER
HELTER RHAELE &R RN TERH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
“E-CF 3
2022 20
ER B Bi Bk
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
KERHERERAA Bt 21833333377 - 70% - - RANBAR BEAAR
AENARERENES
Everbest Logistics Company Limited Hong Kong HK218,333,333 Holding investment in
subsidiaries, associates and
joint ventures and
transportation of
construction materials
KERIMEHARAT Bt 35000007872 - 70% - - EHES
Ever Fortune Trading Limited Hong Kong HK3,500,000 Trading of construction
materials
HYARAR Bk 300000027 - 100% - 100% HENE
First Route Limited Hong Kong HK$30,000,002 Property holding
SEEARAT Bk 2T - 100% - 100% %EM%
General Perfect Limited Hong Kong HK$2 Property holding
TEERRHARLT Bk 55000007 - 70% - - BERE
Gold Harvest International Shipping Hong Kong HKS,500,000 Marine transportation
Limited
BERMERLT B 100000070 - 70% - - EiES
Greenway Buildings Materials Hong Kong HK1,000,000 Trading of construction
Limited materials
BRERGHIHNIERLF? e AR 1000000007 - 75% - - NEREERNT
Guangdong Borrego New Material Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 Manufacture and processing of
Technology Co., Ltd? engineered stones
BRI RARAAP PR AR 72,550 0007 - 51% - 5% HRSFHBLARE
Guangdong Runyou New Materials Chinese Mainland RMB72,550,000 Holding investments in
Technology Company Limited? subsidiaries
EREERRLERATY RERL 2597 MOETL - 100% - 100% ERLTEEEE
Guangdong Yuequn Concrete Chinese Mainland US82,597 440 Manufacture and sale of
Co, Ltd concrete
RRBRRAARAT" PR ARH800000007 - 51% = - FREH
Guangxi Boyao Investment Co., Ltd. " Chinese Mainland RMBB0,000,000 Mining of aggregates

ERKRERERAT
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49. FEMBAT (&) 49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AMRIR BRIRARRE/ FAARERAR
HELTER EBFENE AfEA BRI TEEH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
—B-CE “E-F
2022 20
& [ Bk B
Directly ~Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
RREBDKTKEARAF? REN AR 2000000007 - 95.8% - B KELEEEE
Guangxi China Resources Chinese Mainland RMB200,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Hongshuthe Cement Co,, Ltd? cement
REERFHHNEARAA" REN AR 35000000070 - 51% - 5% FREH
Guangx Runhan New Materials Chinese Mainland RMB350,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Technology Company Limited®
REEBIZARBRAA" REN AR 38000000070 - 51% - - FREH
Guangxi Tianyang Jiang'an Stone Chinese Mainland RMB380,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Co, Ltd.@
MREEBERRTERAFY REIA 24,000,000 T - 100% - 100% RETEEEHE
Heyuan China Resources Huida Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
EMEERRRARRAA" REM AR 181694347 - 85% - - NEREERNT
Hezhou Xubao Mining Investment Chinese Mainland RMB181,629.434 Manufacture and processing of
Co, ltd. @ engineered stones
IMERRIARAT" e 8000 000%7C - 100% - 100% RRLEEEEE
Huizhou China Resources Chinese Mainland 15$8,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Jiancai Limited" concrete
HERBEERAAD mERL ARE 5456000070 - 51% - - KEAERHE
Hunan Liangtian Cement Co,, Ltd® Chinese Mainland RMB54,560,000 Manufacture and sale of
cement
IFERERTENERARO RER 24,000,000 %72 - 100% - 0% RRTEEREE
Jiangmen China Resources Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Muzhou Limited” concrete
IFZEERTRTRRAA" REN 200000007 - 100% - 100% RALEEEHE
Jiangmen China Resources Chinese Mainland HK$20,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Tangxia Limited” concrete
REZBRZERIARAFY REN 240000007 - 100% - 100% BRLTEEEE
Laibin China Resources Xingbin Chinese Mainland HK$24,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete

—e-—EEH
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49. TEMEEDF (&)

49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

HREIR BRARMERE/ AAARRNAR
HEARAH RBFENE iftEs BRI TREH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
—E-CE “E-F
2022 201
BE 53 Bk i
Directly  Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
RERRREARERRAT" RERL ARH900000007 - 100% - 100% BREMEEERE
Laibin Runhe Prefabricated Chinese Mainland RMB90,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Construction Company Limited” prefabricated
construction materials
RERREHTURNBRAR" e AR 10000000070 - 75.3% - 153% ANERRARREERMT
Laibin Universal Classical Chinese Mainland RMB100,000,000 Manufacture and
Material Ltd. processing of
engineered stones
and natural stones
INEERLERTERAR" hEm ARE 3125000070 - 70% - 0% BETEEREE
Liuzhou China Resources Xijiang Chinese Mainland RMB31,250,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited? concrete
KEMRERAF Bk 30000007872 - 70% - - REEERMALE
Mega Rich Logistics Limited Hong Kong HK3,000,000 Warehouse management and
fuel supply
HEZERRERLIARLAY e 370000007 - 100% - 100% RRLEEEHE
Nanning China Resources Liangging Chinese Mainland HK$37,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
EREERRRTERAFY hEm 7,000000%7 - 100% - 100% RETEEEHEE
Ningbo Xiaogang China Resources Chinese Mainland US$7,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Concrete Limited” concrete
RRERERAA Bk 1000077 - 100% - 100% HENE
Profit Success Development Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Property holding
BREARRAT B 100007 - 70% - - #EES
Prospect Blessing Trading Limited Hong Kong HK10,000 Trading of steel pipes
nEEHBERERL Bk 2000007 - 100% - 100%  BEMHAH RERRE
Quahty Control Consultants Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 Building materials
testing and
consultancy services
hERRLERAA Bk 1027 - 100% - 0% ERTEEEHE
Redland Concrete Limited Hong Kong HK$10 Manufacture and sale of
concrete

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited
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49. FEMBAT (&) 49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

AR BRIRARRE/ AARRRNAR
HEAREH FRAEEE iftEs B IERH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
-8-cf i
2022 20
B - B i
Directly ~ Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
hEMEEEARAA B 2% - 100% - 0% BEMHES
Redland Construction Materials Hong Kong HK$2 Trading of construction
Limited materials
EERRMR(BT)BRAR" REN AR52,5000007C 98.4% - Bap RHERELR
Runfeng Environmental Protection Chinese Mainland RMB52,500,000 Environmental
Technology (Changjiang) Limited” protection engineering
EEMRER(ER)ARAT B 25T 100% - 100% HESZHELARE
Runfeng Technology Holdings Hong Kong HK$2 Holding investments in
(Hong Kong) Limited subsidiaries
B (R REHHAERAFP AR AR 156,130,000 67% - - NEBEERNI
Runhe (Feixian) New Material Chinese Mainland RMB156,130,000 Manufacture and processing of
Co, Ltd.® engineered stones
R (R SRR AR hEIRH ARH720700007T 67% - - ABREERIT
Runhe (Lanling) New Material Chinese Mainland RMB72,070,000 Manufacture and processing of
Co,, Ltd.? engineered stones
PESEERIARALLR" RERL AR 850000007 485% - 185% FREH
Shaanxi Xinhuada Building Materials Chinese Mainland RMBB5,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Co, Ltd®
WREHHFEHHERAT? e AR 213000007 67% - - NEBEERNT
Shandong Runhe New Material Chinese Mainland RMB21,300,000 Manufacture and processing of
Co, Ltd.® engineered stones
WEERREKEARAR? RER PN000ET - - 1% KELEEEE
Shanxi China Resources Fulong Chinese Mainland US$90,000,000 Manufacture and sale
Cement Limited? of cement
M TR EARAF R ARH1,4200000007C 100% - 100% HENBARRBELT
RARHHEE
Shenzhen Runfeng New Materials Chinese Mainland RMB1,420,000,000 Holding investments in
Technology Company Limited” subsidiaries and
associates and sale
of new materials
ABHEZARAR Bt 3000002787 100% - 100% HENE
Standard Wealth Investment Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000,002 Property holding
“ECCEFR
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HEZT-__F+-A=1+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022

49. TEMEEDF (&)

49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

HREIR BRARARRE/ AAARRNAR
HEARAH RBFENE iR BRI TREH
Place of Issued and fully
incorporation paid share capital/ Proportion of the ownership
Name of subsidiary and operation registered capital interest held by the Company Principal activities
—E-CE 3%
2022 201
BE 53 Bk i
Directly  Indirectly Directly ~ Indirectly
I REHHARAT PR AR 500,000,007 - 9% - W FREH
Tongchuan Runxin New Materials Chinese Mainland RMBS500,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Co, Ltd.@
BRRABRAT Bt 18,000,000 7 - 70% - - EiES
Wealth Bridge Trading Company Hong Kong HK18,000,000 Trading of construction
Limited materials
RUESEXERLA" PR ARH 13000000070 - 100% - 100% FsREH
Weishan Runfeng Quarry Limited"” Chinese Mainland RMB130,000,000 Mining of aggregates
RTEERERRAAY e AR 160,000,000 70 - 80% - 80% FFEH
Wauping China Resources Mining Chinese Mainland RMB160,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Limited?®
RUErHEReERaRAa?  mEM ARH800000007 - 65% - - BHES
Wushan Zhongrun Desheng Building ~ Chinese Mainland RMBB0,000,000 Trading of aggregates
Materials Co, Ltd. ?
R EREARAT" e ARH800000007 - 65% - - FREH
Wushan Zhongsheng Mining Chinese Mainland RMBB0,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Co, Ltd.@
ERDEEKRARAT® e AR 1200000007 - 85% - - KEEEEEE
Zhaoqing Jingang Cement Chinese Mainland RMB120,000,000 Manufacture and sale of
Co,, Ltd? cement
ERERRARRLA" RER AR 45000000070 - 100% - 5% FREH
Zhaoging Runsheng Quarry Chinese Mainland RMB450,000,000 Mining of aggregates
Co, Ltd. "
ERREHTHARLG" RERL AR 1000000072 - 6% - 6% FREH
Zhaoging Runxin New Materials Chinese Mainland RMB10,000,000 Mining of aggregates

Limited?
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BHEZZT-__F+-_A=1—HILFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2022

49. EEWMB AT (&) 49. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

it notes:

o ZERNEFEANMAIINEBEECENTR o These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form
[avAD of wholly foreign-owned enterprise.

@ ZENBEFEANMAFIEBECEN TR @ These companies were established in the Chinese Mainland in the form
KL © of Sino-foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

EERE FRIEBOARATHHREB A In the opinion of the Directors, the subsidiaries of the

RIS AEBNEE BENEBBEEEE Company listed in the above table principally affected the

B HYHMHBATMNEEE BN results, assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of

T ° other subsidiaries would result in particulars of excessive

length.
MAFERFANFE Z EAIERE - 8 None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities subsisting at
MEB LA FEBEITERERBES ° the end of the year or at any time during the year.

“BCCFER
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ZEZFF+ZA=+—HIFE Forthe year ended 31 December 2022
VINYNETIAE )3 O 50. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY
—E-—F —E—F
2022 2021
F&T FAET
HK$'000 HKS'000
IERBEE Non-current assets
BETEEE Fixed assets 16,608 358
FEREEE Right-of-use asset 13,702 8,097
R B RRHIRE Investments in subsidiaries 813,546 813,546
= NGIE /¢ Amounts due from subsidiaries 12,081,274 11,439,863
12,925,130 12,261,864
mBEE Current assets
H b e IR Other receivables 9,243 8,650
RS RIRIT4EH Cash and bank balances 688,013 215,927
697,256 224,577
meaE Current liabilities
Hth fEAT IR Other payables 35,813 51,369
AN ENGIE S Amounts due to subsidiaries 8,708,626 3,075,801
RKE—REEZEBRATNER Loans from an intermediate
holding company - 1,672,700
SRITER —R—FRNEIH Bank loans — amount due
within one year - 3,446,180
8,744,439 8,246,050
MEAEFE Net current liabilities (8,047,183) (8,021,473)
BEABRRHAERE Total assets less current liabilities 4,877,947 4,240,391
ERBEE Non-current liabilities
H R EAFERT SRIE Other long term payable 7,284 2,414
7,284 2,414
BEFE Net assets 4,870,663 4,237,977
AR AR K Capital and reserves
R& AR Share capital 698,294 698,294
& (et 51) Reserves (Note 57) 4,172,369 3,539,683
R Total equity 4,870,663 4,237,977
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51.

RRTF 2z 51. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY
BRERE REEF #et
Translation Retained
reserve profits Total
FHT FHBT T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
RNZE=Z—F—H—H At 1 January 2021 509,436 3,169,255 3,678,691
[ H =58 Exchange differences 99,055 = 99,055
FERF Profit for the year = 3,812,041 3,812,041
FEEMBALE Total comprehensive income
for the year 99,055 3,812,041 3,911,096
ZETFRPRKE 2020 final dividend - (2,374,199) (2,374,199)
ZE - —FHERE 2021 interim dividend - (1,675,905) (1,675,905)
RZTE——F At 31 December 2021
+ZA=+—H 608,491 2,931,192 3,539,683
PEH =58 Exchange differences (468,905) = (468,905)
FEAF Profit for the year = 3,894,767 3,894,767
FEX>H(ER) WAL Total comprehensive (expense)
income for the year (468,905) 3,894,767 3,425,862
—T-—FRERES 2021 final dividend - (1,955,223) (1,955,223)
—E - FRHRKRE 2022 interim dividend - (837,953) (837,953)
R-ZE-_F+_"F=+—H At31December 2022 139,586 4,032,783 4,172,369
“ECCEFR
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

BE_ZT-__F+-_HA=+—HIEFE Fortheyear ended 31 December 2022

—E-N\F =ZE-NF =ZZTTF T-_—F ZEBZHF
2018 2019 2020 2021 2022
FHET FHET FHET FET FExT
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
£ RESULTS
e Turnover 38,791,470 38,955,561 40,086,867 43,962,708 32,218,607
ANBHEAE A Profit for the year
FEERF attributable to owners
of the Company 7,975,439 8,617,503 8,959,865 7,767,357 1,935,735
BE ASSETS
B EE Fixed assets 28,489,788 27,080,617 28,485,137 29,556,092 31,467,930
EREEE Right-of-use assets = 2,922,031 3,410,139 4,325,329 5,128,710
T HEERIER Prepaid lease payments 2,846,024 = = = =
BEME Investment properties 137,761 130,000 120,000 130,000 130,000
HE Other investment = 97,197 72,295 51,410 39,361
EREE Intangible assets 2,197,455 2,461,792 2,702,986 12,298,717 19,905,873
REEE A RAIMELZE  Interests in associates 5,463,446 6,580,670 6,635,957 6,754,993 6,304,386
NEENFIRIMELZ  Interests in joint ventures 1,409,378 1,426,602 1,563,639 2,793,146 2,070,095
BEEE® Deposits for acquisition
of assets 497,157 1,031,817 4,028,926 4,448,461 4,116,961
BERIEEE Deferred tax assets 208,358 219,766 375,578 535,391 881,164
TEENAIMEF  Loan to joint ventures = - - 1,115,457 -
REAFE U B Long term receivables 354,740 260,553 288,511 299,086 280,674
BEERIRITIER Pledged bank deposits 80,089 216,985 273,573 318,456 467,327
mBEE Current assets 18,822,186 18,742,830 20,575,714 16,522,702 9,821,282
BE®EHE Total assets 60,506,382 61,170,860 68,532,455 79,149,240 80,613,763
=R LIABILITIES
mEARE Current liabilities 14,272,804 11,323,482 14,242,125 21,012,460 15,306,813
FERBEE Non-current liabilities 8,338,416 7,581,200 4,266,497 2,495,433 14,466,682
EREFE Total liabilities 22,611,220 18,904,682 18,508,622 23,507,893 29,773,495

ERKRERERAT

China Resources Cement Holdings Limited




AREFHRX MR XXARE BHNA R A

www.crcement.com °

EEEIRR AR BEBAR R R WEAR
A A BB ([ A BB MR - A IR
B A RE N ERE THN AR RPN F
HRABRBER AT ARRERXFR
B ENRIZA -

% 3R AT g By BB e R A R AR R T TR0 42 (BD
WER A BB ENRIA - 8B @A R AL ER
BrrEA) °

REFAUEMBARNRFNRNDBPELEE
BRREFLSELABRAR - MILABTBEFE
[ERERI8IFAMALITRITIZEINTICE -
FUBHBHARFNRNBPELR (B
HF /& crcement.ecom@computershare.com.hk)
REWEEREDRIAS ER - &,/ E BKER
NAEBB AR ERE -

This annual report, in both English and Chinese versions, is

available on the Company’s website at www.crcement.com.

Shareholders who have chosen or have been deemed consented to
receive the corporate communications of the Company (the
"Corporate Communications”) via the Company’s website and who
for any reason have difficulty in receiving or gaining access to the
annual report posted on the Company’s website will promptly upon

request be sent the annual report in printed form free of charge.

Shareholders may at any time change their choice of the means of
receipt (either in printed form or via the Company’s website) of

Corporate Communications.

Shareholders may send their request to receive the annual report in
printed form, and/or to change their choice of the means of receipt of
Corporate Communications by notice in writing to the share registrar of
the Company, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at
Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen'’s Road East,
Wanchai, Hong Kong or by sending an email to the share registrar of

the Company at crcement.ecom@computershare.com.hk.
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